F3 2018 BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet media
services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March
2019.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

170

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i)

Effect of adopting new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations effective in 2018

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) 22

HKAS 40 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Transfers of Investment Property

Annual Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Effect of adopting new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations effective in 2018
(Continued)

Except for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of
the other new or revised standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations of HKFRS stated
above did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
current and prior periods. The impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 is disclosed in Note 2(b)
(iii).

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year ended 31
December 2018 and have not yet been adopted by
the Group:
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

(Continued)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (Amendments)

HKAS 28 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) 23

Annual Improvements

Definition of Business ®

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Leases "

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Material @

Plan Amendment, Curtailment for
Settlement "

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments "

Annual Improvements 20152017
Cycle
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Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2019

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2020

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning
on 1 January 2021

Effective date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The Group will apply the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations
from 1 January 2019 or later periods. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the
likely impact of adopting the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, for
which the preliminary assessment of HKFRS 16 is
set out below.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being
recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use
the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group's operating leases. As at the reporting
date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$858,103,000.
However, the Group has not yet determined to
what extent these commitments will result in the
recognition of an asset and a liability for future
payments and how this will affect the Group's profit
and classification of cash flows.
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ERETHRME (&)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

SRR ER MK EE
(%)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b)
disclosures (Continued)
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(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group
intends to apply the simplified transition approach
and will not restate comparative amounts for the
year prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
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(A)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
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Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZFEEZSTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) &aFER K EE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018: E20184F 1 A 1 BEHM
RIS ETCR -
(a) Investments and other financial assets (a) RERHMBBE
=3
Classification baks|
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies B20185F1 A1 H
its financial assets as either those to be iR AR E G H A
measured subsequently at fair value (either BEEDHERERE
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), EZRAYEGEBRA
or through profit or loss), or those to be A E R E ([E M
measured at amortised cost. The classification 2EWE]) SLIRK
depends on the entity’'s business model FEimE L iR) 5
for managing the financial assets and the R SHRCR T 2 8
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets MGEE - ZD8
measured at fair value, gains and losses will BURMNE S EE
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For BEEMFEBER
investments in equity instruments that are not RIRERENELD
held for trading, this will depend on whether -3 /NS =]
the Group has made an irrevocable election at AEMNBEEMmMS -
the time of initial recognition to account for the W K BB g ET A
equity investment at fair value through other Bas H it 2 EI
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"). o WHRIEEE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

()  Debtinstruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
()  Debtinstruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “Other gains, net”, together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except
for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised
in "Other gains, net” Interest income
from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
()  Debtinstruments (Continued)

interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “Other
gains, net” and impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented net within “"Other
gains, net” in the period in which it
arises.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in profit or loss
there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as “Other gains, net” when
the Group's right to receive payments is
established.
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
(i) Equity instruments (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk. For trade receivables, and contract assets
the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at
amortised cost other than trade receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit
losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit
risk or the proceeds receivable are not settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in
the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, the
financial assets measured at amortised cost
will be written off.
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R AT 28
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SERAN) #1218 A
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) &aFER K EE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption FIR M T A-
Range

The total impact on the Group's retained

H2018%F1 A1H

earnings as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: HAEBRE BN
AR EBINT -
Impact of application of HKFRS 9 on EWERBVMBRE
consolidated statements of changes in ERAFIRHERE
equity: EEEHRNEY
& .
Revaluation Retained
reserve earnings
EhEE REBER
‘000 ‘000
T T
Closing balance as at RIEEBSTER
31 December 2017 39552017 F
under HKAS 39 12 A 31 B Z Rk ah 84 815 3,044,660
Reclassify investments B E R A HIEE
from available-for-sale EFOBEERATE
to FVPL BidiBmai ik (815) 815
Opening balance as at RIEE B HEEmE LR
1 January 2018 F 95N 20184
under HKFRS 9 1 R 1 Bz B9 - 3,045,475
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2 EESHHEREE (8)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and b) ETHR LI EEE
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) EFBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A) BB BHREERZEIY
— BT A (&)
(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) EBUBREER
adoption (Continued) MM I A-
RHnee (|
(i) Classification and measurement iy PERFE
On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial R 20184 1
application of HKFRS 9), the Group's A18 (Bx
management has assessed which fER & BN
business models apply to the financial IR E R
assets held by the Group and has Fo% B A
classified its financial instruments into ) - AEHE
the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. EBEEDRT
The main effects resulting from this HEMAE
reclassification are as follows: Fris B
M5B ERK
SERCIREE
A )
1 E BT
R
B E
ERIZE QR TH
T#EE NS
Bl o Uk & ¥
DEMNEE
EnT
Derivative
Amortised Derivative financial
cost financial ~ instruments
(Loansand ~ instruments (Assets)
Available- ~ Receivables Assets) (Non-
Financial assets FVPL forsale 1) (Current) current) Total
BEAx  FAMRIR  fEYHBIA
RATER (2o E&3 (§E) (§E)
hEE BEEEE THHE  REYEE) (78) (#58) it
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
it i i i 1 i i
Closing balance RONE1ANEL
31 Dec 2017 Bhen By
~HKAS 39 ElE30% 406 % 188980 19573 TR 3307908
Recassfyinestments ~ FRARAEHER
from avaltle-forsale ARBTEER
and derivative
financial instruments
fRL fl o 1483612 (72539) (19513 (738, 704)
Reclassify investments
from Loans and
Receivables to FVPL ] 115,752 (115,752
Opening balance RBE1R1RZ
1Jan 2018 BEs-ERy
-HKFRS 9 BRERNZ0R 163770 1T858 3397908
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of
adoption (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement
(Continued)

Note:

(a) Reclassification from “available-for-sale
financial assets” ("AFS") to FVPL

Included in AFS were investments in
convertible redeemable preferred shares —
debt component and investment in unlisted
equity securities.
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e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZESTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) EEFER &I EE )
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption (Continued) FIR M T A-

Rp e (&)

(i) Classification and measurement iy PBERFT=E
(Continued) (%8)
Note: (Continued) MisE - (48)
(a)  Reclassification from AFS to FVPL (Continued) (a) HAHEES
FHBERD
FEEBIER
FOAR (48)
Investments in convertible redeemable A $2 % 7] & [
preference shares were reclassified from AFS 2 5% B m
to financial assets at FVPL (as at 1 January ﬁgﬁﬁﬂﬁ\fﬁ%
2018: HK$705,712,000). They do not meet BMOBRR
the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification at NEEFEBE

amortised cost, because their cash flows do
not represent solely payments of principal
and interest. In accordance with HKFRS 9,
the Group shall apply the requirements in
HKFRS 9 to the entire contract and present
the derivative component of convertible
redeemable preferred shares (as at 1 January
2018: HK$738,704,000) with the host contract
in FVPL.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of
adoption (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(a) Reclassification from AFS to FVPL (Continued)

The related fair value gains of HK$815,000
were transferred from the revaluation reserve
to retained earnings on 1 January 2018.

Investment in unlisted equity securities (as
at 1 January 2018: HK$19,683,000) were
reclassified from AFS to financial assets at
FVPL as the Group elected to present fair
value gain or loss on equity securities in profit
orloss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 ZESTTBEME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) EEFER &I EE )
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (iii) ESBOREH (&)
(A)  HKFRS 9 - Financial instruments (Continued) A BEIHEHEERIZE IR

—HBEILR (&)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments - Impact of (b) ERUBREER
adoption (Continued) FIR M T A-

Rp e (&)

(i) Classification and measurement iy PBERFT=E
(Continued) (&)
Note: (Continued) MisE - (48)
(b)  Reclassification from loans and receivables to (b) BERKEK
FVPL RIEEM DL
BRAFES
ok Entie
Investments in convertible loan to Particle #f Particle &9
were reclassified from loans and receivables AR E RIS
to financial assets at FVPL (as at 1 January EmEARR
2018: HK$115,752,000). They do not meet FE W GRIE B HT
the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification at DPEEERN
amortised cost, because their cash flows do FEEBIE
not represent solely payments of principal and A0 BR B0 B 7
interest. In accordance with the arrangement & E (7R2018
in HKFRS 9, the Group shall apply the F1A18:
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the entire 115,752,000
contract and present the derivative convertible Bot) e B R
option of convertible loan (as at 1 January BERNRSR
2018: HK$19,513,000) with the host contract EWIEEES
in FVPL. K& k7
B HEIWE
"HEeEBABH
% 8 & A
FEO R ET
DA R
RAGE R
BEBIMBER
HERIEIWR
W& A&
& e & B S B
% & % Al
FEIWR MR TE
FERREEE
B WHEE
LW LTE B
L=l
fig # (72018
F1A18

19,513,000 %
TT) IR A
BFEBERD
BRE7 -
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(B) HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This has replaced HKAS 18
which covers contracts for goods and services and
HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts and
the related literature. The new standard is based
on the principle that revenue is recognised when
control of a goods or service transfers to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may transfer over time or at a point in time.
The classification is disclosed in Note b.

The Group engages principally in satellite television
broadcasting and provision of internet media
services, which are mainly rendered over time. The
Group adopted a modified retrospective approach
for transition to HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption

Accounting for incremental costs incurred for
obtaining a contract

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, costs such as
sales commission incurred directly attributable for
obtaining an advertising and subscription contract
were charged to profit or loss as incurred. Under
HKFRS 15, if recoverable, they should be capitalized
and recorded as assets. However, as the advertising
and subscription contracts of the Group are within
one year (i.e. the amortisation period that the Group
will otherwise recognise would be one year or less),
the Group has applied the practical expedient to
expense the cost off through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

(B)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Accounting for costs incurred for fulfilling a contract

Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, certain
production costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with
a customer amounting to approximately HK$177000
as at 31 December 2018 (as at 1 January 2018: HK$
Nil) were capitalised and amortised over the period
when the related service was transferred to the
customers.

The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 1
January 2018 are as follows:

2

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

EESTBOREE (&)
(b) & &TBUK M i R &
(%)
(i) EHEE2D (8)
(B) BAMBHEEAE5
%#- EFAMZ M
()

BB B EAE 15
HEFAMZ WS —
RS ()

BITEHMEERANE
BpZS

HME B ®RE %R
155518 - R 20184 12
A31HEITEFAHM
EEHmETRERELD
177000% 7T (A 2018 4
118 EBx) BHE
N R B RGER T
BRI

RNE BT HREERE
1558 ¥ 201841 A1
A a MBI R 2%
2

At 1 January 2018
R2018F 1 A1 H

As previously

Reclassification

stated under HKFRS 15 Restated
RIEE I
HE%ER
£ 155
LUEIEIIN MO8 &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F T T
Consolidated statement of FEBMBEMRRE
financial position (extract) (F8)
Accounts payable, other payables  JEfTEBRFR  HAbER
and accruals FOA R TR 1,336,620 (76,807) 1,259,813
Deferred income IEIEUA 109,029 76,807 185,836
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(B)  HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Accounting for costs incurred for fulfilling a contract
(Continued)

The amount by each financial statements line items
affected in the current year by the application of
HKFRS 15 as compared to HKAS 18 that were
previously in effect before the adoption of HKFRS 15

ERETHRME (&)

SRR L WER
(#&)

(iii) BFBER2D (H)

(B) EEMBEIHEERE 15
k- FEPAEMNZ Wz
(#&)

BRI B WG ERFE 15
REFENZ e — F
P E (')

BITEHAMEERANE
R (&)

RAFEXERE LN
BELEREBRTELZ
BB MAIAR - ERR
MEBMBREERS

is as follows: 155881 - BA TR
FI8RIBE AWM Z I
LN
At 31 December 2018
A 2018 12 A31H
Amounts before
the adoption Reclassification Amounts
of HKFRS 15 under HKFRS 15 as reported
RNE BT RIBEE B
EAER AR
%155k £ 15358
HIZ &% BMOE E2WmeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt
Consolidated statement of SFEBMRRE
financial position (extracted) (H8)
Accounts payable, other payables ~ FEfTBERR « HAb (S
and accruals TRIE N FEET R 1,387,061 (62,936) 1,324,125
Deferred income FEIEIA 129,500 62,936 192,436
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

(B)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
— Impact of adoption (Continued)

Contract liabilities

As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018,
deferred income amounting to approximately
HK$185,836,000 and HK$192,436,000 respectively,
represented contract liabilities in relation to advance
payments made by the customers while the
underlying services are yet to be provided under
HKFRS 15.

Other than the above, the adoption of HKFRS 15
did not have significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries

(i)

194

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries(Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)

196

39 either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not

(Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries(Continued) (c) MBRA (&)
(i) Consolidation (Continued) (i) #HEAR(E)
(a)  Business combinations (Continued) @) FEEEU(E)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred REBEFFEENET
by the Group is recognised at fair value at RIS AR B R EW
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to 8 A B A T ERE
the fair value of the contingent consideration RoWRAB—IHE
that is deemed to be an asset or liability EXBENIAR
is recognised in accordance with HKAS BEAFEREY

B BRREES
FTERISE 395 HIAR
E o MIBEERRK

remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is HWRIEHMEEK
accounted for within equity. mEE) - DIE AR
mZ IAREDA

The excess of the consideration transferred,

BHEE - MARK
BEREmAR -

PrEgemfE ~ Bk

the amount of any non-controlling interest in BB 2 TR FE4E A%
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value R REME
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree AR U B 77 2 AR
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets AHE A UE B
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total 2N TFEBBMR
of consideration transferred, non-controlling AR EEFE
interest recognised and previously held ZRFEZEBA

interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries(Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

2

ERETHRME (&)

(c)

IERR (&)

(i)

maAR ()

(a)

(b)

KEA v (&)

SEARRZER
X5 RBNEH
RARBH Yz T IA
HiH - FRIERF IR
HEHREELR
BEHEE - B
RERFIEITIA
L - B QR
ERTHEDIRFTE
TEHTE - AFE
ENE NN
o

TEBAEATHIE
HO B 2 A AR
28

7N 62 [ L B IR
Prre s 1T TR
RERHENR S
ANERERR S —
BB EZ P B X m)
BAREERER
AN DETHR
5 I EAR
B8R EEEREE
FEAG AT AR B BT B
AFEEREEN
ERAR SR
QEZZI e Fatuk
H) 2 B9 I AL SR AE
@mE e

197



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries(Continued)
(i) Consolidation (Continued)
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(ii) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

198

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

IERR (&)

(i)

(ii)

maAR ()
c) HEHELE]

WALBENEHE
I HRZE
B2 ERE R
BAEEGIEER
ZRFEEHE
B mEmES

AR B P RER
FEEARIIE—
HEE QR A%
CEIVBEELZ
RE#EME 2
FEEVRER
{8 o AN - SERTR
H 2 MU N
REZBERARZ
EAEBRIZEMA
SEEERHNESR
MEEXAEBZT
EWN RS Ik
WEEREEME
E A FER 2 &
BEFOBRER

3z
= o

B B ®mE

TRHI B R BIEIRE THRAK
AIFRRETIER © AR
RIRE 2 BIEEIERA
NS ARG YL o)
(IR INGIETE S - PN
BE o



2

4R 2018

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’'s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
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(d)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. \When the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company'’s
functional and the Group'’s presentation currency.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

202

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and
other assets and liabilities are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other gains,
net”

Until 31 December 2017 changes in the fair value
of debt securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available for sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the security and other changes
in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost are
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and other changes in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets such as equities
classified as available for sale are included in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv)

204

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

No depreciation is provided on assets under construction
until they are completed and are available for use.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives at annual rates, as follows:

2.05-3.33%
shorter of 6.67%-33.3% or
over the terms of the leases

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

15%-20%
10%-33.3%

Furniture and fixtures

Broadcast operations and
other equipment

Motor vehicles

LED panels

Aircraft

20%-25%
10%-11.1%
71%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

206

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2(m)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “Other gains, net’ in the consolidated
income statement.

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the Group. It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “Other gains, net”
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(). Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets” Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose identified according to operating segment.

Licences

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of licences over their estimated useful lives
of two to ten years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to
four years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (Continued)
(iii) Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three
years.

(iv) Club debentures

Acquired club debentures are intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life. They are therefore shown
at historical cost and are not amortised. Impairment
assessments on club debentures are carried out
by comparing their recoverable amounts with their
carrying amounts annually and whenever there is an
indication that the intangible assets maybe impaired.

(v) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised

as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, which does not exceed three years.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k)

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Cost of film rights is expensed in the consolidated income
statement on the first and second showing and cost of
purchased programme is expensed in the consolidated
income statement by amortising the cost over the licence
period on a straight line basis.

Purchased programme with licence period of 12 months
or less and film rights with economic lives of 12 months
or less are classified as current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
expenditures and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. Programmes in production that are abandoned
are written off in the consolidated income statement
immediately, or when the revenue to be generated
by these programmes is determined to be lower than
cost, the cost is written down to recoverable amount.
Completed programmes will be broadcast over a short
period of time and their costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement in accordance with a
formula computed to write off the cost over the broadcast
period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
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210

(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary,
associate or joint venture in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCI")
or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL’), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BHIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) MKEE (&)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018 E2018F1H1HERHBZ &

(Continued) TR ()

Measurement (Continued) = (')

Debt instruments BEFETA

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends BERTEMNBETEBRNA

on the Group's business model for managing the asset EEEBEENEBREARE

and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are ENRERERE - AEEE

three measurement categories into which the Group HEEBIASHEA=EFEH

classifies its debt instruments: Al
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEZEgBXRHE (&)
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BT A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) MgEE (#)
Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018 H2018F1 A1 HEFRHFZ &
(Continued) FHEE (&)
Measurement (Continued) e (8
Debt instruments (Continued) EHITA (B)
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “Other
gains, net”. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “Other gains, net".

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within “Other gains,
net” in the period in which it arises.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as "Other gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied since 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised
cost other than trade receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the agreements, management
considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative in formation. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues to
be accounted for in accordance with the group’s previous
accounting policy.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(1) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale. The
classification depends on the purposes for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

(a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading, and
those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception. A financial asset is classified
in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term or if so
designated by management. Derivatives are
also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges (Note 2(p)). Assets
in this category are classified as current assets
if expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current
assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(n)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(i) Classification (Continued)

(b)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group'’s
loans and receivables comprise bank deposits,
accounts receivable, other receivables,
amounts due from related companies,
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents
in the consolidated balance sheet (Notes 2(r)
and 2(s)).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in
this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment matures
or management intends to dispose of the
investment within 12 months of the end of
reporting period. Available-for-sale financial
assets represent unlisted securities of private
issuers outside Hong Kong.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-forsale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the "Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” category are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “Other gains, net’ in the
period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as
part of “"Other gains, net” when the Group's right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of securities classified
as available for sale, except for impairment losses
and relevant foreign exchange gains and losses,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in “Revaluation reserve” within equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement.

Interest on available-for-sale financial assets
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
as part of “Interest income” Dividends on available-
for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Impairment

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(iii)

Impairment (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognized impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(iii)

Impairment (Continued)

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of
a debt instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired.
If any such evidence exists the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognized in the consolidated income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement.

(o) Offsetting financial instruments

222

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group or the counterparty.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(p)

Derivative financial instruments

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. All derivatives are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their fair
value.

If the fair value of the derivatives at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
not evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical asset or based on valuation technique that
uses only data from observable markets, such difference
between fair value at initial recognition and the transaction
price is deferred. After initial recognition, the Group
recognises that deferred difference as a gain or loss
only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor
(including time) that market participants would take into
account when pricing the derivatives.

Embedded derivatives are derivatives embedded within
other non-derivative host financial instruments to create
hybrid instruments. Embedded derivatives are treated as
separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of
the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a stand-alone derivative
if they were contained in a separate contract; and the
combined contract is not held for trading or designated
at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes therein recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair values
are positive and as liabilities when the fair values are
negative.
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(@)

(n

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices, satellite
receivers and merchandised goods, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.

Accounts and other receivables

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of accounts and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses
on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its financial assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(r)

Accounts and other receivables (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include other receivables and amounts due from
related companies. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve
months expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss. See Notes 21 and 22 for further information
about the Group's accounting for accounts and other
receivables and note 3(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.
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(t)

Deferred income

Deferred income represents contract liabilities in relation
to advertising revenue, subscription revenue and
promotion service revenue received in advance from third
party customers while the underlying services are yet to
be provided under HKFRS 15.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

When the Company reacquires its own equity
instruments, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a
deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury
share reserve. No gain or loss shall be recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments. Such treasury shares
may be acquired and held by the Group. Consideration
paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.

Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured of amortised cost using effective interest
method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(w) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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(x)

228

Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on
local laws and regulations. Contributions to the
schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit schemes' costs expensed
in the consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the
funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid.

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the
Group are located, these subsidiaries participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes
and/or set up their own retirement benefit schemes
(the "“Schemes"”) whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Schemes are calculated either based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
or fixed sums for each employee with reference to a
salary scale, as stipulated under the requirements in
the respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are expensed in
the consolidated income statement as incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Bonus plans

The expected bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

(iii) Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding
credit to the employee share-based payment
reserve. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions;

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The fair value of options, at the time of grant is
expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded
attribution approach. Under the accelerated graded
attribution approach, each vesting installment of
a graded vesting award is treated as a separate
share-based award, which means that each
vesting installment will be separately measured
and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated
recognition of share-based compensation expense.

Cancellation of share options accompanied by the
grant of replacement share options is accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled share
options. The compensation costs associated with
the modification are recognised if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition has
been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot
be less than the grant-date fair value of the original
share options. The incremental compensation cost
is measured as the excess of the fair value of the
replacement share options over the fair value of
the cancelled share options at the cancellation
date. Therefore, in relation to the modification, the
Group recognises share-based compensation over
the new vesting periods, which comprises (i) the
amortisation of the incremental portion of share-
based compensation over the remaining vesting
term and (ii) any unrecognized compensation cost
of original share option, using either the original
term or the new term, whichever is higher for each
reporting period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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(y)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Share-based compensation (Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied and services rendered, stated for the
sale net of value-added tax, related agency commission
expenses and discounts and after eliminating sales within
the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a
promised good or service to customer.

(i) Advertising revenue

Advertising revenue, net of agency deductions
is recognised upon the broadcast or posting of
advertisements. This performance obligation is
satisfied over time as the advertisers receive and
consume benefits simultaneously provided by the
Group when the advertisements are broadcasted
or posted. The Group applies output method to
measure the revenue. To apply the output method,
the transaction price specified in each contract is
allocated into different advertising timeslots. Each
timeslot has its value determined in the rate cards.

(ii) Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income are recognised in the period in which the
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring
control of a promised service or recognised evenly
in the subscription period.

(iii) Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from
the cable distributors or agents is amortised on a
time proportion basis to the consolidated income
statement. The unamortised portion is classified as
deferred income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv) Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue net of commission
expense is recognised when the advertisements are
posted in accordance with the contract advertising
period. The Group applies output method to
recognise revenue.

(v) Magazine subscription/circulation revenue

Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money
received or receivable from customers and is
recognised when the respective magazine is sold.

(vi) Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers

Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of control on
the goods, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title has passed.

(vii) Barter revenue

Barter revenue is recognised at the fair value of
goods or services received or receivable in the
transaction upon the broadcast of advertisements,
the publishing of the magazine or the provision of
promotion services to be provided by the Group in
the barter transaction.

(viii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(ix) Tuition revenue

Tuition revenue for educational programs and
services is recognised when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of
promised services.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(x)

(xi)

IT consultancy service revenue

The Group provides business IT management,
design, implementation and support services under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the
total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours
spent relative to the total expected labour hours.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

(ab) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

(i)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHE (&)
(Continued)

(ab) Leases (Continued) (ab) AE (48)
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(i) The Group as lessee

Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) including
upfront payment made for lease premium for land,
are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(ac) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(ad) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, PRC
regulatory risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the
Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO") of the Group. The Finance
Department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope with
overall risk management, as well as specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB") and
US dollar ("US$"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)
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(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities in
the Group engage in transactions mainly in
HK$, RMB and US$ to the extent possible. The
Group currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies but manages
its exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of
its foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity's functional currency.
The Finance Department is responsible for
monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group's operations, such as those in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Kingdom and the United States is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
R RAZE (8)

miERE (&)

(@)

SNERR ()

REBHEBER
HROHEREER
BEMIMNERRR -
AEBEERETH
RHEBAET
AR¥RETINE
(fdrTgE) - ANEE
3 B Q0 M S NS
THHRS - HE
BEHEREEA
[R\Bx - DAZE A BERE
EESNE R B8 &
T - EARE
EXHROHERE
EEAEDAER
DB NG &
BEHER - BlgE
HEHNERER o B 7
MABEEERE
BEERINERNFEE
RS

AEBRETNE
INEEXBHH®R
& HEBEEFEAR
AR S TE LR
B REEEEE
BOWEEFEEL
MEEER IR
hEARAM
(TerE]) - RER
KB EEFE
TEFBIAFBIN
BIENRLEEE

B o



4R 2018

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If the functional currency of the group entities
had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2017:
5%) against the foreign currency of the net
monetary assets of corresponding group
entities, with all other variables held constant,
aftertax profit for the year would have been
HK$98,755,000 (2017: HK$114,800,000) higher
or lower.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed securities
price risk because certain investments held by
the Group are classified on the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group has
investment in the equity of a publicly traded
entity. For further details of price risk exposed
by the Group, please refer to Note 25.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(c)

240

PRC regulations

The Group is exposed to certain
macroeconomic and regulatory risks and
uncertainties in the Chinese market. These
uncertainties affect the ability of the Group to
provide online advertising, mobile and Internet
related services, and educational programs
and services through contractual arrangements
in the PRC since these industries remain
highly regulated. The Chinese government
may issue from time to time new laws or new
interpretations on existing laws to regulate this
industry. Regulatory risk also encompasses
the interpretation by the tax authorities of
current tax law, the status of properties
leased for the Group’s operations and legal
structure and scope of operations in the PRC,
which could be subject to further restrictions
resulting in limitations on the Group's ability
to conduct business in the PRC. The PRC
government may also require the Group to
restructure its operation entirely if it finds that
the Group's contractual arrangements do not
comply with applicable laws and regulation.
It is unclear how a restructuring could
impact the Group’s business and operating
results, as the PRC government has not yet
found any such contractual arrangements
to be in noncompliance. However, any such
restructuring may cause significant disruption
to the Group's business operations.
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

The Group's cash flow and fair value interest-
rate risks primarily arise from bank deposits,
amount due from Shenzhou (Note 22), amount
due from a related company (Note 24) and
bank borrowings. Bank deposits placed, bank
borrowings and amounts due from Shenzhou
issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk whereas bank
deposits placed, and amounts due from a
related company at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The
Finance Department’s policy is to maintain
an appropriate level between fixed-rate and
floating-rate deposits and use interest rate
swap contract to manage certain cash flow
interest rate risks (Note 25).

At 31 December 2018, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing assets had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$25,488,000 (2017: HK$31,663,000)
higher or lower.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HEREZE (8)

242

(i)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
(Continued)

At 31 December 2018, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing liabilities had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$8,252,000 (2017: HK$9,257,000)
lower or higher.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from related companies,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credit exposures to advertising agents
and customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group has a
receivable from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC amounting to HK$374,690,000 (2017:
HK$432,203,000) representing approximately 4%
(2017: 4%) of the total assets of the Group as of 31
December 2018. The Group manages its exposure
to credit risk through continual monitoring of the
credit quality of its customers and advertising
agents, taking into account their current and
expected financial positions, business environment
and industry performance, current and forward
looking economic factors, collection history, past
experience and subsequent settlements of debtors
and Shenzhou. For banks, financial institutions and
issuers of derivative financial instruments, only
reputable well established banks and financial
institutions are accepted.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
the sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

Most of the payment terms for advertising revenue
are agreed between the Group and the customers
at the beginning of year. Customers make payments
in accordance with the contract terms. The Group
generally requires its advertising customers in the
television broadcasting segment to pay in advance.
Customers of other business segments are given
credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors and industry trends affecting
the ability of the debtors to settle the outstanding
balance. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these trade receivables.

Management considered the credit risk of trade
receivables, other receivables and amount due from
related companies as low as counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. The Group has
assessed the expected credit losses for these other
receivables and amount due from related companies
under 12 months expected losses.

See Note 20 for further disclosure on credit risk.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

244

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed banking facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Finance
Department aims to maintain flexibility in funding
by keeping committed banking facilities available.
Details of cash and cash equivalents and banking
facilities are set out in Notes 29 and 30 respectively.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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(@) FBRAREE (&)

(iii)

RBEEEM

RERDETRBRERE
wrRrrnRE RS
BIRE @ LRITEGER
MERTTEEREME TS
BRTEMEE - ANIE
MEBHREIEE - 875
HRPTE BB R B ARTT
EERBESZORDIE -
RelkReFEBRBAR
RITEEFHE D BB
FT29 )30 e

TRIZEMIHRAS S
FAREERIEITEN B A
& DIRERGEERESR
#EH AT MR E
8o ZRARENSEY
REHRBRASRE -

More than More than
one year two years
but not but not
Within exceeding exceeding More than
one year two years five years five years
—F#%E ME#RE
—FR TRBME THRBLE HBRF
$000 $'000 $000 $'000
T T T T
Group N
At 31 December 2018 20185 12A31H
Accounts payable, other R - EffEft
payables and accruals HEREE 1,310,725 = = =
Secured bank borrowings RIERGTHEE 753,445 72,778 31,932 2,528
Loans from non-controlling (NGB ED
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 141,079 78,889 133,961 22,578
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12831H
Accounts payable, other R - EffEft
payables and accruals HEREE 1,322,624 - - -
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 620,102 243,292 104,729 2,629
Loans from non-controlling (HEUNGIE 228
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ JEHLEN 57694 77163 155,239 18,850
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, adjust the
amounts of borrowings or issue new shares.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted pries included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The Finance Department reviews the valuations of the
Group's financial instruments. The Finance Department
holds discussion with the independent valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual
reporting dates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(b)

(c)

BEARER

AEENEAREEBRRERE
AEBOFELLEEN - U@
RREH OISR - WHEFREE
RIEBABDEARHKA - 48
BAERGEAREERBRMD
Z [#ez ] I EEEMTE -

REFHRAERERRE A%
BRI S HEC N T ERRD
BEe®E REBEARTEER:
HEEEZ RN BEITHRL ©

AT

TRABEED W IR FET
EOMHBTE TRFRZE
FWT

«  RARAEERABNER
MHZME CREHE)
(B14R) -

o BEBRE1RNBREIN -
BEERBETEERME
EHENBABRE (F2
) e

. WIEE R I R TS 2R
(B =8 = A %)
HEERBENRAZSE
(FE3H) -

MG ERAEREMBETA
BfEE - EREHHARFER
& A BEITRER - BT
BB A ER A R AEERR
HEER -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value at
31 December 2018. See Note 15 for disclosures of the
investment properties that are measured at fair value.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) ~FEfH (B)

T&RE2%M20185%E12A31H
BATENFENTAEENBE
ERVBEARE  BREATE
FTEZIREMENEE  #2
BIFIEE15 o

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14 #28 #34 @it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value RATEERER
through profit or loss TENNHEE
-Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 19,782 - - 19,782
- Convertible redesmable preferred shares - AT AR Al BB 218 % ik - - 2,235,585 2,235,585
- Options for long-term investment - RERA R Bt - - 18,909 18,909
- Structured deposits - BEHER = 1,030,227 = 1,030,227
19,782 1,030,227 2,254,494 3,304,503
Financial liabilities g 3=
Financial liabilities at fair value ROTEERER
through profit or loss TENGBEE
- Interest rate swap contracts - MEEBHEH - 855 - 855
- Cross-currency interest rate - RXEHHEERAL
swap contracts - 5,363 - 5,363
- 6,218 - 6,218
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets

that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2017.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) ~FEfH (B)

TRE7R2017F12 A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBPBE
g °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F15& Fo F34 et
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr T
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEEBBETR
through profit or loss WERBEE
~Trading equity securities —HEBENRAES 24,406 - - 24,406
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHERBEE
— Preferred Shares —BER
- debt component —EBER - - 705,712 705,712
~ Equity securities SRAEH - - 19,683 19,683
Derivative financial instrument TERBIA
— Conversion options for convertible ~ —RI ¥k Al B [E 5L
redeemable preferred shares gty - - 721,002 721,002
— Conversion options for convertible R AR & FRHY &
loans - - 19,513 19,613
- Options for long-term investments ~ —R % &R0 HiE - - 17702 17702
24,406 - 1,483,612 1,508,018
Liability =X
Derivative financial instruments fTERBIA
- Interest rate swap contracts —MERHE K - (1,688) - (1,688)
- (1,688) - (1,688)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or

out of Level 3 (2017: Same).

REZ2018F 12 A31H IEF
[§ - WHESE1ARMEE 2K 2 HEA
o A\ 5 34 (2017
F - MER) -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

248

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm's length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. As at 31 December 2018,
instruments included in level 1 comprise shares
of HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC"), an entity
listed on the Stock Exchange, of approximately
HK$19,782,000 (2017: HK$24,406,000) (Note 25).

Financial instrument in level 2

The fair values of structured deposits are determined
by valuation techniques that use observable inputs
such as the price of gold in London Gold Market and
London Interbank Offered Rate that are observable
at commonly quoted intervals while the fair values
of interest rate swap and cross-currency interest
rate swap contracts are determined by valuation
techniques that use observable inputs such as
interest rates, yield curves and foreign currency
rates that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3

BHERERE (&)
~NHERGE (8)

(c)

(i)

(ii)

E1RANEBETR

EERMISH R HH
TEMAFERERGEE
HETISRESE - AR
ZIREAILAA Stk HA
RRFHHE - LHmE -
KA EXER K
1B AR M ok BS B i i h
ES THELREBE
EREERAFETIER S
PR - ZmisRIER A
TEIR o ANEEF A MG
BEFANTISHRERE
THE - ZETEBRNE
14 72018412 A 31
H WASZ1HFHT
A BIEELERAERA
A (DEL ] —BERER
FTEmREE) MK -
{E & #719,782,0007 7T
(2017 4F : 24,406,0005
7o) (MisE 25) °

E2RANMBETE

HEBEERHATEZA
HERNETE - BRI
FTREFEEMENES
EE - mBERITRIZER L
ZRE R RER M
EERMEREAH
B mAEEARZXE
R R EBE AN ATE
AILAMEERMEE - B4
B AR - sl
BRINEERZATRER
KR (B R T R B SR 0 AT
B0 A BUR -
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(1)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (iii) FEIZANHBIA
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HEEHEZER
measurements using significant unobservable #F ZEA 20751
inputs (Level 3) N FEFE(E3

K BIEZER

Value of Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable

Description 31 December 2018 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value

Ra0sE iy S miBEm

12A318 BiBg fEAgE BABEH

fit HATE BT Mg HEE ATERBE
($000)
(fr)

Convertible 2,235,585 Discounted Discount rate 17%-22.5% The lower the
redeemable cash BRE discount rate, the
preferred shares flow method higher the fair value

AaRTEDELR and market approach FRREE ATEER

ERREREER
5 Lack of marketability 16%-20% The lower the
discount ("DLOM") DLOM, the higher
e  the far value
([ZsEiE)) RHEMRREL
ATEHE
Volatility 44.5% The lower the
IR volatilty,
the higher
the fair value
REME  ATEER
Revenue growth rate 4%-76% The higher the
WRERE revenue growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
WeESHE
ATEER
Terminal growth rate 3% The higher the
SRERE terminal growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
FREREHR
NTEHE
Control premium 30% The higher the
BlERE control premium,
the higher
the fairvilue
BHELRIS
ATEHE

249



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)

(iii)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()

Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMPKEITE (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE

measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F
3K) HE E & H
(&)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2018 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R2018 & BEEZ BEEEN
12A31H BEEZ LEDN -] BABES
it HATE TR HagE HEE ATENEBR
(§'000)
()
Options for long-term 18,909 Various techniques Discount rate 35% The lower the
investments (including discounted cash §Rx discount rate, the
RERARDE flow method, and higher the fair value
option-pricing method) BRI -
MARE LTS
(BEHRRZREER
BEEEL
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(1)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) R¥EMET (8)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) EIRAMMKETE ()
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F

3R B EZEEH

(#)

Value of Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable

Description 31 December 2017 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value

RN7E BEER BEBEN

128318 BEER HEARE AHEE

it MATE EIEE MBEABE GEE NTENBE
(§'000)
(F)

Preferred Shares 1,426,714 Discounted cash Discount rate 23% The lower the
(comprising debt flow method i3tk discount rate,
component of ERRSNER the higher
HK$705,712,000 and the fair value
derivative component BIREHIE -
of conversion options e
of HK$721,002,000)

B (BEEIH
705,712,000 LR
BRETETES R
721,002,000
BT

Lack of marketability 2% The lower the
discount DLOM, the higher

["DLOM") the fair value
e B EENTELE
([Eo#EmTE)) AHEER
Volatility 45% The lower the

il volatlty,

the higher

the fair value

RIS -

SRS
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEMET (8)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) FEIMAMBBEITA (&)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F
3K) HE E & H
(&)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable ~ unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2017 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
VIS b BiBEN
128318 b MEAHE BAYER
it HATE G IEPN 4 HEE ATENEE
(§'000)
(1)

Revenue growth rate 5%-94% The higher the
WEERE revenue growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
WasRks
ATEEE
Terminal growth rate 3% The higher the
BIERR terminal growth rate,
the higher
the fair value
SREREER
NTEHE
Options for long-term 17702 Various techniques Discount rate 35% The lower the
investments (including discounted cash BRE discount rate, the
REBRARDE flow method, higher the fair value
option-pricing method B
and binomial mode) TR

MEFE

(BEERRSREE

PerRihElES)
Conversion options for 19,513 Various techniques Discount rate 12.7% The lower
convertible loans (including discounted cash i3 b the discount rate,
ARREAARE flow method, the higher
option-pricing method the fair value
and binomial model) HREWE
AR LTS

(AEHRRRREE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1)

Quantitative information about fair value
measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

The Preferred Shares represent investments
in Series B convertible redeemable preferred
shares, Series C convertible redeemable
preferred shares and Series D1 convertible
redeemable preferred shares (as at 31
December 2017: Series B convertible
redeemable preferred shares, Series C
convertible redeemable preferred shares and
Series D1 convertible redeemable preferred
shares) of Particle Inc.("Particle”) by the Group
(see Note 42 for details).

An independent professional valuer adopted
the discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) method
and market approach (2017: DCF method)
to first estimate the equity value of Particle,
which was then allocated to Particle’'s common
shares and Preferred Shares using the option-
pricing and binomial models.

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEMF (8)

(iii) HFE3IPANHMKETE ()

(1)

BB A4 BIEE
EE-X N &3
#) R FlEqTE (F
3R) HEZEEH
(%)

BERRELASE
% Particle Inc.
(IParticle]) 2B
RN A A% AT HE ]
BR - CRHTA
2 A% A B B2 5% %
&D1% % a] # ]’
o] i BB e B 1E
2B (R2017F
12A318 : BEJ
A] 4 0% A] fE BB 5T
& X C & 51| 7] #2 jg
AEEELR) (FF
BB A HEE42) °

B B E G EME
AR REERE
([MRB\eRE))
=R 5% (2017
F:MBRE LR
2)5) NELME
Particle 2 &% 7~ (&
B #EimAETE
BERZBERELH
2 9 B2 & Particle
2w R E K

P e
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

254

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

(1)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEMF (8)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMPKEITE (H)
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  FEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FlEFE (F

3R B EZEEH
(#)
The following table presents the changes in TREJEIRT
level 3 instruments during the year ended AN # =2018F
31 December 2018. The carrying value of 12A318 IEFE
derivative component of the Preferred Shares REE) - NIZEE
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet EBBERERNE
is net of deferred day one gain, which arose R ZOTETEE
from the difference between its fair value at MWEEHERE
initial recognition and its transaction price. The MBEELEE B
deferred day one gain is amortised over the @m(DhREEER
term of the Preferred Shares. TR R A (A
EXGERZE
) EIEH A
@ MBS IR
Equity Convertible
securities and Options for redeemable
convertible long-term preferred
loans investments shares Total
BRAESR RERE TRR
TARER fEE TREELR @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i Fr
(Note 25)
(K& 25)
Opening balance on R2018E1A18
1 January 2018 LENES
(restated) (15531 154,948 17702 1,426,714 1,599,364
Fair value (loss)/gain MERPBR L ATE
recognized in (Bi8) /Mt
profit or loss (1,900) 2,053 802,877 803,030
Disposal loss HEBE (690) - - (690)
Disposal HE (152,798) - - (152,798)
Currency translation ERREEE
differences 440 (846) 5,994 5,588
Closing balance on #2018 12 A31H
31 December 2018 LR - 18,909 2,235,585 2,254,494
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEMET (8)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) SE3RMANMBIA (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HFEEHELEE
measurements using significant unobservable M FEZ 8 A B
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B FEGE (F
3K) HE E & H
(#)
Convertible
options for -~ Options for
Equity convertible long-term
Securiies loans ~ investment Preferred Shares
CowmER REREM
REEE  HikE i BER
Derivative
compongnt
[convertible
options)
Debt Deferred
component Gross  day one gain Net Total
RETAZS
(A )
. I
EBR ek ey 8 a
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
fn v v T v v 7 T
[Note 26) (Note 37)
(H326) (K37
Openingbalancson~~ K2017E1A18
1 January 2017 LS 11,986 10860 17812 605,849 444,615 (4,354) 440,261 1,086,768
Additing HE 7088 - - - - - - 7088

Gansrecognised i~ REMZERS
other comprehensive B ZUE
income - - - 28,635) - - - (28,635)

Gains and losses NERHED
recognised in

profit or loss - 91 (856) - 275,299 - 275,299 282,420
Interest income kA - - - 124529 - - - 124529
Amortisation of HEREHE

defereddayone gain -~ L AKE

in profit or oss - - - - - 2075 207 2075
Curencytranslation ~ SEAEEE

differences 629 676 746 3,969 3,367 - 3,367 9,387
Closing balance on kPRI

31 December 2017 LERER 19,683 19513 17702 705712 123,81 2279 721,002 1483612
Changesinunrealised  INERGFABEZ

gainsfllosses) for EERERNE/

theyearincludedin  (E) 288

profit orloss at the

end of the year - 977 (856) - 275,099 2075 130 284,4%
Changes inunrealised ~ REKAR B2

gains for the year ENEEERE

included in other Fh&E58

comprehensive income

at the end of the year - - - 28,635) - - - (28,635
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3

256

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

2)

Quantitative sensitivity analysis

A quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown
below:

Revenue Terminal

growth rate growthrate  Discount rate

10% increase 1% increase

or decrease or decrease or decrease

biaERE  RAERE

EiEES 0% EMEES 1% ENEEDH 3%

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
~NHERGE (8)

E3RMANMB IR ()

TEEHBEE T
EERREITER
AT

Control
Volatility ~ premium 5%

5% increase increase or

or decrease decrease

BE BRE
BiEHDS BRIEADS
$000 $000
i #

(146,042)/2,707  22,430/(22,509)

DLOM \olatility

3% increase 5% increase

or decrease or decrease

B BERnE itz
EMEE3% B D 5%
$000 $000

fr e

Year ended HE018% $'000 $'000
31December 2018 12A31RALEE r r
Preferred Shares Bk 272,616/(244,651)  82,472/(75,586) (361,310)/525,164
Revenue Terminal
growth rate growth rate
10% increase 1% increase
or decrease or decrease
higgs  BuEE
EMEED0%  ENEE1%
Year ended HEATE $000 $000
31 December 2017 12A31BLLER i T
Preferred Shares Bxk 312,676(283332)  61,185/(54,649)

No sensitivity analysis for options for long term
investments amounting to HK$18,909,000 at
31 December 2018 (2017: options for long term
investments amounted to HK$17702,000) is
presented as a reasonably possible change
in key assumptions used in the sensitivity
analysis would not result in any significant
potential financial impact.

(63,903)/64,281 (3,958)/111,205

I 2572018
F12A318HA
18,909,000/ 7T
2 RH% & 2 B
(20175 REARE
#)EA#E 17,702,000
BIL) ZHRERED
i REARRE
AMPFAEER
R AEAREE L
BreEETHE
ENBEY B
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial (d) WEMKEEHEMFE
liabilities &
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, LATNBI 7S E E S8 AJ o8
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar WITH—FREAEE T AU
agreements. AR o
Gross amounts Related amounts

of recognised ~ Net amounts of  not set off in the
Gross amounts  financial liabilities  financial assets balance sheet

of recognised setoffinthe  presented in the Cash collateral
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet received Net amount
YR
BESERA
REE REE ik P
BERAESR BERMEZS k2
CERHE ZEEREH ZEBEE BlRe
BELE BE4E 8 il it
As at 31 December 2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
R2018512A318 T r n r T
Accounts receivable, net EUERFE
- Subject to master netting -RE-FEEEREER (W)
arrangement (Note i) 549,096 - 549,096 (15,669) 533,427
- Not subject to master -ITRE-FREERERR
netting arrangement 370,026 - 370,026 - 370,026
919,122 - 919,122 (15,669) 903,453
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE ()
(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial (d) WEMKEEHEMFE
liabilities (Continued) & (&)
Gross amounts Related amounts
ofrecognised ~ Netamountsof  not set off in the
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets balance sheet
of recognised setoffinthe  presented in the Cash collateral
financial assets balance shest balance sheet received Net amount
TR
BEBERA
WEE REE el
BERNEH BERNES ]
ERRAE L ERTHE LEIEE Bl
AEEE afeE it i ]
As at 31 December 2017 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
201751231 H i T v T o
Accounts receivable, net EUERFE
- Subject to master netting -RE-FREETHAR (i)
arrangement (Note i) 540,446 - 540,446 (16,866) 523,580
- Not subject to master -ITRE-FREERERR
netting arrangement 399,794 - 399,794 - 399,794
940,240 - 940,240 (16,866) 923374
Notes: FisE
(i) Internet advertising customers have provided cash collateral (i) EM@ERERPEMAS

to the Group of HK$15,669,000 (2017: HK$16,866,000) as
protection for payment and contractual obligations under
the terms of advertising sale agreements. The Group has
the right to invoke the collateral if a customer has failed to
settle outstanding payments or full contractual obligations.

12 £ 15,669,000 JT (2017
£ 116,866,000/ 7T) 2
SEAR  FAEEHER
FEFETHONRIRERE
EZIRME - B P ReEREE
EARFIERE A REL
AEEE EIE BB RRKIR

=)
om °
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

(a) Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i)

(ii)

Fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (2017: available-
for-sale financial assets and derivative financial
instruments)

The fair values of financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (2017: available-
for-sale financial assets and derivative financial
instruments) that are not traded in an active market
are determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period. For details, refer to Note 3 (c)
(iif).

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the
assessment of the collectability of accounts
receivable, other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and the receivable from an
advertising agent, Shenzhou. In making such
judgement, management considers a number of
factors including but not limited to the debtors’
current and expected financial positions, business
environment and industry performance, current and
forward looking economic factors, collection history,
past experience and subsequent settlements of
debtors and Shenzhou.

BE

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)
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(ii)
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WERARERMEZEER
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4 Critical accounting estimates and 4 EEETHHFTRAE (E)
judgements (Continued)
(a) Critical accounting estimates and (a) Eoit st ARE

assumptions (Continued) (#8)

(iii) Income taxes (iii) FE®t
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous RNEER R BB R AR
jurisdictions, including Hong Kong and the PRC. @ (BEEERPE) f
Significant judgement is required in determining MATET - FEEHEE
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are FIET AR E 2 IREE A EY
many transactions and calculations for which the FRiGTiEHE - RE T ER
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the o RERHRAENR
ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes BIRIBTSETE - A5H
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on AR HIEE LR
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. HAifn MERR TR AR S B AT IE
Where the final tax outcome of these matters BEBE - ERETIES
is different from the amounts that were initially RESVIEENTIBREE
recorded, such differences will impact the current GHEZER - ZEZHRY
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the e bl T R E
period in which such determination is made. For the BN RIEPRIS B E K E
Group's tax exposure in the PRC, please refer to & - BRANSRE B
Note 9. B - BREWT9 -

(iv) Fair value of investment properties (iv) BREVMENDIFE
The fair value of investment properties is determined WEMENNTHERER
by using valuation technique. Details of the HERETE © A8REHIER
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in RBREHFEDERME
Note 15. 153K 5% °
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Critical accounting estimates and 4 EEETHHFTRAE (E)
judgements (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting estimates and @) EEGHAE ARE

assumptions (Continued) (#8)

(v) Recognition of share-based compensation (v) FERURGDAREEER
expense *

The Group adopts the Black-Scholes option pricing AEERFERAB R - &F

model to determine the fair value of share options RHTERRE E EE A AEE

at the grant date. Significant estimates and BN L B EIR AT

assumptions are required to be made in determining B - EETEARR -

the parameters for applying the Black-Scholes FRATEAN2HE - F

model, including estimates and assumptions ZEHEZNHE AR

regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected HBREERERREF

dividend yield and volatility of the underlying shares % - TR B Es G

and the expected life of the share options. Changes R AR 17 B 82 1 DA K% s A e

in these estimates and assumptions could affect the TE BRI ER R (A R AR 3% o

determination of the fair value of the options, and I EEFT IR A B (L AT

the amount of such share-based awards expected grE R BEREN A TE

to become vested, which may in turn impact the EENARERGTHEN

determination of the share-based compensation {17 2ZENERE - MUt AT &E

expense. [ 3B A 2 2 AR A 1< FRAD

HERINET -
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

262

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

(i)

Control over Phoenix Metropolis Media
Technology Company Limited (“PMM Beijing”)

Management considers that the Group has de facto
control of PMM Beijing even though it has less
than 50% of the voting rights. Management has
exercised its critical judgement when determining
whether the Group has de facto control over PMM
Beijing by considering the following, amongst others:
(i) the Group has obtained effective control over
majority of the board of PMM Beijing; and (ii) the
Group has the ability to direct the relevant activities
of PMM Beijing, i.e. the activities that significantly
affect PMM Beijing; and (iii) PMM Beijing and other
shareholders highly rely on the Group’s industry
expertise, brand, network, and reputation.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

WARTEER

Revenue and segment information 5

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television

AEENEIZEBRAFEERERER

broadcasting and the provision of internet media services. An IREEERE - HUEE S ENARE
analysis of the Group's revenue by nature is as follows: BERADTT
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Advertising sales BEEHE
Television broadcasting BRERE 1,176,750 1,242,914
Internet media BB SRR 1,453,183 1,468,037
Outdoor media P Ess 823,084 710,921
Mobile, video and wireless value i) « 1848 M B 4RI (E AR
added services income WA 237,621 265,057
Subscription sales G E=LUN 75,444 73,664
Magazine advertising and MHES ML
subscription or circulation BT 34,669 37797
Rental income iEE A ON 68,404 29,464
Others Al 193,661 129,633
4,062,816 3,957487
The operating segments have been based on the reports LE D IHRERAITESEHIA
reviewed by executive directors that are used to make strategic NEESRRIMEMETE « AITESE
decisions. The executive directors consider the business from a NEGREBMOTEERS -

product perspective.
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264

Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

The Group has five main operating segments including:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials and provision of promotion
activities;

(@) Primary channels, including Phoenix Chinese
Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel

(b)  Others, including Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel and others

Internet media — provision of website portal and value-
added telecommunication services;

Outdoor media — provision of outdoor advertising services;

Real estate — property development and investment
(mainly Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing); and

Other activities — programme production and ancillary
services, merchandising services, magazine publication
and distribution, and other related services.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

WARDEER ()

AEESRIBETERENHE B

S
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((ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018
HENBE12A31ALEE
Television broadcasting
ERRE Inter-
Primary Internet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media gstate  activities elimination Group

IRfE Eft Mt EBERE PR BHE  RBXE SEEHE  25E
§000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T fn T T T fn T T

Revenue WA

External sales g 1159445 124623 1284068 1690804 823084 683404 196,456 - 4062816

Intersegment sales Note ¢) 7 ERIE (Mizkc) - 35,799 35,799 15,208 3,876 43,926 13635  (112,534) =
Total revenue TN 1,159,445 160422 1,319,867 1,706,102 826,960 112,330 210,091 (112,534) 4,062,816
Timing of revenue recognition WARIEH

At point in time e - 48 48 174782 - - 11,433 - 186,263

Over time RERH 1,159,445 124575 1,284,020 1,516,022 823,084 3170 185,023 - 38m319
Revenue from other source  EHRFEIRA - - - - - 65,234 - - 65,234

1,159,445 124,623 1,284,068 1,690,804 823,084 68,404 196,456 - 4,062,816

Segment results nEEE 319,521 (65,431) 254,096 726,798 142,899 36,193 (99,203) - 1,060,783
Unallocated income (Notea) ~ RATMA (ista) 6,966
Unallocated expenses (Noteb) ~ RARR (HizEb) (303,697)
Profit before share of #hagny/

results of joint ventures/ N

associates, income tax B REE

and non-controling interests R E2AI AR 764,052
Share of profits less losses ~~ B{EAELE

of joint ventures aiREE 3421
Share of profits less losses ~~ E{FEEAR

of associates aiREE 10,632
Income tax expense FERER (216,768)
Profit for the year &R 561,343
Non-controlling interests FrRER (317553)
Profit attributable to owners ~~ KATHBA

of the Company il 243,790
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5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018
HZ2018F 12831 ALLER
Television broadcasting
ERRE Inter-
Primary Internet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities elimination Group
IERE At Nt OEBRER  FORE EiE  EtER SERHE 158
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
n n n n n n n n rn
Depreciation Vit (16,836) (15,269) (32,105) (38,413) (31,780) (35,570) (8,382) - (146,250)
Unallocated depreciation FolE (40,129)
(186,379)
Interest income fEMA - 937 937 44,011 3,563 83 374 - 48,968
Unallocated interestincome  AAEFIBMA 12,454
61,422
Interest expenses HEES - (70 (100 (16,210) - (1,90 - - (28,180)
Unallocated interest FARHERT
expenses (9.864)
(38,044)
Reversal of provision for R REAR
impairment of accounts &
receivable - - - 1,470 - - - - 11,470
Provision for impaiment BN ERE
of accounts receivable - - - (38,087) (3,187) - (12.418) - (53,692)
Provision for impaiment El-Bagtx
of amount due FERERE
from a joint venture - - - (3,133) - - - - (3,133)
Reversal of provision for A=
impairment of amount FERERERD
due from an associate - - - 1199 - - - - 1,199
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017
HENTF1ANBLFE
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intenet ~ Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group

IZEE f U BEHE  EbXE SREEE KEE
$000 $000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T v T T T T

Revenue WA

External sales g 1216859 119756 1336675 1733004 721436 29464 136878 - 3957487

Intersegment sales (Note )~ ERIHE (Hiskc) - 3919 39199 6,160 - 9,685 5927 160.971) -
Total revenue TN 1,216,859 1895 1375814 1739254 721,436 39,149 142,805 (60971) 3957487
Segment results PEEE 38532 (325100 316022 453583 119524 (6818)  (33.490) - 388
Unallocated income (Notea) ~ RAFMA (HisFa) 62,143
Unallocated expenses (Note b  &AER (Fizth) (266,789)
Profit before share of results ~ Z{EAL0%E/

of joint venturesfassociates,  BFEARIEE -

income tax and R RIERR

non-controlling interests ERAIEA 624,175
Share of profits less losses AL LEEH

of joint ventures HEE 6,145
Share of profits less losses ~~ E/EBENAEH

of associates HEE (19,888
Income tax expense FERER (89,579)
Profit for the year L3yl 520,853
Non-controlling interests FRER (234,605)
Profit attributable to owners KRR AL

of the Company gl 286,248
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5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017
HENTF1ANBLFE
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intenet ~ Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group

IZEE f U BEHE  EbXE SREEE KEE
$000 $000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T v T T T T

Depreciation nE (24.810) (15,882) (40,692) (40,839) (31,279 (36,286) (3548) - (152,644)
Unallocated depreciation i (41,822)
(194,466)
Interest income V0N - 414 414 182,495 3,069 % 309 - 186,382
Unallocated interestincome  AAEFIBMA 9,083
195,465
Interest expenses eSS - ) (1) (25461) - (13552) - - (39,084
Unallocated interest expenses R ARCRIBF% (5,222)
(44,306)
Impairment of property, % BRRE
plant and equipment HE - - - - (4,367) - - - (4,367)
Unallocated impairment % BRRE
of property, plant and BARSERE
equipment -
4,367)
Reversal of provision for UG HERE
impairment of accounts &E
receivable - - - 32,691 876 - - - 33,567
Provision for impaiment UG HERE
of accounts receivable - (176) (176) (22,1%) (1,974) - - - 24,345)
Provision for impaiment of  ER—FAEME
amount due from a FERERE
joint venture - - - (17328) - - - - (17328)
Provision for impaiment EY-FEERR
of amount due from FERERE
an associate - - - (1,199 - - - - (1,199
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Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Notes: MI3E
(a)  Unallocated income represents exchange gain, interest income, @ AOBBAEER K= FEK
investment income and other income. A BERAREAMYA o
(b)  Unallocated expenses represent primarily: b)) AOEAZEER:
- corporate staff costs; - SEETHA :
- office rental; - WAEMS
- general administrative expenses; - —RITREM :
- marketing and advertising expenses related to the Group - MAEEEEEHENTISH
as a whole; and BERESER &k
- exchange loss - T i E51a
(c) Sales between segments are carried out based on terms ©) HDEMEEDNKRERELEMSE
determined by management with reference to market prices. TEEETE 2 GRUHETT ©
Revenue from external customers by country, based on the destination RENARFPHBAZBER (REREFPZ
of the customer: B &thimE) 250 -
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The PRC H 3,874,755 3,819,941
Hong Kong &5 110,428 50,557
Others A 77,633 86,989
4,062,816 3,957487
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred FRBEE (MBITARBECHEREAE
income tax assets, by country: AN IRERZF) T -
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
$'000 $'000
Fr T
The PRC A 2,523,741 2,351,641
Hong Kong BB 617,085 864,360
Others A 42,596 52,976
3,183,422 3,268,977
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6 Other operating gains, net 6 HMtKEWRFHR
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Exchange (loss)/gain, net FEH (F18) /et FH (17,906) 8,083
Investment income FEWA 10,458 7442
Gain on deemed disposal RIELE—RB AR Z WS
of a subsidiary - 5,007
Fair value gain on financial BATEBBEETCERNIBEE
assets at fair value through KA ERE
profit or loss
Investment in Particle Inc. & Particle Inc. 802,877 -
Other financial assets Hih B EE 1,148 5,403
Net fair value gain on derivative  $TAEM ST A A FEWEFEE
financial instruments - 284,609
Provision for impairment of JEWE & RIBRE R
amounts due from joint
ventures (3,133) (17,328)
Reversal of/(provision for) JE Uk — B & 1 R ROB R (B B
impairment of amount due BBl (BH)
from an associate 1,199 (1,199)
Others, net H b F5 5,196 8,202
799,839 300,219
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Profit before income tax

The following items have been (credited)/charged to the profit
before income tax during the year:

BR A5 Bt Al 7

THIBBED ERFE ARG TS BAT

wERA GEA) /Hk

2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Crediting A
Reversal of provision for JE U BR SR (B B )
impairment of accounts
receivable (11,470) (33,567)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE « BE REEN S
plant and equipment (1,801) (5,517)
Charging e
Production costs of B 257 B BUERCA
self-produced programmes 197,568 203,163
Commission expenses ez 403,341 370,055
Bandwidth costs WREAA 67,2274 63,439
Provision for impairment of JE U BR SR (B B
accounts receivable 53,692 24,345
Employee benefit expenses EERNER (BRESZME)
(including Directors’
emoluments) 1,286,214 1,277,283
Operating lease rental in THEEHERS
respect of
— Directors’ quarters -EEFE 1,872 1,882
~ Land and buildings - B=FH L REF
of third parties 70,953 62,521
— LED panels - LED# T 251,063 200,954
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BELK&ENEIE
plant and equipment 2,543 4,905
Depreciation of property, M - WEREEITE
plant and equipment 186,379 194,466
Amortisation of purchased BEAETE RERhRER
programme and film rights 9,306 12,256
Amortisation of lease T FHE B A Y
premium for land 5,833 5,725
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# 10,377 9,073
Impairment of intangible assets & ERIE 10,277 -
Impairment of property, plant M - BE KEERE
and equipment - 4,367
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENE S
— Audit services - ZEURTE 15,663 13,930
- Non-audit services - RS 1,156 1,051
Outgoings for investment WEMEZ X
properties 6,001 5,604
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8 Employee benefit expenses

272

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

8 EERNEH

2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Wages, salaries and other TE& - e kEAMER
allowances 1,238,784 1,200,629
Unutilized annual leave RAAFER 589 (295)
Pension costs — defined RS - FERE NG S
contribution plan, (M2 U300 (Mista)
net of forfeited
contributions (Note a) 21,756 21,473
Share-based compensation LARR D ki E (MiEE32)
expense (Note 32) 25,085 55,476
1,286,214 1,277,283

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans based on
various percentages of the employees’ salaries or a fixed
sum per employee with reference to their salary level. The
assets of these schemes are generally held in separate
trustee administered funds.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are used to offset the employer’s future
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
aggregate amount of the employer’s contributions was
approximately HK$18,820,000 (2017: HK$18,670,000)
and the total amount of forfeited contributions was
approximately HK$1,418,000 (2017: HK$1,520,000).

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme"”). The MPF Scheme was introduced
pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation
introduced in 2000. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

BIRE - ERHEGTE

NEBERBEHBE QR MED
BB G| KA R B S EER
HFGR K& T8 - REBEAR
BEF SN TR RLZEBEH
LREBEEBEZREEBUE TS
S EREES - 255
EMEE—MABGETABILE
EHESFEE -

B EEERBETERRARE
©FTE MAKSEESTALE
BEANF S H10%IA =&
PR B3R o QU R T AR
HEEETORRMET BHE
2018F 12 A3 AL FE - B
F R AR A% 18,820,000
77T (20174 : 18,670,000
Bor) o g MR R e
/491,418,000 7T (2017 4F -
1,520,000 7T) °

B2000F12 A1 B - FHE
BrEEMASMEARESE
Bl ([RBEETE]) - fEDET
EIT51RIE R 2000 F 8 R H9 98 HI
MRS EGIH L - BRIE®RTE
T8 AREREREESR
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans
(Continued)

Both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 from 1 June 2014 onwards for each employee.
For those employees with monthly relevant income less
than HK$7100, since 1 November 2013, the employees’
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$2,638,000
(2017: HK$2,579,000) and the forfeited contributions was
HK$99,000 (2017: HK$44,000).

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 included two Directors (2017:
three) and three members of senior management (2017:
two). The aggregate emoluments paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

8 EE®NEH (8|

(a)

(b)

BIRE - ERRHE S
(#&)

B2014F6A1HE  EEXE R
EEMHIHEXEGREES
A #EE YA 30,0008 7TH) LR
Fr#MR - 2T AMRBEKA LD
71008 T fE & - 52013
FMNA1TBR ZFEETE
FAVEH HEER -

HZE2018F 12 A31 AILFE -
AEEMRESTEELNRE
TR B42,638,0008 7T
(20174 : 2,679,000 7T) * #
S8 U i 7k £ 99,0005 7T (2017
£ 1 44,000787T) °

hE&EHIHALTESH
BEABZME

NEBEE E2018F12A31H
HFEZREERRFATEE
MZEE (2017F : =8) b=
LB EEAB (2017F W
Z)  FRNEN /B FHRER

SEATHAMSIT
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Salaries e 18,489 18,768
Discretionary bonus BI5 8 BATEAT 3,195 846
Housing allowance B E=ERL 4,588 5,786
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,164 1,388
27436 26,788
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

274

(b)

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (2017:
five highest paid individuals) fall within the following

bands:

Emolument band

MEgEE

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

8 EE®NEH (8|

hEaEmTm AT RS
EBEABZHE (8)
hEmReHFAL (2017F: &

AREFAL) O EN T
T#E -

Number of individuals

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000
HK$9,000,001 — HK$9,500,000

3,500,001 /7T —4,000,000 7T
4,000,001 87T —4,500,000/87T
4,500,001 87T —5,000,000/87T
5,000,001 # 7T —5,500,000 % 7T
9,000,001 /&7T —9,500,000 7T

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments
were paid or payable to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office except as disclosed above (2017: Nil).

AE
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4
1 2
1 —
1 1
1 1
1 1
5 5
br XX ETRESN - FALER

hEmREHFALTINRENE
(A B < 3k 22 RBh 7 18 - LAYE /3N
AR E 0 R AR DB
18 (2017 4F : M%) o



F3 2018 BEFREE (125 BRAR
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Income tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation on PRC and overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

FreHiEHN

EBNEBHEAFE G ERF S
FI LA16.6% (2017 4F : 16.5%) B &
B - P EREINE FIRIIE TR EA
FEMGTERBET - HAE@mME
BRI RROBRITIHENE -

2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Current income tax & EIFTS
— Hong Kong profits tax - BBNEH 3,628 26,071
- PRC and overseas taxation - PR B HNMRIA 59,987 57568
— Under/(over) provision of tax -RBEFETRE
in the prior year (HEgE) BIERHHE 2,134 (1,396)
Deferred income tax (Note 35) EIEFTSH 151,019 7336
216,768 89,579

On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax on certain of the Group's advertising fees collected
from an advertising agent, Shenzhou in the PRC (the “Ruling”).
The Group has dealt with the aforementioned taxes according
to the Ruling in the consolidated financial statements. However,
PRC tax laws and regulations and the interpretations thereof
may change in the future so that the Group would be subject to
PRC taxation on certain income deemed to be sourced in the
PRC other than Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor
developments in the PRC tax regime in order to assess the
ongoing applicability and validity of the Ruling.

A deferred tax provision of approximately HK$149,300,000 has
been recorded in the Group’s consolidated income statement
during the year ended 31 December 2018. The tax provision is
related to the Group’s investment in convertible redeemable
preferred shares which the Group now expects to recover
through sale.

19984 1 208 » BB R %
BEALE AT ESNKEE T E
HERHEAEBRINGREDCEMS
MBMBEE ([ZHE]) - AEBEDR
BZHERERAMIBSRENERE Filt
FIE - A PEBEBBCEZRE
MRREBEEAEES  ARAEE
AR ETHEEAENFEH (FERIN)
SRR A SN R B I8 - AL @S
HEBRPEPEE AR
ZHTERIERARESE -

HE2018F12A31TB It EE - &
HE 7 T8 B 4% #9 149,300,000 7 7T 2 51
AREB 7 REWERA - BITEREE
THRERA A £ [ 7 AT 44 0% ] B (B (B S AR
Z2EE AEBEBREERBBEER
|§| °
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9 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the
location in which the Company operates as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

9 MEHEAR (F&H)

REBIRARRR TS B AT S FFT E AT
18 - EIRAAR RS TR H AR
KMELRIEMAENEZRIOT

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Profit before income tax bR 1S AR A 778,111 610,432
Calculated at a taxation rate BIEFE16.5% 5TH (20174 : 16.5%)
of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) 128,388 100,721
Income not subject to taxation BAERBUA (22,036) (136,637)
Expenses not deductible for TR B R R A B A
taxation purposes 24,479 55,099
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE 16,831 20,447
Effect of different tax rate in HEmERGEEENTE
other countries 76,086 62,940
Effect of tax exemptions and BT BB A R IR e R e R R 2
concessions granted to
PRC subsidiaries (5,703) (6,996)
Utilisation of previously R LRI ARER B TIRESE
unrecognised tax losses (3.411) (4,599)
Under/(over) provision of tax in the FMBEFEHRIBEETE,
prior year (fBzERHE) 2,134 (1,396)
Income tax expense FrSHiER 216,768 89,579
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
10 Earnings per share 10 SRER
(a) Basic (a) EA
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERZRFTIRE AR R HE
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BABGERENBRAFERE T
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the LB IETFIHEEE -
year.
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
Profit attributable to owners NAREAR AEIEET
of the Company ($'000) (F7T) 243,790 286,248
Weighted average number BT S mRAINiET 5
of ordinary shares (FB)
in issue ('000) 4,993,470 4,993,803
Basic earnings per share BRRERZEF] (FBI)
(Hong Kong cents) 4.88 5.73
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10 Earnings per share (Continued)

278

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has dilutive potential ordinary shares
which comprise share options of the Company and a
subsidiary (2017: share options of the Company and a
subsidiary).

A calculation is done to determine the number of the
Company's shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options of the Company. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options. Where the number of
shares so calculated is smaller than the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of all
the outstanding share options, the difference represents
potential dilutive shares and is added to the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue to arrive at
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
diluted earnings per share. There was no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during 2018. The impact of
the dilutive instruments of the subsidiaries is not material
to the Group's diluted earnings per share.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

10 BRER (&)

(b)

BE

BREERNDERKME#
SRR AR RBRERT
BB EEITEING BEAN
BYPHEGE - AKEEHE
BELBE  EERARAR
— B 2 B e B Rk (2017
F:ARARAR—HEMBRRN
FERE) -

AR TR AR A AR AT R AR
RTINS R E B E T
FE UEBEEARATE (&
AARRMDOEBFFEHTES
EEMmE) BANAQRKRG
EE o Ll E TS MR B
B RERZEEREEITE
BEEHITHRMEE L -
IR FTE R R M E B DR
BT M ARITE BT (E
BESETHRGOEE - BlE
B E R EEE gAY - N
AZBBHITLBARA T
B NERARETCEREE
BFE @A INEFIIE o R
2018 FWEFEHEBL LR
B ZHBAREEETE Y
TAHASESRESRFT
mEAE -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
Profit attributable to owners RARER ARG
of the Company ($°000) wR (Fz) 243,790 286,248
Weighted average number [REEERRES D)
of ordinary shares in I8 (FR)
issue (‘000) 4,993,470 4,993,803
Adjustment for share AR R EREED
options of the FE (Fr)
Company ($°000) = 10
Weighted average number SREE R TR B
of ordinary shares for IREFHE (FAR)
diluted earnings per
share (‘000) 4,993,470 4,993,813
Diluted earnings per share SRRESERF) (L)
(Hong Kong cents) 4.88 5.73
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
Dividends 11 RE
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Proposed final dividend of BN EANR S
1 Hong Kong cent BAR 1B
(2017: 1 Hong Kong cent) (2017 4F = 1784L)
per share 49,935 49,935
The 2017 final dividends paid during the year ended 31 HE2018F 12 A31 AL FEZHH
December 2018 were approximately HK$49,935,000 (1 Hong 2017 FF R BA IR & /3 4949,935,000 7
Kong cent per share). The Board of Directors of the Company 7T (BB - ARAEEE ([E
(“Board"”) recommended the payment of a final dividend for Fg)) BRI 2018FRBREE
2018 of 1 Hong Kong cent per share, totalling approximately A& 174 (L - 42 %8 49 /49,935,000 7%
HK$49,935,000. Such dividend is to be approved by the Lo BARBEKN2019F6 A5 HE
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 5 June 2019. TZBRRBEFRE EHRERE o Ut
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect this FARE P WFR I R R R IRFERAR
dividend payable. B

Purchased programme and film rights, net 12 BAGEHREZWMEFE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Balance, beginning of year FHHERR 11,947 15,117

Additions A= 8,645 9,842

Amortisation B (9,306) (12,256)

Others EAfth (351) (756)

Balance, end of year FIREERR 10,935 11,947
Less: Purchased programme B BEAETE REME

and film rights
— current portion - BPEREL D (163) (147)
10,772 11,800
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13 Lease premium for land

The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

13 tHHEEER

REBNEE T30 &+ 3t BEY 1

represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book =IETEMGCEHENR - BREFE
values are analysed as follows: DT -

2018 2017

2018 F 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr v

Balance, beginning of year FHHER 208,619 210,179

Amortisation s (5,833) (5,725)

Currency translation differences  E¥ B ZE (4,150) 4,165

Balance, end of year FIREER 198,636 208,619

(@) Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$95,995,000 (2017: HK$103,235,000)
which represents land use rights held by the Group for a
piece of land situated in Beijing for development of the
Phoenix International Media Centre.

(b)  Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018 is
an amount of HK$13,126,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$13,531,000) which was paid by the Group pursuant
to notification from the Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of
Land Resources and Housing Management (“Shenzhen
Land Bureau”) to the Shenzhen Land Bureau to obtain a
title certificate in the name of Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited (the “Phoenix Subsidiary”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, for the Group's upper
ground space entitlement of approximately 8,500 square
metres in China Phoenix Building in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen
Building”). As of 31 December 2018, the Group was still
awaiting the issuance of the title certificate to the Phoenix
Subsidiary by the Shenzhen Municipal Government. The
Directors are of the opinion that the title certificate of the
Shenzhen Building will be issued in the near future.
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(a)  H2018F 12 A31 H W ER M F
BB —2 A#95,995,000
7T (2017 4F ¢ 103,235,000
o) RIE - HRERAEEEE
— B 7 4 5 LA 2% R B 2L B
(ES SN Ol i b i = -

(b) H2018F12A31H W B @
FEER BEASERE
AYTE T ERMEEE R
BUFRINBLRB] wBEAMA
AYNE £ B = 89 13,126,000
# 9T (201712 A31 8 -
13,631,000/8 Jt.) * VA gt &K &
B ROR N B B R ETR K
(DRIMEF]) M9t L EEER
#18,600F H KK AT A # - &
BUAEEZ2EWNB R —
BEAERERAR ([BEMEB
NE) BERBLHEREE - R
201812 A31H » KR&EE)
FEEFFRYI TR R B RN B
NEVEHERESE - EERAF
IEFHEREB R T AARK
B o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
14 Property, plant and equipment, net 14 Y% - BERRERE
Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations Construc-
Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin
land  Building  -ments fixtures equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft  progress Total
XX g BiR EEEER

RELS BT MEME #E SMRE A IDERF R ERIE g4
$000 §000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000
7o % " " " " B 7 TR

(Note a) (Noteh)  (Notec)

(Hika) (Mb) (o)
Year ended BZ218%128
31December 2018 31ALEE
Openingnetbook  FAIEEFA
amount 12019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3,859 1,080,274
Acquisition of WE-HNBAR
a subsidiary
(Note 43) = - - 25 54,618 129 - - - 54,772
Additions AE - = 3,197 1170 106,768 1,047 793 - 18,403 131,378
Disposals & - - (95) (4) (573) (187) (6,583) - = (7442)
Depreciation g = (36,133) (27855) (2,522) (81,064) (3,420) (28,085) (7300) - (186379)
Transfers £ - - - - 1,386 - 16587 - (179m) -
Curency translation ~ EMAZEE
differences (52) (14,945) (1,282) (78) (7172) (51) (2,905) - (35) (27120)
Closingnetbook ~ FXERHE
amount 11967 516540 137420 4688 258919 3,636 74540 33519 4254 1,045,483
At 31 December 2018 120185

128318

Cost A 11967 694045 499,885 30470  1,027978 45813 232,400 88,871 4254 2,635,683
Accumulated ZHNERARE
depreciation
and impairment - (177505)  (362465)  (25782)  (769,059)  (42177)  (157860)  (55,352) - (1,590,200)
Net book amount BEEE 11967 516,540 137420 4,688 258919 3,636 74,540 33519 4254 1,045,483
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14 Property, plant and equipment, net

282

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

14 Y% BERREZRE (&)

(Continued)
Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations Construc-

Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin

[and Buildng - ments fixtures  equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft — progress Total

KA HE Kk EREEER

FELH BF  WERE KB EMEB A& LEDETR A EEIE @it

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 $000 $000

i T R T i i S S i T

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Mista) (Mstp)  (Wstc)
Year ended HETE
31 December 2017 12A31H
58
Openingnetbook ~ FAIGEFE
amount 1,718 579,551 181,39 8,045 198,232 9,852 122,161 48118 1769 1,160,842
Additions AE - - 14,766 479 57551 648 1,308 - 17267 92,009
Disposals i - - 2,067) il (1,270 (188) (4,809) - - (8,325)
Depreciation Vil - 35032 (32430 (2593 (86,184) (4278 (26,650 (7299) - (194 466)
Impairment A - - - - - - (4,367) - - 4,367)
Transfers &% - - - - 12587 - 2809 - (15,366) -
Currency translation ~ EMHEEE
differences 301 23,099 1,780 167 4670 84 4,281 - 199 34,581
Closing net book FRERTE
amount 12,019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3859 1,080,274
At31 December 2017 520174
127318

Cost B 12019 715835 500,971 29,597 927456 4,m 264,610 88,871 3859 2588329
Accumulated ZHAERAE
depreciation
and impairment - (148217)  (337616) (235000 (7419000 (38993  (169.877)  (48,062) - (1,508,055
Net book amount BEE 12,019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3859 1,080,274
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Property, plant and equipment, net
(Continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$116,447.000 (2017:
HK$120,133,000) has been charged in “Operating expenses’,
and approximately HK$69,932,000 (2017: HK$74,333,000) has
been charged in”Selling, general and administrative expenses”

(a)

(c)

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$22,684,000 (2017: HK$23,384,000)
which relates to the Group’s entitlement to use 10,000
square meters in the Shenzhen Building. As at 31
December 2018, the cost was HK$30,848,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$30,848,000) with a net book
value of HK$22,684,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$23,384,000). As at 31 December 2018, the Group
was still in the process of obtaining the title certificate to
the 8,500 square metres of the entitled areas through the
payment of land premium and taxes (see Note 13(b)).

As of 31 December 2018, the Group was still in the
process of renewing and obtaining certain licences of
LED panels. The Directors are of the opinion that the
licences will be obtained in the near future and the risk of
noncompliance with laws and regulations is remote.

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2018
is an amount of HK$33,519,000 (2017: HK$40,819,000)
which relates to the aircraft for operation use.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

14 Y% BERREZRE (&)

E B A 4116,4470007% 7T (2017
% 120,133,000 7t) B &t A&
Z®A] N M #469,932,000% T
(2017 % : 74,333,000 7t) Tyt A
[fH% - —MERITERERIA -

(a)

(b)

(c)

R2018F 12 A31 B M BR & /%
EREASEAEERRINIE
510,000 75 K BT % I B9 3K
%422,684,0007% 7T (2017 4 :
23,384,000 JT) © 1A 20184F
12 A31 8 * B4 %30,848,000
# T ( R2017F12 8318 ¢
30,848,000/ L) * BREF(E
Bl 522,684,000 7% 7T (722017
12 A31H : 23,384,000/
JC) e 2018F 12 A31H » A&
EEBEBT N HELFE MU
FIEEE8,600F oK A] HE A
Ry (RKIEE13(0)) ©

MR2018F 12 A31H » A& &
MFEEF L EDBRRENE
BRFA R - EER AR
RAAAGRIEZBRETA - i
REGBTAEERNARTS o

A#133,5619,000/8 7T (20174 -
40,819,000/ 1) 2 & BB &
AR2018E12 A B 2@\
FE DAERNESERRY
ek o
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 Investment properties 15 REWE

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Balance, beginning of year FEXEEER 1,570,414 1,464,088

Fair value gain N ERE 7533 44,868
Currency translation differences ~ E¥ B ZZE (65,643) 61,458
Balance, end of year FIREER 1,512,304 1,570,414

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) EMEHATESE

properties

The Group applied the fair value model for the accounting
of investment properties. Independent valuations of
the investment properties were performed by the
valuers, Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited and
Lambert Smith Hampton, to determine the fair value of
the properties as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Same).
Fair value gain of approximately HK$7,533,000 (2017:
HK$44,868,000) is included in the “Other gains, net” in

the consolidated income statement.
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AEBERAAFEEXGHE
BYEANR - REVEHRGE
eI EETGERERA
Al K& Lambert Smith Hampton
ETBLEE NEBETZSE
¥ % R2018F 12 A31H &
N FE(017F: R -
497,533,000/ 7L (2017 & :
44,868,000/ 7T) &) A F1E W
mEFTAGERERPHH
Uz FEE ] -
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy

15 REW* (&)
(a) WEWMEHNATETE
(&)

(i) 2DFEER
Fair value Fair value
measurements measurements
at 31 December at 31 December
2018 using 2017 using
significant significant

unobservable

unobservable

inputs (Level 3)  inputs (Level 3)
FREE fF F 0%
BENTE BIRMEE
BWABE 8 A BUE
FTER T2
2018 2017 4
12A318H 12431 8K
Description AFE NYE
it (E34%) (FB34)
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Recurring fair value ~ &EMAFAEFE
measurements
Investment properties &Y%
— Phoenix — BB EEF L (FE)
International
Media Centre
(The PRC) 1,496,921 1,555,092
- Commercial (UK)  — B3 (3EE) 15,383 15,322
Valuation processes of the Group (i) FEENGERRF
The Group's investment properties were valued REENIREYFEHE L

at 31 December 2018 and 2017 by independent
professionally qualified valuers who hold a
recognized relevant professional qualification and
have experience in the locations and segments of
the investment properties valued. For all investment
properties, their current use equates to the highest
and best use.

HELEWRIGHERIT 2018
ER2017E12 A31 B 14
B HERSE R
AEEER - WHATHE
B E W) EE ) D B AN B I,
BHES - RETEIREY
¥ HBRMNEASHE
B EER o
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

286

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Finance Department, headed by CFO, reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between
the Finance Department and valuers at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the Finance Department:

o Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation reports;

o Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation reports;
and

° Holds discussions with the independent
valuers.

Valuation techniques

For the investment property in UK with a carrying
amount of HK$15,383,000 (2017: HK$15,322,000),
the valuation of the investment property held directly
by the Group is made on the basis of the “Market
Value" adopted by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS”). It is performed in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Standards on Properties
published by RICS. The valuation is reviewed at least
once every six months by a qualified valuer using
income capitalisation approach.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)
(a) HEWMENLAFEFT=E

(#8)

(ii)

(iii)

REFENGERF ()

i Y B4R B R G RO B T 7
WES=:pc VAR )
B3RE B PR b (E3E
TR - RELAAEEN
PEAMEE RS AR - B
BE PR ER R D =R

ARG —X - HHEE

RETEBESR -

S AR A

BITSEPIE

. BREWBUEER
ERMEEAHA
B

.« AR E
R ERE LB
Teo®s : &

. RETEERET
SEE

B

RN EHE@mER
15,383,000/ T (2017
£ 115,322,000 7T) Z
WEMEMS - A5EEH
ERBIREMEZIME
TR 2R 2
MEe ((REESRET
BlERESE]) PREEMZ
[M{E] E£ - REREES
EXS D= i
HEERFTIEMES
YL ELERHETT o [H{E
& B ERME R UA
AR ERLERERR
=K e
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(iii)

Valuation techniques (Continued)

Income capitalisation approach is based upon
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions
specific to the property to reflect its tenancy and
cash flow profile. The fair value of the investment
property reflects, among other things, rental income
from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market
conditions including open market rents, appropriate
capitalisation rate and reversionary income potential.

In addition, for the investment property in the
PRC, which represents gross floor area of Phoenix
International Media Centre held for rental income,
has a carrying value of HK$1,496,921,000 (as at 31
December 2017: HK$1,5655,092,000). The fair value
of this investment property is determined using the
information from the valuation performed by external
professional valuer using the direct comparison
method. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of this property, appropriate adjustments are made
to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved. There were no
changes in valuation techniques during the year.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)

(a)

A A FAEH B

(#8)

(iii)

fhERM (&)

WABAREETIRIBARK
ES LTI VEAEYE ke
FOVEFREBRRIA RBR AT
HRREREMRN ° %
HREMEZRAFER
B (ERaiE) RERE
HEZHS WA AR ARE
BTN (BRAFHMS
HE  ERZEMEERR
WAKE 2 & S) $RE
ARMEE 2 H2RANR

BEoh - LA B 2 & E Y
¥ (REABBIAES KA
Fr 578 /9 Bl 2\ B B 43
ORI EEEE) MERE
& /5 1,496,921,00078 JT
(RA2017%F12 8318 :
1,555,092,0003 7T ) °
IS EMEN AT ENE
ERE - RINBEEMGE
BlA B B2 L EOA MR A1
BEFT R ER A -
ER LB E 2 S
& BRI AT RE R R G
ERCERNERERE
HiEE R -
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15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REYE (&)
(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) BEVENRNFET=Z
properties (Continued) (8&)
(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv)] ERCRELIBENEE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETNE

288

(£3/;) HEHR

Relationship

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable

Description 31 Dec 2018 technique(s) inputs  inputs to fair value

EEEEN

R2018%12 8 EEEEN BARBHE

R 3ANATE ERER BARE DNRENEE
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,496,921 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of HK$34,271 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB L - LRI metre, the higher

BRATTHK the fair value
MIMETL  BFHAKNEHE
FHESRES
AEERR
Commercial - UK 15,383  Income capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
B - HE approach  value of HK$4,053 rental value,
WAB LA per square metre the higher
hEHER the fair value
(SRR MEs
4,053 7T NBERTS
Reversionary yield The higher the
of 7% reversionary yield,
WAKE 2 the lower the
WA 7% fair value
WAME 2 Wz

Hs o RHERE
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(iv)

15 BREWE (&)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WEYWENAFET=E
properties (Continued) (&)

Information about fair value measurements (iv) EREERELEENEE

using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETNE

(Continued) (3% MER (&)

Relationship

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable

Description 31 Dec 2017 techniquel(s) inputs inputs to fair value

BEEER

2017412 A BEEEN BARIERE

fEit STAHATE fhERA BARE ATEMER
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,555,092 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of HK$35,602 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB L - LRI metre, the higher

BRABTAK the fair value

3b.602T  BFHRNLHEE

FHESRES

ATEES

Commercial - UK 15,322  Income capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
[EEE 5 approach  value of HK$4,048 rental value,
WAB LA per square metre the higher

HEHEAR the fair value

(SRR MEdS

4,04838 7T AEERR

Reversionary yield The higher the

of 7% reversionary yield,

WASE 2 the lower the

WA 7% fair value

W Ak 2 W

Hs o RHERE
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

290

(a)

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(v) Quantitative sensitivity analysis

The major sources of estimation uncertainty of
investment properties are mainly contributed by
the Phoenix International Media Centre and the
quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown as below:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

15 BREWE (&)

(a)

A A FAEH B
()

v) EEHBRESIN

BREWMEGF I EL
IBRRAIERARE
Bl B RO E B0
EoMrEsIamT

Adjusted average
price per

square metre

5% increase

or decrease
BYRKRZ
RARFIGER

B insE 4 5%
$'000

Tt

At 31 December 2018 }A2018 512 A 31H
At 31 December 2017 72017412 A31 H

Deferred tax

The Group's investment properties in the PRC are held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through use. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with
the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (Note 35).

(b)

74,846
77,755

EXETRIR

REEBRFPENEEDERR
B-EmERXEE Mz
A2 BB BFEAMERR
BYEFTEEIRNBE RN
Mo NEBFERLERE
MERNERFEREEBNELTR
TERF - P AAR R R B A e
TEERUR B SR E R
— B (M97E35) °
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Intangible assets 16 EEEE
Contractual
customer Club
Goodwill Licenses relationship debentures Software Total
BHEF
wE R B BHES BH b
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i T i S aw
Year ended HZ2018512A31H
31 December 2018 JI2:355
Opening net book amount ~ FAEEFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960
Addition NE - 18,081 - - - 18,081
Acquisition of a subsidiary  KE—EHBA A
[Note 43) (M3 43) 11,310 - - - 55,368 166,678
Amortisation B - (8,645) - - (1,732) (10,377)
Impairment WE - (10,277) - - - (10,277)
Currency translation EHHEER
differences - (589) - - (5) (594)
Closing net book amount ~ FAREEEFE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31A
Cost AR 120,043 39,309 1,924 2,065 139,445 302,786
Accumulated amortisation ~ 25HE SR {E
and impairment - (26,679) (1,924) - (83,712) (112,315)
Net book amount FHEE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471
Year ended HZ2017512A318
31 December 2017 J12:355
Opening net book amount 4R Z(E 8,733 11,254 - 2,085 3,820 25,872
Addition AE - 9,355 - - - 9,355
Amortisation g5 - (7335) - - (1,738) (9,073)
Currency translation EHBEES
differences - 786 - - 20 806
Closing net book amount ~ FREEEFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960
At 31 December 2017 R2017512R 318
Cost R 8,733 23,883 1,924 2,065 10,035 46,640
Accumulated amortisation  ZxHE#RAE
and impairment - (9,823) (1,924) - (7933) (19,680)
Net book amount FHFE 8,733 14,060 - 2,065 2,102 26,960
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16

17
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Intangible assets (Continued) 16 BEEEE (&)
Amortisation of approximately HK$8,645,000 (2017: F N 498,645,000/ T (2017 4F -
HK$7335,000) is included in “Operating expenses’ HK$1,732,000 7335,0007870) 2 BT A &R
(2017: HK$1,738,000) is included in “Selling, general and 1 M#91,732,0007% 7T (2017 4F -
administrative expenses” during the year. 1,738,000 7T) < BESHET A [$HE -
—MRITRER] -
An impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill at 31 CEZE 2018412 A31 B Z &R
December 2018 was performed and no impairment provision EEEITREEE M BAELRE R
is required. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill & LRERmE - fTKERED
acquired has been allocated to individual cash-generating DEREERBELEDBERNERRE
units (CGUs) identified according to operating segment. The EEEN ReEEEM) - AllEe
recoverable amount is based on a value in use calculation. There BIRBERAEETE - FRLERE
was no impairment charge recognised during the year (2017: BRI (20174 « &) -
Nil).
Certain of the Group's new media subsidiaries are in the AR EE T AE T B A B IE IR R
process of applying for certain licenses for the operation of HRELIAIENTFE  UEEEE
their businesses, including internet audio-visual program ¥ BRECEEPKNEEGSESBT
transmission license and internet news license. AJRE R ANER R EIRT AT EE o
Interests in joint ventures 17 REELENER
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Unlisted investments, net EEMREFR 56,723 40,027

The Group's investments in joint ventures are analysed as
follows:

AEBREELENRENNAT

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fit

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE - AR 87,979 79,367

Capital contribution L& 14,676 8,612

Provision for impairment RIERE (4,326) (4,326)
Share of profits less losses BiEe g R aTRERE

of joint ventures (40,743) (44,170)

Currency translation differences ~ E¥HBRE =% (863) 544

Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFEE 56,723 40,027
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 were as

17 REELENER (F)

M 20184 12 A31 B AR EHEA
BERAEOEMFEBNT

follows:
Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation Operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
KEBBERN BREIRAR
&8 AR B EEBE TEXE REESEN A/ ERER
Beijing Simulcast Communication The PRC, 7 January 2005 The PRC Advertising business 45% RMB30,000,000
Co. Ltd. * HEl - 2005F1 /70 #El  inradio broadcasting, AK30,000,0007
FRRASEEERERAR and media marketing
industry in the PRC
hEERERES
EIIIE i
AITEG U EEERAT The PRC, 15 December 2010 The PRC Radio Broadcasting 50% RMB10,000,000
ME 20106128 158 el in the PRC A&H10,000,0007C
NEERERER
Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural The PRC, 2 September 2013~ The PRC  Provision of promotional 65% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* FE - 2013F9A2H el related services AR2,000,0007
ITREBBEULERERAT R EIRRRY
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, 19 June 2017 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% HK$10,000,000
Investment Management Limited &5 + 2017456 5 198 i MR 10,000,000/ 7
BB EXRAEEERAR
ERBREROESERRAR The PRC, 4 March 2015 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB500,000
ME - 2015F3A4H el BRI AR¥E500,0007
BESRESHA (LX) BRAR  The PRC, 15 June 2015 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB1,000,000
WE 2015568158 el BRI AR1,000,0007C
Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo Network The PRC, 31 May 2013 The PRC Internet media 2730% RMB1,960,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* E 2013558318 HE BHEE AEH1,960,0007
T REEXEREEIERAT
Phoenix FM Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Internet media 54.51% US$560
29 August 2013 HEHS GEERE 560ETT
FEHE
20135 8A29A
* For identification purpose only * EHEE
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17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

17

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 were as

follows: (Continued)

REERENES (&)

M 20184 12 A31 B AR EHEA
ERAEENFBOT « (8)

Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest  paid share capital/
Name incorporation Operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
) TREREN BETRAR
&R HMRLHR A EEBE TEXH RAEZEAL BE/HRELR
Phoenix FM (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, 24 October 2013 Hong Kong Internet media 54.51% HK$1
Company Limited BE - 2013F10A 240 BB DHmEeE 1B
BEEHE (B4) BRAF
Phoenix FM (Beijing) Information The PRC, 24 January 2014 The PRC Internet media 54.51% US$1,700,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * W 2014F1R24H R DHRRE 1,700,000 T
FEZE (bR) BRRMERAT
Beijing Fengming Jiutian Network The PRC, 28 February 2014 The PRC Internet media 54.51% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * WE 2014528285 i BHEE AREH1,000,0007C
I REENRBE R ERAF
Shenzhen Fenghuang Jingcai The PRC, 1 April 2014 The PRC Internet media 1719% RMB71,428 571
Network Technology Co. Ltd. * HE - 2014F481H H DHEReE ARET1,428571 7T
RYTEBRET AR B ERAE
BEBENS (58) BRAR The PRC, 30 March 2015 The PRC Data technology 51% RMB2,000,000
RE 20155 3A30A e E ARH2,000,0007C
BEME B AB R SR The PRC, 30 October 2012 The PRC Education 36% RMB10,000,000
BRAA ME 2012510 A30 F el #E AR 10,000,000
FREREEREERBRAT The PRC, 27 July 2016 The PRC Technical consulting 30% RMB1,000,000
BB 201657 /278 el R AR 1,000,0007C
QTR (LF) BEXRRARDA The PRC, 9 October 2016 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% RMBG60,000,000
MEl 2016510 A9H e peigid AR60,000,0007
International Chinese Medicine Hong Kong, 11 January 2017 Hong Kong Cultural promotion 50% HK$10,000
Cultural Festival B 207E1R11A 2 peigid 10,0007
Company Limited
RRBEL S BR AT
ERAEUR I RRER AR The PRC, 10 January 2017 The PRC  Tourism and cultural 40% RMB100,000,000
BE - 2017F 15108 H development AR 100,000,000 7
MR
BRERLEEERAF The PRC, 26 September 2017 The PRC  Programme production 65% RMB10,000,000
WE 201749 F 26 F el SRR AR 10,000,000
BB () BRAE The PRC, 31 August 2017 The PRC Big Data 10% RMB5,555,560
ME 2017468 F31 B el K& AR5,555,560 70
* For identification purpose only * EHEE
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17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued) 17
(@ JERIBRERXEEZHABR QA in which the Group (a)

previously held 40% equity interests, was liquidated on
20 June 2018.

by HEEHERK(LEE) AR 2 A, in which the Group (b)
previously held 51% equity interests, was deregistered on
2 January 2019.

(c)  Aggregate information of joint venture that are individually (c)
immaterial

The Group has interests in a number of individually
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the
equity method.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

REERENES (&)

I RERBE IR E LS
ERAR (AEEBEHEH
40% A% #E) B 7201846 A 20
A58 -

EEHBERR (E8) BRATR
(REEBTHBEEST%RE)
BR201941 A2 Bl -

ERILFEBHAHOEN
SR

A B B R AR B EHEA
EMERL S BNAELE
h A -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The Group's share of profits REFEE(RRTREE &
less losses and total 2HKZEEE
comprehensive income 3,427 6,145
Aggregate carrying amount AEERUHEEEDE B
of the Group's interests K& ETERAE
in these joint ventures 56,723 40,027
(d) As at 31 December 2018, there are no commitments and d H2018F 12 A318  AEEW

contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in
joint ventures (2017: Nil).

EHEENAEDEOEDRA RN
EfAERSA B E (20174
&)
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Investments in associates

The Group's investments in associates are analysed as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

18

REERRNRE

REBRBERBMRENTAT

2018 2017

2018 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE + AR 128,454 118,270
Fair value of non-controlling FriR 88 FE1E R e 2 2 A B

interests retained - 4,184

Capital contribution HE 4,971 19,927

Capital return from an associate [ —RIE& QA EHE - (13,927)

Share of profits less losses BB R R AR FREE

of associates (37,850) (48,482)

Currency translation differences ~ E¥mEZE (5,841) (1,469)

Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFEE 89,734 78,503
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 are

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

18 RBERRANRE (&)

R2018F 12 A31 HA X BHE A7)
(igEmesEAAR) SHBM T -

as follows:
Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation Operation activity by the Group registered capital
EEEREN BRTRAR
L MRt B EEE TEXR RABEESHL B/ EMER
SinoPac Venture Capital Corp. Taiwan, Taiwan Cultural 30% NTD20,000,000
Bl gl $RERNBRAR 11 September 2013 aig development 20,000,000 7 & %
28 2013F9A 118 XAHEE
BEAREE (tR) HERHEEBRAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 30% RMB6,000,000
2 August 2012 H #E AR 6,000,0007T
HE - 201258A2H
FEREERETLERABRAF  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 42.75% RMB10,526,300
3 December 2015 R development AR 10,526,300 7T
HE - 2015%12 838 peidid
Sky Fame Business Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Investment 25% uSD100
REEZBRAR 8 August 2016 BB holding 100%7T
RBREIRES - REER
201648 A8H
Beijing Phoenix Li LiTa Information ~ The PRC, The PRC Provision of 8.54% RMB10,653,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“LLT") 22 August 2014 F financing AEK#10,653,0007T
(Note ) HE 201468 A22AH platforms
TRBEEERTESRMERAR REAE
(122w ])(MEc)
Sky Fame Co. Ltd.* Taiwan, Taiwan Programme 25% NTD500,000
REBRAF 11 May 2017 RE production 500,000 7 &
A% 2017F5A 1A 8B BHF
* For identification purpose only * EHEE
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18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REFEQNRINIRE (&)
Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by R20184F 12 A31 HME BH# L A A
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2018 are (LAE=ERHEAR) 80T - (&)

298

as follows: (Continued)

Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation Operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEEREN ERITRBRE
£ MR A EE TEER RAEZESL BRA/SWER
EESE(LR)HERBAERAA  The PRC, The PRC Education 40% RMB10,000,000
6 May 2016 i technology AR 10,000,000 7T
ME 201645768 HERE
EFEEER U ERER LA The PRC, The PRC Cultural 35% RMB146,153.85
29 December 2016 R development AR 146,153.85 7T
HE 2016912 A29H XiHEE
BREREMAEHARMARRAR  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB2,000,000
19 April 2017 R technology AE#2,000,0007T
B 2017F4 A19A development
BHERRRE
AR AEEHARMAERAR  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB1,500,000
24 July 2017 I technology AR 1,500,000 7T
mE 201757 A 248 development
BRI AR
BEEZ R (ER)ERAF  The PRC, The PRC Technology 42.75% RMB2,000,000
8 March 2017 HE development AR 2,000,0007T
ME - 201743A8H IR
AIEEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Game 19.29% RMB10,418,750
8 March 2017 F development AE#10,418,750 T
mE - 201743A8H R
B RRGREREER AR The PRC, The PRC Technical 21.80% RMB5,000,000
4 December 2018 I consultation AR5,000,0007T
ME 20185 12 A4H SRR
IrHEBRERREER AT The PRC, The PRC Cultural 23.67% RMB500,000
22 June 2017 HE development AR 500,0007C
ME - 201756 A 220 XHE
BrAsEE R EEBR AT The PRC, The PRC Digital Media 10.26% RMB500,000
30 October 2017 H Y AR 500,0007T
ME 2017410 A30 8
* For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REFEQNRINIRE (&)
Note IE
(@) Aggregate information of associates that are individually @ ERNIFEEMHERTNNETE
immaterial *
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial REBERZHE N ESEHEARM
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. AR IEE B/ EE A QR P A
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr v
The Group's share of NEBB(RTREE
profits less losses and ReERS B
total comprehensive
income 10,632 (19,888)
Aggregate carrying amount  AREEBEA I EEE SN A
of the Group's interests 2w (BEEE)
(including goodwill) VEFHEREE
in these associates 89,734 78,503
(b)  As at 31 December 2018, there are no commitments and (b)  H2018F 12 A31H » AEE W &

contingent liabilities relating to the Group'’s interests in associates
(2017: Nil).

SLE OB A R A B RO
EERKBEE Q0T74F &) -
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Investments in associates (Continued)

Note (Continued)

(c)

The Group held equity interest in LLT amounting to
RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$1,212,000) as at 31 December
2015. On 20 May 2016, Beijing Huibo Advertisement Media
Limited Company (1t 7 ERE E & EH AR 2 7)) (“Huibo”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. He Xin,
Mr. Zhang Zhen (together “Major Shareholders”) and LLT entered
into an investment agreement (“Agreement”), pursuant to which
Huibo has conditionally agreed to make a capital contribution of
RMB38,136,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$45,607,000)
to subscribe for an additional of approximately 1.25% equity
interest in the enlarged capital of LLT. At the same time, other
investors also agreed to subscribe an aggregate of approximately
4.88% equity interest in LLT for RMB165,000,000 (approximately
HK$197.324,000).

Under the Agreement, Huibo and other investors were granted
both call options and put options (“Options”) with the same
exercise terms. The call option enables the holder to further
acquire a maximum of 8.75% additional equity interest in LLT
at RMB1 per share from the Major Shareholders in the event
that LLT cannot achieve the expected transaction amounts or
revenues for the years ending 31 December 2016 and 2017
The put option grants the holder the right to request LLT to
repurchase those equity interest acquired by Huibo on or after
the date of the Agreement for a consideration equivalent to the
aggregate of the initial investment costs of the relevant equity
interest and the return of investment based on an annual rate
of return of 10% should LLT fail to list, or decide not to list, on
a recognised stock exchange in or outside the PRC before 31
December 2020.

The aforesaid capital increase was completed during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and the Group indirectly held
approximately 8.54% effective equity interest in LLT. The directors
of the Company considered that the Group now has significant
influence over LLT through its representative on the board of
directors of LLT, LLT's reliance on the branding of Phoenix, and
the relationship of the controlling shareholder of LLT with the
Group. The total investment costs in LLT have been separated
into (i) “investments in associates” which are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting; and (i) “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss” (2017: “derivative financial assets”)
for the call and put options (Notes 25 and 37).

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

18 RBERRANRE (&)

Wi

(c)

(#)

R2015%12 A31 8 AEEHE
A R 1,000,000 7T (471,212,000
BIL) 2R RE - R20164F
5A208 kR EEESEER
BAR ([EHE] EARARAZ

—EHEEEMNBAR) HESE
E-REEE(HEBAIARRK

R REEEIIVRERZE (%
&l - Eit  ERE KGR E
& AR #538,136, ooofz (FBER
#945,6070007%% 70) UREEETD
%&%}EKﬁZﬁZ%‘EM\L%%Hﬂ%o
£t [ B - ﬁﬁm&ﬁ%ﬁﬁféu
A R #165,000,0007T (1% 7%
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 KEBAQTE]

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: BATIRBAT
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong Provision of 100% HK$20
Company Limited liability company &%  management and 0%
BEFRARAR A BREEAR related services
RIUERR
BRRS
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Chinese Channel) Limited limited liability company B television (EFD
BEGRFXABRAR RBRIES broadcasting
BRELRA GREERERE
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong  Satellite television 100% US$1
(Movies) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting (EFD
BEREYAEROA" EBRNES BRERER
BRELRA
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin -~ Trademark holding 100% US$1
Trademark Limited limited liability company Islands HEEE 1%7T
BEARARERAR EBRUES RERAEHS
BRELRA
Phoenix Chinese News & The United Kingdom, The United Satellite 70% £9,831,424
Entertainment Limited limited liability company Kingdom television 9,831,424 55
5B BREMAF it broadcasting
BRERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 54.51% US$1
Information Limited limited liability company Islands holding (3
BEENERAR EERAES EERNES RERKR
BRELRA
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

302

(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 100% US$1
(B.V.) Holding Limited limited liability company Islands holding (0
(Note a i) RERLEE EBRENAE REER
BEEREERRAR" BRELRA
Hong Kong Phoenix Weekly Hong Kong, Hong Kong Publishing and 77% HK$100
Magazine Limited limited liability company B distribution of 100787T
EBERANBRAF &5 BREMLARF periodicals
AR R AT
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong  Satellite television 100% US$1
(InfoNews) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting (EFD
BEFRAAAERAR EERARS GREERERE
BRELRA
Phoenix Film and Television The PRC, The PRC  Ancillary services 60% HK$10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company HE for programme 10,000,0007&7C
BEZ%E (R) BRAR T ARERLAT production
BEEIE
Phoenix Satellite Television United States, The United Provision of 100% US$1
(U.S), Inc. limited liability company States of  management and (EFD
X8 BERRAAT America promotional
ZB  related services
RIUERR
HEEARBIRRTS
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Taiwan Programme 100% US$1
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability company A production (EFD
BREERAERAR * EERAES HilEESE
BRELRA
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

R MR
(R IEABIE - SEBUBTFIE)
19 MEQE (&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$2
Television Limited limited liability company B holding 28
EAEEERERAR A BREEAR RERKR
Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% US$31,850,000
Information Technology limited liability company e consulting 31,850,000% T
Company Limited * T ARERAT B
BEER (L) EERMBRAR
Hong Kong Phoenix Books Culture  Hong Kong, The PRC Publication 100% HK$1
Publishing Company Limited limited liability company e AR 187
ERBEEMUCRERLE A BREEAR
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$400
Holdings Limited limited liability company Izl media business 40078 7T
BE#TEEERERAR FE BREERA POMiERH
Phoenix New Media Limited Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.51% US$2,643,353
BEFREER AR limited liability company HE holding (Class A
HEHE  ARALAT REER Ordinary shares)
US$3,173,254
(Class B
Ordinary shares)
2,643,353 %7
(ABEER)
3,173,254 %t
(BELER)
Phoenix Pictures Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFRUERRAF limited liability company a5 holding 15T
A BREEAR RERKR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

304

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH RARZEA ZMER

Phoenix Centre (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property holding 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company e VeSS 15T

BEHL (BE) BRARA A BREEAR

Green Lagoon Investments British Virgin Islands, The PRC Property holding 100% US$1

EHRABRAR limited liability company HE VeSS 15T

EERAES  FREALT

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor media 45.54% RMB154,000,000
Technology Company Limited* limited liability company e business AR 154,000,000 70
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMiERT

BEHTEERERNERAR
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB22,072,992
(Shanghai) Company Limited * limited liability company BB media business ARE22,072,992 7T
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMiRERS

BEGRSTEE (L8) BRAF
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB8,857320
{Hangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company mE  mediabusiness AR%8857320 7T
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMERERT

EEERATEE (M) BRAF
(Fitzte)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB35,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company B media business AR35,000,0007
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMERERT

EE#TEE (RY) BRAF
(Fitzte)

# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB3,000,000
(Guangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company HE media business ARH3,000,0007C
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

BE#HTEE (BN) ERAF
(Misc)

Jiangsu Phoenix Metropolis The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB15,000,000
Media Company Limited * limited liability company e media business AR 15,000,0007C
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

IHEEEBTEEERARA
(Mic)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMBB8,795,328
(Sichuan) Company Limited * limited liability company HE media business AR#8795328 70
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

EESmER (W) BRAR
(Mic)

Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Property holding 70% RMB300,000,000
Properties Company Limited * limited liability company mE VeSS AE%300,000,0007T
(Note d HE - BREAAT

BERH (7)) EXERAH
(Mtza)

PNACC Television (Canada) Inc. Canada, Vancouver, Satellite 100% CAD100

limited liability company British television 100417
mex - ERAFAH Columbia, broadcasting
Canada BEEEEE
mex
EETRILDE
BEED
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F 12 A3 B EEM

306

December 2018: (Continued)

BARFBET : (&)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$10,000
Company Limited limited liability company HE media business 10,0007
BEHTEEERAR FE BREERA POMiERT
Phoenix Radio Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Investment holding 100% HK$1
EREEBRAA limited liability company &E RERKR 1T
A BREEAR
Phoenix Satellite Télévision (France)  France, France Satellite 100% EUR500,000
SAS limited liability company EE television 500,000 E(T
B BRAREAF broadcasting
BRERER
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou The PRC, The PRC Advertising, 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Network Technology limited liability company B mobile value-add AR#10,000,0007
Co. Ltd.* (Note afi) T ARERLAT service, games
FRRBAMNBERIBRAR and others
(tsZali) BERE
BELERT -
BESHEREM
Yifeng Lianhe (Beijing) Technology The PRC, The PRC Mobile value-add 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co. Ltd.* (Note ali) limited liability company Izl services AR#10,000,0007
REHA (tR) BEERERARA B BREEAR BEEER
(FizE i)
Beijing Tianying Changzhi The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB5,000,000
Advertising. Co. Ltd. (Note i)} limited liability company e L5 AR%5,000,0007

SRRBEIEEEERAT
(BizEalii)

ME - BREMLA

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW ZMER
PSTV, LLC United States, The United  Property holding 100% US$5,000,000
limited liability company States of nEEE 5,000,000
B BREMATF America
e
Phoenix Metropolis Communication ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 100% RMB76,922,334
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B mediabusiness ARH76922,334 T
BEHTXER GLR) BRAF B BREEAR POMiRERT
Phoenix Cultural Consult (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd. * limited liability company e broadcasting ARH1,000,0007C
BEMEX#R LR) BRAF B BREEAR ZaER
P RERBEEEERAR The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB19,000,000
limited liability company HE broadcasting AK#19,000,0007
HE - ARELAA ZaER
Phoenix (UK) Properties Hong Kong, Hong Kong Properties 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BB (£B) B2ERAR FE BREERA NERE
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Television 100% HK$1
{Hong Kong Channel) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting 18
BE&R (B5a) BRAF A BRRAAT SHRER
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Advertising 54.51% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e BERE 18T
BETEE (B%) BRAA A BRRAAT
Peak Apex Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Aircraft 100% US$1
BEFRAF limited liability company B chartering services (EFD
EERAES R SRR
BREFLF
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

308

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER
Phoenix Research & Development  British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Research and 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company BE development (EFD
BERERERERAT EERAES WrRFEE
BREFLF
Phoenix Industrial Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% HK$1
Centre Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEEXERTLOERAA A BRRAAT HRkR%E
Phoenix Research Institute Limited ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% -
BEHRERER AR company limited B development
by guarantee WEREE
A ERERAR
Phoenix Culture Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BEXEEERERAT 4 BREEAR RERKR
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEXEERERAT % BRRAAT MR
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Management Company Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEXEIEBERAR A BREEAR TR
Phoenix Culture Creation Industrial ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Investment Management limited liability company BE development 18
Company Limited &5 BREMLAF WILHEE
BEXEIEEREERERLE
Beijing Fenghuang Yutian The PRC, limited The PRC Software 54.51% RMB5,000,000
Software Technology Co., Ltd. * liability company e development ARH5,000,0007C
FRBERREERIERAR HE - ARELRA BHRE

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 KELF (&)
(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B

December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital

HMALBER FEEREN BETRBRRAE/
£ EEERER BERY FTEERK RABHRED amER

S RERBE B RRAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB10,000,000
(formerly known as/ 3178 limited liability company e consulting AR#10,000,0007
IR EEEBIREES HE - BREAAT R
RITERAR
(Note i) (fzEafii)))

Phoenix Culture Industrial The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB25,000,000
Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company e development AR 25,000,000

BEGSESER (LF) HE - BREAAT MR
BRAT]

Tianjin Fenghuang Mingdao The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB2,000,000
Culture Communication limited liability company mE RERE AE%2,000,0007T
Co., Ltd. * (Note ali) HEl - BREEAR

REBRBEERERAT
(Fit&E alii)

Shanghai Yixi Network The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB100,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company HE consulting AKH100,000,000 70

LBERBERIERARA HE - BREAAT R
(Fir&E alii)

Beijing Fenghuang Convergence The PRC, The PRC Financial 54.51% RMB400,000
Investment Co. Ltd.* (Note alii) limited liability company M consulting services ARE400,0007

IREEREREERAT HE - BREAAT SRFARE
(Fir&E alii)

Shanghai Miaogiu Information The PRC, The PRC Technical 40.88% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e consulting ARH1,000,0007C
(Note afii)) (Note c) HE - BREAAT RirAA

LEEREERITERAA
(BizEalii) (HzEc)

# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)

309



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

310

(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Chengdu Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB500,000
Network Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e consulting AR 500,000
(Note ali) HE - ARELAA U
RERER MEENHERAR
(FizE i)
Phoenix Overseas Infonews Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
BEENERERAR FE BREERA RERKR
Fenghuang Feiyang (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB100,000,000
New Media Information limited liability company HE EERE AEH100,000,0007C
Technology Co., Ltd.* T ARERAT
BERE (bR) FERES
BERAR
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.51% HK$1
Information Technology limited liability company B holding 18
Company Limited &5 BREMLAF REER
BB (B4) ERRMERAF
Convergence Investment Co. Ltd Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.51% US$0.01
limited liability company HEHE consultancy 0.01%TT
HeHS RE®A
BRELRA
Phoenix InfoNews Japan Limited*  Japan, Japan Satellite 100% JPY 9,000,000
JIZYGAeA YT FZ0=Ae limited liability company =p television 9,000,000 £
VAUAVZ/ s B BREFARF broadcasting
BEZARRBRAR* BEERER
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

R MR
(R IEABIE - SEBUBTFIE)
19 MEQE (&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW ZMER
Shanghai Phoenix General The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB100,000,000
Nice Art Development Co. Ltd.* limited liability company e development AKH100,000,000 70
TEEERRENEREARLE HE - ARELAA TR
Fread Limited (formerly known as Cayman lslands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.51% US$0.01
*I Game Limited” ) exempted company HEHE holding N ESH
Fread Limited HEHE REER
(7178 [1 Game Limited |  E=E YN
FBERAA")
| Game (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.51% HK$1
Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
B (B%) BRAR A BREEAR RERKR
Beijing Chenhuan Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a i) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
FRESRBERAR (Miai) P BREFARA BEISHE
Beijing Youjiuzhou Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a i) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
ERENNERERAF HE - ARELAA BEISHE
(FizE i)
Beijing Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% RMB1,500,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note a (ii)) limited liability company e development AR®1,500,000 7T
FRBERTHEERAF HE - ARELAA BEISHE
(FizE i)
Beijing Fenghuang Borui Software ~ The PRC, The PRC Software 54.51% US$1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* limited liability company Izl development 1,000,000E 7T
FTREEESRHRNERELAR  RE FREALT BHRE

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

312

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F12A31AMEBH
BARGBWT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEEH  RNEZESN ZMER
Qie YiYou (Beijing) Information The PRC, The PRC Game 54.51% US$5,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company i development 5,000,000%7T
&S (tR) EERMERRT HE - BREEAR BREE
Phoenix Education Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company e holding 18T
BEHAREEERAR A BRELAR REER
Phoenix International Education Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 60% HK$500,000
Company Limited limited liability company i holding 500,000 57T
FRERHEERAR 7% BRRAAT REER
EA (R BERBER AT The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i ) ARH5,000,0007
HE - BRERAT
[EEHES (LR) HERRARAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 80% RMB10,000,000
(Note a (i) (5= afii)) limited liability company HE H5 AR#10,000,0007
hE - BREARR
ERSE R HEHRERRAT  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB2,000,000
(formerly known as /818 limited liability company mE HE AKH#2,000,0007C
BMERES R HE - AREAAA
AR Note afil) (P& afi)
Phoenix Property Investment British Virgin Islands, British Investment 100% US$1
Holding Limited limited liability company  Virgin Islands holding (E
BEESRABRERAR EERAES EERAEE REHER
BREFAH
Phoenix Property Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company i development 18T
BEEXREARAR B8 BREAAR NEERE
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

MR20185 12 A31 B #y = & it
BRRBEOT  (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2018: (Continued)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Phoenix Cloud Technology Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company i holding 18T
BEERRBERERAT Fh BREEAR RERR
BEER (tx) MRERERAF  The PRC, The PRC Technical 100% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i consulting ARH3,000,0007C
HE - AREEAR SRS
Phoenix Entertainment and Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 96.5% HK$1
Game Company Limited limited liability company i holding 1B
BEREBEBRAT FE ARELRA REARR
(Note alvi))
(Mtzatvi)
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Investment Limited limited liability company B holding 18
BEGRREBRAR % BRRAAT REER
Phoenix New Life Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFEEEAERAT limited liability company BE holding 18T
Fh BREEAR RERR
FRBEXRAEER AR AR The PRC, The PRC Investment 96.5% RMB1,000,000
(Note alvi) limited liability company i holding ARH1,000,0007C
(Mtzanvi) HE - AREALT REARR
IRERGERRER AT The PRC, The PRC Game 96.5% RMB10,000,000
(Note alvi) limited liability company e development AR#10,000,0007
(Htezatvi) HEl - BREEAR BEIRE
Phoenix Hong Kong Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Dormant 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company &k Taxk 1T
BEEAERARAR B BRELAT
FRBEERESRITERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.51% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i consulting ARH5,000,0007C
Ml EREERA U]
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

314

(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
EMRIBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER BERY FTEERK RABHRED amER
BEGHRCES (L8) BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%20,000,0007
HE - BREAAT TR
BERE () RREERE The PRC, The PRC Investment 80% RMB5,000,000
BRAT] limited liability company e management ARH5,000,0007C
HE - BREAAT REER
Phoenix Exhibitions Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Exhibitions 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B business 18
FEERARAT A BRRAAT EEXHK
FERREBEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Games 96.5% RMB1,000,000
(Note afvi) limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
(MEEatvi) HE - BREAAT BRI
Shanghai Fengyu Shixun The PRC, The PRC Media 54.51% RMB50,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AR50,000,0007
DRERRHRARAT T ARERLAT development
e
T REEEFHBEERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 34.20% RMB14,618,900
(formarly known as/ Bii & limited liability company e consulting AR 14,618,900 7
FRBEST R HE - ARELAA S
BRAR)Note o) (Hizte)
Beijiing Fengyue Culture The PRC, The PRC Media 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AR#10,000,0007
IREEUEREARAT T ARERAT development
R
Tianjin Fengying Hongda Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* limited liability company Izl promotion ARH2,000,0007C
REBRREUERERLE HE - ARELRA TR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

19 WEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BRARFEET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
MY IR AEEREN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EENHY TEER RAREAIMW EfER
Tianjin Fengman Culture Media The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company el promotion AK#10,000,0007C
REBEBEERAR HE - BRETAR YR
Beijing Fengge Advertising The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e EERE AK%10,000,0007C
tREREEERAT HE - BREEAR
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HKD1
Investment Limited limited liability company B holding BT
BEX( EXERAT] &t BREERA RERR
IREEEEREARAT The PRC, The PRC Technology 5451% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company e development AR%5,000,0007T
HE - ARELAA RhnEE
IRBEHTREUERAR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 45.54% RMB8,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK#8,000,0007C
hE - AREERR WiHkE
BEAECAE GER) BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 82.35% RMB2,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AR2,000,0007C
hE - AREEAT YR
Lilita Financial Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 100% USD1
limited liability company i holding 157
LBRNES ER REER
EfAR
PHOENIX SATELLITE Hong Kong, The PRC Sofeware 100% HKD1
TELEVISION APP LIMITED limited liability company e application 18
BEEREAEAARAT &5 BREMAF development
T ERRE
Tianjin Fengxiaoman Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Media Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e promotion AK#10,000,0007C
REE/NELEEBRAR HE - BRELAR YR

* For identification purpose only

* o EHEE
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(a)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) R2018%F 12 A31 B &y = B
December 2018: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activities by the Group registered capital
AL bR REEBEN  BRORERRE/
£ EERRER EENHY TEER  RABEASN EfER
BEZH () GBERRERRAAE  The PRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREAAA SR
Fengyu Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Investment 54.51% USD0.01
limited liability company Islands holding ESH
FEHS HEHS RERR
BREFLF
BRgE (K2) BRAR The PRC, The PRC Data 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e technology AK10,000,0007C
HE - ARELAA BB
REBRBEERAT The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK10,000,000 7T
HE - ARELAA RTHRE
Fengyu (Hong Kong) Information Hong Kong, The PRC Information 54.51% HKD1
Technology Company Limited limited liability company i Technology 1B
Bk (B%) EHIERAR &5 BREMLAF development
BRI
Phoenix Overseas Investment Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HKD1
Advisory Limited (formerly known limited liability company B holding 18
as Phoenix Media Investment A BRELAR REER
(Holdings) Limited)
BEBMY BRI ERAT
(FIBERERRE (BR)
BRAF)
BE#T L (RY) BRAT The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE promotion ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREALA XiHEE
AR (K2) BRAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 54,51% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE development ARH1,000,0007C
HE - AREALA SR
Hangzhou Qike Technology The PRC, The PRC Management 54.51% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE consulting ARH10,000,0007
MNFERHERAE HE - AREAAA ERERS
# For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

Notes:

Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is
directly held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company through Phoenix
Satellite Television (B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing
Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co. Ltd., Yifeng Lianhe
(Beijing) Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing Chenhuan Technology
Co. Ltd., Beijing Youjiuzhou.Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing
Huanyou Tianxia Technology Co. Ltd. and BlE#TEEA (b
R)HBEREAMR AR and their respective subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “VIE entities”). However,
through entering into various contractual arrangements
with the registered equity holders of VIE entities, the
Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with these VIE entities and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over them and is considered
to control them. Consequently, the Company regards VIE
entities as indirect subsidiaries under HKFRS. The Group
has included the financial position and results of these VIE
entities in the consolidated financial statements from date
of acquisition of control. The management of the Group is
of the opinion that these contractual arrangements are in
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are
legally binding and enforceable.

Phoenix Hong Kong Television Limited became dormant
since 12 October 2017.

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2018F 12 A3 B EEM

B

BB - ()

BiazE

FEFHRERERQR BA
RAVEEFA  MAAEM
MEARRBAREEBE
BRI EBEAR DR B
5o

AN B AL R & UM A
HEITERAR - HEBA
(At3) MEBEREEAF
IEREEREERAR -4t
RENMFMERLRF - 4b
REBERTHEARARR
RE#HBA (L3 HEH
BRERDFIARE BHE
RE (BRI AENGRE
B WEMBEAEZE- A
- RBEA NS E N
BRBGERBATLZNA
D AREH2ENLE
BEZ-y paul JukEa
BRNAREEBHUEER
RRNTEZZLH &
ERENNETENGSE
B it ARRIREEE
S 765 S o5 R AR ot 5 ] B R
SERAREMBAR - A
SERERSESE L BT
e M IBRRE AL SR
BN E B MAN R
B AEEZERERE
WEHEaHZHFEEEHE
ERFBERAREBERD
R B AR BIERTT

BEZBERERAARN

201710 A12B K B E
/NI
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(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

iv. JERBEBERITAERZAA], in which the Group previously
held 38.47% equity interest was dissolved on 1 June 2018.

V. FEABXXLEHABR AR, in which the Group
previously held 55% equity interest was disposed on
14 March 2018.

Vi. During 2018, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix
Entertainment and Game Company Limited and its
respective subsidiaries was decreased from 100% to
96.5% as a result of capital contribution RMB20,000,000
from independent third parties.

The Company has undertaken to provide the necessary
financial resources to support the future operations of the
subsidiaries within the Group. The Directors are of the
opinion that the underlying value of the subsidiaries was
not less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries as at
31 December 2018.

The Group has assessed the existence of control over
these subsidiaries where it does not have more than 50%
of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and
operating policies of these subsidiaries by virtue of de-
facto control.

Cash and short-term deposits of HK$2,083,380,000
(2017: HK$1,983,323,000) held in the PRC are subject to
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital
from the country, other than through normal dividends.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

R 2018412 A31 B #y = 2
BRARFBOT : (8)

faE - (%)

v. IREREREBRAF
(REEBTRHAE3847%
f% #) B #R2018F6 818
FREN ©

V. HERBREEEERAR
(REERBAFEESS% R
#) B R2018FE3 /8148 H
£ o

vi.  RR2018%F ARBUE=H
H& AR ¥ 20,000,000 -
ANERBIBIR LB A R
UNGIDNENi NG ol N
ﬁT/iE‘ﬂ 100% 7)—@2?:96.5% °

RRREHRBVETHER
A HAREE RN ERFRR
REB-EERE WERA
RFERBEEETENRINE R RR
20184 12 A 31 HAERMEE -

AL 2t EL I B B 50 % JA
EREREDEREED G
BREZEMBRRMBRE
BRRZZEMBAREZ
BIF s -

AR Bl A 2 2,083,380,000 7%
7T (2017 4F : 1,983,323,000 %
L) Be REHHTRBETIH
T3 SN B G o it it 5 Hh
[ & I A5 I BR B (Y B N EE &
- HEFEBIREERR ST
HBRON 0
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(e)

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2018 are HK$2,257,223,000 (2017: HK$1,937,120,000),
of which HK$315,226,000 (2017: HK$342,057,000) is
attributed to PMM Beijing and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “PMM Group”); HK$1,762,870,000 (2017:
HK$1,424,331,000) is attributed to Phoenix New Media
Limited (“PNM") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as "PNM Group”); and HK$165,262,000 (2017:
HK$173,861,000) is attributed to Phoenix Oriental (Beijing)
Properties Company Limited (“Phoenix Oriental”). The
non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries in
which the Group holds less than 100% are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for PMM Group, PNM Group and Phoenix Oriental that
have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group. See Note 39 for transactions with non-controlling
interests.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e)

BEE IR ED

R2018F 12 A31 H Z e %
E 25 48 58 52,257223,00058
7T (20174 : 1,937120,000 %
JT) ¢+ & B #9315,226,000 7%
JC

7.

1

>+

(2017 4F : 342,057,000
gt) HERIL B EET RE
ME AR (G [t =B R AT
&= E]):1,762,870,00078 T
(2017 % : 1,424,331,000 %
L) BEREEMEEERA
A ([BEFEE]) RENEA
A (T [BEMEEEE])
165,262,000 7% JT (2017 4F -
173,861,0007% t) 5% & 7 Bl
BERA (AR BEEBRAF
(TBRRRA]) - BAKEEFH
D 100% 4 25 9 E D BT B A
RIE AT E ST IEEE -

TXEINHEEHAEERER
Z FEERRHE a B0 A B VBB T
£ REFEREEREE
RITMWMIEEREE - BIEE
Ptz X5 FLHMEES9
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests (e) BEIEEMER (8)
(Continued)
Summarised balance sheet EEABRUE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZEESTER BEHEEEE BEZRS
2018 2017 2018 2007 2018 2017
18 W% A18E N17E A18E W75
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
I r I i I o
Current assets TBEE 601,951 619,416 4,489,125 2,614,910 107151 46,340
Current liabilties TBRE 265,087) (275,468 (1,226,901) (1,282,659) (1,137072) (1,016,321)
Net current TEEE/
assets/lliabiltes) (BE) 58 336,864 33948 3,262,824 1,332,251 (1,029,921 (969,981)
Noncurrentassets  FRBEE 254,131 280,015 456,923 1,634,404 1,989,475 2,104,420
Non-current liabiliies ~ JERBIEE - - (159,129) (1,546) (408,679) (554,902)
Net non-current FTHEESE
assets 254,131 280,015 297794 1,632,858 1,580,796 1,549,518
Net assets EFE 590,995 623,963 3560,618 2,965,109 550,875 579,537
Non-controliing I RBEHTER/
interests within BEiREEE/
PMM Group/ BEFARNFE
PNM Group/ bl
Phoenix Oriental - 21.01) (79,749) 7436 - -
Net assets tFERSTEE/
attributable to BEREE/
owners of EEEN
PMM Group/ ElEESE
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 590,995 602,952 3,480,869 2972545 550,875 579,537
Non-contralling SRR
inferests 315,226 342,057 1,762,870 1,424,331 165,262 173861
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLATE (&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests e) EBIIERER (B)
(Continued)

Summarised income statement and statement of KERREZHEKBREE
comprehensive income
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IRBESTER BEFEERE BERS
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
20185 WI7E 20185 017% 2018 01745
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
r S r L r L
Revenue WA 826,972 117472 1,706,101 1,739,253 108,345 36,484
Profitfloss) before ~ ERFTETAD
income tax a7/ (B8) 141,991 119,453 732,639 461,03 35,652 (5,933
Income tax expense  FIETER (34,174) (36,248 (172,361) (16,667) (2,944) 10,535)
Profitfloss) after REERE
income tax &t/ (58) 107817 82,705 560,278 444,356 32,708 (16,468)
Other comprehensive £ 2ENE
income - - - 6,239 - -
Profitfloss) and total £/ (B8) R
comprehensive FENGEE
income for the year 107817 82,705 560,278 450,59 32,708 (16,468)
Total comprehensive L REBETED/
income for theyear ~ EESTEEEE/
attributable to BEZARM
non-controlling FiER
interests within EIEFE2ENE
PMM Group/ 2%
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 5,686 2,088 2817 3,502 - -
Total comprehensive ~ J REBHTEE/
income for theyear  BEHBET/
attrbutable to owners  EEEHEAE A
of PMM Group/ EEEE2ENE
PNM Group/ @z
Phoenix Oriental 113,503 84,793 563,095 454,097 32,708 (16,468)
Total comprehensive  AEZFEERIERA
income allocatedto 2 ENRER
non-controling
interests 52,960 43,226 252,319 197716 9,812 (4,940)
Dividends paid to BR#EERERD
non-controling &
interests 52,044 18,931 - - - -
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(e) Material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

Y

() ERIFEMMED (F)

Summarised cash flows HEeEREHPE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZBESHEE BENRREE BERA
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
018% WI7E 018% WITE 20185 17%
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
n v n n fr e
Cash flows from F-E 9 ]
operating activities ~ B&7%E
Cash generated from/ ~ FEEHHE/
used in) operations (FTE) Be 205,086 86,768 (6,666) 249,054 61,957 11,662
Income tax paid ERFER (41,921) (27701) (14,094) (24,264) - -
Netcashgenerated ~ BEEXEEHE/
from/lused in] (M) B2 58
operating activities 163,165 59,067 (20,760) 224,790 61,957 11,652
Net cash generated from/ REEHE,/
(used in) investing (M) B2 58
activities 77953 (132,059) (1,137669) (11.387) (1,679) (7567)
Netcash used i/ BEEEE) (A /
generated from R 8
financing activities (95,557) (12,143 (89,804) (19,255) - (17864)
Net increase/(decrease) R& R RS SEER
in cash and cash g/ (59)
equivalents #E 145,561 (85,135) (1,248,233) 194,148 60,278 (13,779)
Cash and cash R RRe%E
equivalents at R
beginning of year 93,969 172,563 1,507,452 1,252,688 25,214 41,735
Net exchange REREESERR
{losses)/gains MES (E8)/
on cash and Va5
cash equivalents (11,563) 6,541 (62,763) 60,616 (2,554) (2,742)
Cash and cash FRReNRE
equivalents at SEE
end of year 221967 93,969 196,456 1,507452 82,938 25,214

The information above is the amount before intercompany

eliminations.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Credit quality of financial assets 20

The credit quality of financial assets can be assessed by
reference to external credit ratings or historical information
about counterparty default rates.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

MREEZFEER

MBEENEEERI2EAHRS
HFRINBEETRIENBERNE
2B T AR

Accounts receivable JFEUW IR K
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T T

Counterparties without WEINBEERNZZHEF
external credit rating

Group 1 #8711 72,898 61,860
Group 2 #8712 983,286 990,650
1,056,184 1,052,510

Other receivables

HoAth & W SRR

2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Counterparties without WEINBEERNZSHEF

external credit rating

Group 1 48501 4,778 10,166
Group 2 48512 624,401 605,874
629,179 616,040
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20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEEZE (&)

Amounts due from related companies JEW B fiE R R FR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Counterparties without WEINBEERNZZHEF
external credit rating
Group 2 48512 90,834 333,610
Group 1 — new customers/related parties (less than 6 months). AR — B BREEAL (DR
ANEA) -
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties (more than 6 #7R12 —BEVEEONBRERRS,
months) with no defaults in the past. EREATLT (ZRANEA) -
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEIER
Ratings by rating agencies of banks at which cash and deposits R EE AR T HMRITH
are held AR
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
AA - AA- 101,079 298,247
A+ A+ 315,911 4,530
A A 41,036 29,738
A- A- 478,316 1,023,954
BBB+ BBB+ 188,266 805,364
BBB BBB 1,032 215
BBB- BBB- 6,592 20,992
Others (Note a) Hit (fifzta) 113,948 35,360
1,246,180 2,218,400
Note a: Others represented cash held at banks without credit rating. Mizta: HMIEHAKREEATRANRT
These banks are reputable banks with no defaults in the past. FrARe  ZERITESE

RAF - BEAEIERFOA -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Credit quality of financial assets (Continued)

Restricted cash

20

MBREEZFEER (&)

ZRHIRE

2018 2017
2018 % 2017
$'000 $000
F FT
A+ A+ - 351
A A 226 236
226 587
Available-for-sale financial assets AL EN KR EE
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $000
F FT
Others (Note b) Hth (FisEb) - 725,395

Note b: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities
of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

MiED

BHRARBAERE BRI

ZRAARRIER REAES
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20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEEZE (&)

Bank deposits RITIFEA

2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$000 $000
Fr T
A A 11,321 -
A A 243,395 2,356
BBB+ BBB+ 128,998 422,962
BBB- BBB- 35,591 45,652
419,305 470,970

Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITER
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$000 $'000
Fr I
AA- AA- 434,909 781,666
BBB+ BBB+ 299,836 -
734,745 781,666
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n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 MKEEZEFEEE (&)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or AT ESEBERCROI
loss HERE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
AA- AA- 19,782 24,406
BBB+ BBB+ 1,030,227 -
Other (Note c) EAth (F5Ec) 2,254,494 -
3,304,503 24,406
Note c: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities itc: BHRERBENEETRNEE

of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been
renegotiated during the year (2017: Nil).

Accounts receivable, net

ZRAARRIER REAES

FTEZ2ERTHNMEEER TR E
FUEFER (2017 F « &) »

21 EWERFERE

2018 2017

20185 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr I

Accounts receivable FEUER R 1,056,184 1,052,510
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (137,062) (112,270)
919,122 940,240

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate RN RS RER R A HE A N F(EME

their fair values.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC
to promote the sales of the Group’s advertising airtime and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group. The Group generally requires
its advertising customers to pay in advance. Customers of other
business segments are given credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

4+

= oo

REBEEFHASET—LESNIE -
FEUBAEERPEIEANEENER
MESREHEEREEEE - WIRE
BERA - AEE—RERKEERS
TESESNIE - EMEBSENES
X T30E180 BMEEH] -
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21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the accounts

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

21 BUWERFFE ()

MN2018F 12 A31 0 - BWEFER

receivable from customers was as follows: FERIR DT T -

2018 2017

2018 & 2017 &

$'000 $'000

Fr T

0-30 days 0% 30H 277,630 316,041
31-60 days 31260H 208,012 199,573
61-90 days 61290 H 156,020 131,337
91-120 days 912 120H 116,490 85,604
Over 120 days 120 HEA £ 298,032 319,955
1,056,184 1,052,510
Less: Provision for impairment B RER (137,062) (112,270)
919,122 940,240

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivable are

AEEEYSRANREER IS

denominated in the following currencies: REBAL
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
T T
RMB AR 1,040,513 1,031,560
US$ ET 12,610 14,469
UK pound g 1,666 4,940
Other currencies HEihEE 1,395 1,541
1,056,184 1,052,510
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 21 BRERFEE (8)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of NEEBEREFRERENE 0N
accounts receivable are as follows: T
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
At 1 January ®1A1H 112,270 135,921
Provision for impairment IERE 53,692 24,345
Receivables written off during F R SE T AT Uk (B A R LR R
the year as uncollectible (11,608) (19,486)
Reversal of provision for RE R E R D
impairment (11,470) (33,567)
Currency translation differences E¥HREZ% (5,822) 5,057
At 31 December ®12A31H 137,062 112,270
The creation and release of provision for impaired accounts B R FE W R R AT IR B i M g [l
receivables of approximately HK$42,222,000 (2017: B % #942,222,00058 JT (2017 4F :
HK$9,222,000) have been included in “Selling, general 9,222,000/ ) * EFt Ak A W
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income KPTHEE —BERITHER] B
statement (Note 7). The Group has written off approximately T (7)) - REBEREAFRER
HK$11,608,000 (2017: HK$19,486,000) of accounts receivable FEIR T E 1 A FE KRR ORI (B B
against the provision for impairment of accounts receivable 4 85 4911,608,000 7 7T (2017 4F -
made in prior years during the year because there is no 19,486,000/ 7T) WU AR © REA
expectation of recovering additional cash. RIEBTEWEIFEINEE o
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts HRAEEHERERP  WUEE
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers. FRRBEER N EE SRR
. . Th1E . 45
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 FEFE - ZERHMEK

IR

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fi

Prepayment and deposits FENRERIES 308,772 250,864
Other receivables H bl RIE 629,179 616,040
937,951 866,904

Less: Non-current portion R FEENERER (D (79,299) (52,380)
Current portion BIEAER (D 858,652 814,524
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

Included in other receivables is an amount of approximately
RMB331,843,000 (HK$374,690,000) (2017: RMB366,824,000
(HK$432,203,000)) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue
collected, net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of
the Group.

Pursuant to a service agreement signed between Shenzhou
and the Group dated 5 June 2015, Shenzhou agreed to deposit
the advertising revenue it had collected prior to the execution
of that agreement and to be collected in the future in one or
more than one specific trust bank accounts in the PRC, which
together with any interest generated from such bank account(s)
(based on prevailing commercial interest rates) would be held
in trust on behalf of the Group and handled according to the
Group’s instructions. No additional interest will be charged by
the Group on the balance.

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not
laid out specific detailed implementation rules applicable to
trust arrangements such as that of the Group with Shenzhou.
Therefore the extent of the enforceability of the arrangement
is still unclear. Although the management recognises that the
present arrangement is the only legally viable arrangement, the
management will continue to monitor and explore alternatives
to improve the situation.

The management of the Group is of the opinion that the amount
owing from Shenzhou of approximately RMB331,843,000
(HK$374,690,000) as at 31 December 2018 (2017: approximately
RMB366,324,000 (HK$432,203,000)) is fully recoverable and
no provision is required. The balance is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

22 FENRE  RERHEBER

I (&)

HmEkRERE SR KFTH
BEEREHMMNAORBEBOHOARE
331,843,0007T (374,690,000 7T)
(2017 F: AR¥ 366,824,000 7T
(432,203,000/87T)) ° LRI AN
REAEBWREDMHES WA (BB
i) o

RIEA N AR EE R 2015666 A5 H
FIORBHE  BNEEHERE
=1 1p % AT 2 B R R 2R A5 AR ER Y B
IR AT A B —{E sk — {8 2 B e
RITERERP AN ERAZSRT
ERPEAZEMFE (RE AT EF
L E) BRENEBUUETERE
£ UIREASEEZIEREE - 5%
BT g AR REUT A EEINFE

FELIFEMANEFATEE HER
IR S B B3 M ) (S FE R BEEY A
BIEME - At REEBELRHE
PAIEOERITREE o 8N E IR E
FRRIIRIT R BT AR LM —RITTE %
B EEEESEEER R EM
AITHREA R Z B RIEN

AEBEEERA  MR2018F12
A3TEBENEXRNREBEBLHARE
331,843,000 7T (374,690,000 JT)
(20174 = #) A R 366,824,000
7T (432,203,000 7T)) 5 7] & 2R Uk
B - B BAEELRE o BHRAEE
- 2B RAREREE -

BNRUR - R2E REAM BT IRR R
EEEENTEES
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables are

ANRIER - ZEREMER

I (&)

AR EE A B F R BREETIAT

denominated in the following currencies: HIEHEESI(E -
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
RMB AR 557,317 591,642
Us$ ET 750 2,439
HK$ BT 67,369 18,636
UK pound e 3,659 3,318
Other currencies HEihEk 84 5
629,179 616,040

As at 31 December 2018, other receivables of HK$11,512,000
(2017: HK$12,014,000) were impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the prepayment, deposits and other
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

MR2018FE12A31H EWEZHE
1, JE Y 3018 & 11,512,000 7T (2017
£ :12,014,000787T) °

REEAPMEYNSSERERRE
ERFTATEN TR - e REAMER
RIBR)PREE » A5 B \F5H T
HRRIERER -

- i

Inventories 23 FE&
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Decoder devices and RIS RS R E =R

satellite receivers 586 1,888
Merchandised goods SHEM M 9,528 5,605
10,114 7493

The cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$11,353,000
(2017: HK$3,020,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
charged to the consolidated income statement.

HE208F12A3MHILEFE &
11,353,000;8 7T (20174 : 3,020,000
BIL) HEEGFEKRADS RS IRE
TR o
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24 Amounts due from related companies

332

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

24 FEWERERTFIE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Amounts due from related JEWE B A RIFRIA
companies
— Joint ventures (Note a) -G (M@) 14,892 20,704
— An associate - —fAEE R A = 10,782
— Other related companies - HibB@ERA 75,942 302,124
90,834 333,610
(a)  Amounts due from joint ventures (@) mEwagERE
2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Amounts due from joint JEU A B b SR
ventures 57,764 60,443
Less: Provision for B RERE
impairment (42,872) (39,739)
Amounts due from joint
ventures, net WA &b IR FE 14,892 20,704

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded a provision for impairment of approximately
HK$3,133,000 (2017: HK$17328,000), included in “Other
gains, net” after taking into account the present value of
the estimated cash flows from the joint venture.

REZE2018F 12 A31H IEF
B ZRIEGEFRBEEDRE
ZHEREMNAERE  A&EEH
EEHR B R 493,133,000 %
7t (2017 £F = 17328,0007% JT)
(FTATEAWEFEE]) ©
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24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

(b) At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the amounts
due from related companies, were as follows:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

24 EWHEBRERXRINE (&)

(b) Mm2018F 128318 EK
BRE QR FIBRERER DT I0

T
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Amounts due from related  FEUW A RIE A & FIE
companies
0 -90 days 0&90H 42,590 52,850
91 - 120 days 91&120H 7,098 11,985
Over 120 days 1203 E 41,146 268,775
90,834 333,610

As at 31 December 2018, amounts due from related
companies of HK$47146,000 (2017: HK$60,462,000) were
past due but not impaired.

®2018F 12 A31H

47,146,000/8 7L (2017 4 :
60,462,000 7C) Z WA
HBRAFIBADEESER TR

B -

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt

Amounts due from related BB BE A 7 FIE

companies

Up to 90 days &% 90H 10,911 18,382
91 - 180 days 91 %180 H 14,774 19,048
Over 180 days 180 B E 21,461 23,032
47146 60,462
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24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

25

334

(c)

(d)

The amount due from related companies are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. In 2017,
there was an amount of HK$214,215,000 due from
Particle (see Note 42) which is unsecured, interest
bearing at a range of 4.35% to 9% per annum and
repayable within one year and it was settled in 2018.
Other receivables from related parties are repayable in
accordance with credit terms.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from related
companies approximate their fair values as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The maximum exposure of amounts due from related
companies to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s amounts due from
related companies are denominated in RMB.

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value
through profit or loss

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

24 EWEBEEQATRE (E)

(c)

(d)

EWEREARIZEAER
B 2ERBREKEE-
B 2017 F - EWParticle
214,215,000 7T 3% 1 ( & B
F142) BEEMT - ®mNTF4.35
EZEIEZFFEFTERAR
—FREE LD HR2018F &
e Hibrl BB E A LR
WHRTEBIR(EEHEE

HRMBRZTELIER &
YA B 5E A SRR O AR [ £
HAFERE -

RBEBH BRARERA
R AT E R NS B R B D
biifcEE -

AEBERKEBERBFELZ
FREEAARKSIE -

25 BAVEZEBIRSCRAM
BEE (BfF)

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr FiT
Non-current assets FEREEE
Option for long term RHKREREERE
investment (Note 37) (M5E37) 18,909 -
Current assets REBEE
Trading equity securities BERAES 19,782 24,406
Convertible redeemable AJHRAR A B BB LA
preferred shares (Note 42) (MI3x42) 2,235,585 -
Structured deposits EEETR 1,030,227 -
3,285,594 24,406
Current liability REBEE
Interest rate swap FIRBEE LY
contract (Note 37) (FF5E37) (855) -
Non-current liability EREBEE
Cross-currency interest rate BEEEFNEEAEL
swap contract (Note 37) (Fg5E37) (5,363) -
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value 25 RAFEZEBEBERTIRNE
through profit or loss (Continued) BEE(AF) (&)
Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit and BAFTEERBERTENMEEE
loss is an amount of approximately HK$19,782,000 (2017: B & #919,782,0007% JT (2017 4 :
HK$24,406,000) representing the shares of HSBC. 24,406,000 7T) KEZ D ©
These shares are held for trading. The fair value of these shares ZERODBFHEESR - HERMHZA
is based on the current bid prices in an active market. As at TEEEENERMSANEREA
31 December 2018, the closing price of the shares of HSBC & R20185F 124318 - REB L
listed in Hong Kong was HK$64.8 (2017: HK$80.0). If the price M EERMN 2B mER648E T
of the shares of HSBC increased/decreased by 20% with all (20174 : 80.0/87L) - AL FEE
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would B B EF T 820% - mATA
have been approximately HK$3,956,000 (2017: HK$4,881,000) Hin B E @I - AIFAKREIER
higher/lower. & A IE 0, 493,956,000 78 7T
(2017 % : 4,881,000/ 7T) °
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or BATEBBBRCENYEEED
loss of HK$804,025,000 (2017: HK$5,403,000) are recognised B U 75804,025,000 % 7T (2017
in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated income statement £ : 5,403,0007C) Jhat AdRa e
(Note 6). e [ H e 558 | (HiEEe) »
Available-for-sale financial assets 26 WHEHEMKEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
$'000 $'000
Frx Fit
Balance, beginning of year FHEEH 725,395 617835
Change in accounting policy SEHBEREE) (KT EE 2(0) (i)

(Note 2(b)(iii)) (725,395) -
Additions A= - 7,068
Fair value loss NEEE - (28,635)
Interest income FELUA - 124,529
Currency translation differences & E =% - 4,598
Balance, end of year FIREERR - 725,395
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26

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued) 26 TFI{HHEMKEE (&)
Available-forsale financial assets include the following: AMHHE IS EEBRIEATIAR ¢
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
Unlisted securities: JELEMES -
— Preferred Shares - BER
- debt component - B ERMD - 705,712
- Equity securities - BRAESH - 19,683
- 725,395
(a) The carrying amounts of the Group's available-for- (a) AEEUHFEEVHEEENEK
sale financial assets are denominated in the following HEEN T EBREA
currencies:
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
RMB AR - 9,960
uss EV - 715,435
- 725,395
27 Bank deposits 27 HRITHEXR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Short-term deposits (Note a) RN (W3Ea) 419,305 470,970
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27 Bank deposits (Continued)

28

(a)

(b)

Short-term bank deposits represents bank deposits with
a maturity date exceeding 90 days but not exceeding 1
year from the date of making the deposits. The carrying
amounts of bank deposits are denominated in the
following currencies:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

27 $BATERK (R

@ RHRITEIEEBFAZEAE
FTEHIEEBB0 RBET R —F
HERITIF R » RITFHIREE
AT 3 EHSIME -

2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

HK$ BT 241,039 -
RMB ARE 55,441 350,368
Us$ E 122,825 120,602
419,305 470,970

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded HK$59,549,000 interest income from
bank deposits and pledged bank deposits (2017:
HK$67,983,000).

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents funds pledged to banks to secure
banking guarantee and advance payment.

b)) MEZE2018F12 A318 1t
FE AEBHEBRITER
REEBRITFERZ M BHK
A 59,549,000/87c(2017 4 :
67983,0007&7T) °

28 ZREERE

ERFREAREBERTRITZESIA
TR RIRTTHE R RIS R o

2018 2017

2018 & 2017 4F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

RMB AR 226 236
EURO BT = 351
226 587
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29 Cash and cash equivalents

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

29 RERRTEHEERE

2018 2017

2018 & 2017

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFER® 689,536 952,755

Short-term bank deposits EEIRITER 556,644 1,267273

1,246,180 2,220,028

Maximum exposure to credit risk = AEEEE 1,244,825 2,218,400
Denominated in: LARANEIME

- HK$ -BT 54,825 43,394

-RMB - AR 664,321 1,449,069

-US$ - %7 510,411 716,478

— Other currencies - Hih & 16,623 11,087

1,246,180 2,220,028

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

30 Bank facilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has undrawn banking
facilities of HK$136,677,000 (2017: HK$72,933,000).

338

REFAHSRBRNS  HeRNS
ERE RERTRE REER S
RIREEAE A =8 A AT 2 & B
TR -

30 RITEE
R2018F 12 A31H » AEBA KR

HY $R 17 Rb & 136,677,000 7T (2017
£ :72,933,000/87T) °
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Share capital 31 B&
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BRHEE &8 sy 4= G|
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares BARAEE0.1 T
of $0.1 each 7B 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ETRAR :
At 1 January ®W1A1H 4,993,469,500 499,347 5,000,999,500 500,100
Exercise of share 1T AR
options - - - -
Cancellation of FEEHFTEE AR 1
repurchased shares - - (7530,000) (753)
At 31 December ®12A31H 4,993,469,500 499,347 4,993,469,500 499,347

339



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32 Share-based compensation

340

(a)

Share options of the Company

The Company has several share option schemes
under which it may grant options to employees of the
Group (including executive Directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares of the Company. Options are
granted and exercisable in accordance with the terms set
out in the relevant schemes. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 LRI E
(a) AN FIEEARAE

ARAHRA B E B AR S
REFEATAARNEEDNEE
(BRARRNNITES) BT
AR B AR m) B A Y B RSO -
PR R IR A BT BB D RO IR
R RITE - REEWET
MEEREEMEENELE
(o] sk A5 S RE A -

RITEBRESENESH L E
HEE M FITEERT M

follows: D
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £F
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in HK$ price in HK$
per share Options per share Options
LB TSIE LA TTEIE
NER¥H WERTH
TEE B IR TEE iadibg
‘000 ‘000
T T
At 1 January W1 A1H 1.41 88,554 2.86 99,838
Granted R - - 1.41 89,504
Exercised 21T - - - -
Lapsed and BRI R EEH
cancelled 1.40 (2,370) 2.85 (100,788)
At 31 December 712 H31H 1.41 86,184 1.41 88,554

As at 31 December 2018, all of the 86,184,000 (2017:
88,554,000) outstanding options were exercisable (2017:
250,000). No options were exercised in 2018 (2017: Nil).

M2018F 12 A31H - ®H
86,184,000 (2017 % :
88,654,00017) K17 {5 & I &
B 2E0 (2017 4F : 250,000
17) BARHER F17{E - 742018
FREEITEBARE (2017 F -
) o
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Share-based compensation (Continued) 32 DR IREHEE (&)
(a) Share options of the Company (Continued) (a) ANAFIEEME (8)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the RELRITEBREN S EAHE
following expiry dates and exercise prices: RATEELNT -

Share options

Exercise price in B

Expiry date HKS$ per share 2018 2017
FH#H LT HENSRTEE 20185 2017 F
‘000 ‘000
4 F5
21 July 2019 201947 A21 A 117 200 250
20 March 2027 202793 A20H 1.41 85,984 88,304
86,184 88,554

(b) Share options of PNM (b) [BLEFTEEE MR At
PNM has two share option schemes under which it may Bl 2\ 1 88 55 A W B B AR T
grant options to the executives, employees, directors, gl B IRE 8] A BB BT 4
consultants, advisers, agents, business partners, joint B, SEBERRMITEA
venture partners, service providers and contractors BE-EE &% EBEf- &
of PNM and/or its affiliates. Options are granted and A RE - EBEMN - 28R
exercisable in accordance with terms set out in the - REHEDRABEET
relevant share option schemes. PNM has no legal or B i o BB AR ME P] H2 AE A BB
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options AR HE R B3 51 B9 IR R AT
in cash. i o Bl BT B 3 A A E

FIEFMEEAR B O A
BRERHE -

341



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

342

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, PNM
implemented an option exchange program from 21
October 2016 to 1 November 2016, whereby PNM's
directors, employees and consultants exchanged options
to purchase 21,011,951 Class A ordinary shares of PNM
granted under PNM’'s 2008 Share Option Plan with
various exercise prices greater than US$0.4823 per
share (or US$3.8587 per ADS) for new options granted
by PNM under the same plan with a new exercise price
of US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule
that generally adds 12 months to each original vesting
date, and the new options would vest no sooner than
1 May 2017. PNM accounted for the option exchange
program as option modification and recognised the total
incremental share-based compensation of US$1,700,000
(approximately HK$13,000,000), of which US$200,000
(approximately HK1,500,000) (2017: US$900,000
(approximately HK$7000,000)) was recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2018.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

(b)

Rl 2\ 4% B2 RO B A
(#&)

REZE20165F12A318 I F
£ BEFEER 2016910 A
21HZ2016 F 11 A1 BEAE
TR ETE - BB B
EFEENES  EEREH
AR 45 B /21 37 54 B8 2008 G FE iR
RET B % AT B8 A 21,011,951
BRAKE X @ AR A BB AR R (5T
ETRTEEMHASRER
0.4823% 7T (KB REBTEFT
f& 1 3.85873% L)) « FIAZ#
RIE R — I SVER 2 AR
T (CGhiT{EEAEAR04823%
TG BRER —REER
FIEEBSEME12@EA)
i %7 B8 IR G N B R 2017 F
5A1HEB - BEFHEE
BREEET 2 F B EARER
BETEI AR I MR 4R 8 2 LAAR
19 37 1+t B9 % 181,700,000 € 7T
( 4913,000,0007% 7T) ' &
#9200,000 3 7t (491,500,000
7 7t) (2017 4F : 900,000 7T
(#77,000,00087T)) EREZE
2018 12 A31 HILFEMHER -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIEER - @BUBTTIIE)
32 Share-based compensation (Continued) 32 IR@GMIRHEE (&)
(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (b) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1) B Az
(&)
Movement in the number of share options outstanding MAITEERESEEEHLE
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as BRANETHTEENAT -
follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in US$ price in US$
per share Options per share Options
NERTHIE AZETTYIME
WERFY HER
1TfEE B 1T(0(8 R
‘000 ‘000
T3 T1n
At 1 January ®m1A1H 0.42064 39,288 0.42754 44,445
Granted BT 0.55879 3,720 0.42394 7.255
Lapsed BEX 0.47224 (3,934) 0.50249 (7.320)
Exercised B171E 0.12247 (4,823) 0.36793 (5,092)
At 31 December %12 A31 H 0.47240 34,251 0.42064 39,288
As at 31 December 2018, out of the 34,251,000 (2017: ®2018%F 1284318
39,288,000) outstanding options, 22,372,000 (2017: 34,251,000 (20174 :
20,644,000) were exercisable. Options exercised in 2018 39,288,0001n) M AT
resulted in 4,823,000 (2017: 5,092,000) shares being B - 22,372,00017 (2017
issued at an average exercise price of US$0.12247 (2017: #:20,644,0001%) A F17T
US$0.36793). The related weighted average share price fE o R2018FTEBERET
at the time of exercise was US$0.59 (2017: US$0.77) per Bz EA%0.12247%% 7L (2017
share. #:0.36793F L) ZFHITE

B%%17 4,823,000/% (20174 :
5,092,0000%) R&fn o EAT{E
B2 AR RERTR
0.593 7T (20174 0.7737L) °
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32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (b) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1) B Az
(&)
Management estimates the fair values of options at EIRE G ERENE L B
the grant dates. The fair values of the options were ZRAY{E - BREZ ATER
determined using the Black-Scholes model. The key Blmhn — iFRa B E
assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of the E o HAREERENSELY
options granted on respective dates are set out in the AH AFEAEFRRAZE
below table. ERBHIINTE o
Closing share Annual Expected
Fair value of price at Exercise price risk-free life of Expected
Date of grant share options grant date per share interest options volatility
BhREN RiLBHH @R Rt
RiLBH NTE RARTHE BRTEE Ffz EES RHRE
(USS) (USS) (USS) rate (%) (years) %)
(%) (%1) (%) (%) (5) (%]
15 March 2013 2013F3A15H 0.298% 05125 044593 154 6.16 58.10
23 May 2013 2013F5823H 0.37349 061125 0.46565 160 6.16 5760
1 October 2013 WI3F10A18 09615 140625 0.7867 187 6.16 58.20
8 October 2013 13F10A8H 1.0998 15775 0.8249 188 6.16 58.20
10 December 2013 13F128108 06609 11575 1.08443 171 6.16 5840
14 March 2014 WI4FIA14A 08336 1405 131 188 6.16 62.20
4 June 2014 WILF6ALE 06626 123 12749 161 6.16 56.98
11 July 2014 WILETRNA 06608 1236 13035 160 6.16 56.38
11 October 2014 WILE0RH 06608 1.093 0.8249 160 581 56.13
16 July 2015 15F7816H 04658 08826 0.9155 198 6.16 54.32
17 October 2016 16107178 02342 045125 04734 155 6.16 56.30
21 October 2016 WIBFI0A21E  0.1732-0.193 04525 04823 130 391-5.39 50.67-55.65
14 September 2017 W7FIA14E 04648 0.7025 04149 188 6.16 56.99
24 November 2017 WITEN AU 06294 09338 05344 192 6.16 5706
3 January 2018 2018% 1830 05032 083375 06326 186 591 5700
3 January 2018 2018% 1830 04798-0.5289 08338 04823 1.02-150 344-5.04 5700
2 April 2018 184820 0.2419 052375 0.7513 185 6.16 5710
12 July 2018 18F7A 128 0.3063 057625 0.6306 2089082 6.16 5701533
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32 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

following expiry dates and exercise prices:

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

32 DRI REME (&)

Bl 2L 4% 22 &Y P B

(#8)

RERRITEBRZENTHA

RATHEET

Share options

Exercise price in B RE

Expiry date US$ per share 2018 2017
EIHH UETIMENBRITEE 20185 2017 4
‘000 ‘000

T3 T4

25 May 2018 201845 A 25H 0.03215 - 3,870
14 March 2023 20233 A 14H 0.445925 3,861 4,162
22 May 2023 20235 H22H 0.46565 2,900 2,900
30 September 2023 202399 HA30H 0.7867 6 6
7 October 2023 2023 10A87H 0.4823 2,125 2,125
9 December 2023 202312 A9H 0.4823 1,188 1,188
3 June 2024 20246 A3H 0.4823 37 163
4 June 2024 20246 H4H 0.4823 50 50
10 July 2024 20247 H10H 0.4823 6,829 7282
10 October 2024 2024410 A10H 0.4823 162 162
15 July 2025 20257 A 15H 0.4823 2,438 2,938
16 October 2026 202610 A 16 H 0.4733875 5,281 7289
13 September 2027 20279 A 13H 0.4149 5,367 6,617
23 November 2027 2027 11 A23H 0.5344 488 536
2 January 2028 2028 1H2H 0.4823 2,134 -
2 January 2028 2028 1H2H 0.6326 1,180 -
1 April 2028 20284 H1H 0.7513 190 -
11 July 2028 2028 7H 11 H 0.6306 15 -
34,251 39,288
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33 Accounts payable, other payables and

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

33 ENIRM - HMBEARER

accruals PESTRIE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Fi
Accounts payable JERTERR 391,350 380,722
Other payables and accruals Eo o FE A 5UE K FERTRUR 932,775 955,898
1,324,125 1,336,620
Less: Non-financial liabilities B I aE (13,400) (13,996)
1,310,725 1,322,624

At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the accounts

R20184F 12 A31 8 @ TR

payable was as follows: AT
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Fit
0-30 days 02 30H 237,882 240,858
31-60 days 31E£60H 13,986 17,393
61-90 days 61£290H 18,973 10,275
91-120 days 91 & 120H 11,663 7276
Over 120 days 1203 £ 108,846 104,920
391,350 380,722
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Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals (Continued)

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals are denominated in the following currencies:

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

33 EMIRM - HMBEARER
FEst IR ()

FERTRRIR - EAth FE A5 5RIB M JE A 5R0R
ZIEmERE A ERS -

FERTRRIR - EAth FE A5 5RIB M A 5RIR
MEREEN THIEETIE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
HK$ BIT 221,099 247478
RMB ARHE 1,077,581 1,063,799
Us$ ETT 8,229 6,703
UK pound g 3,233 3,912
Other currencies HEthE 583 732
1,310,725 1,322,624
Borrowings 34 B8
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Secured bank borrowings BEMIEITEE (HTa)
(Note a) 825,188 925,722
Loans from non-controlling MIB A R ZEFERR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RHER (MzEb)
(Note b) 376,507 308,946
1,201,695 1,234,668
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34 Borrowings (Continued) 34 B8 (&)
(a) Secured bank borrowings (a) BEMFITEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Non-current ERED
Long-term secured REAEPRITEE
bank borrowings 92,221 329,215
Current B
Current portion of long-term REAEBRTEEZ
secured bank borrowings mENELD 732,967 596,507
Total secured bank borrowings  HiEHRTIEEHALE 825,188 925,722
2018 2017
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
The secured bank borrowings BEMIRITEERZUT
are repayable as follows: RFEER :
—Within one year -—FR 732,967 596,507
— More than one year but not - —FRETBIBRE
exceeding two years 62,090 233,015
— More than two years but not - MERETBBASF
exceeding five years 28,222 94,248
- More than five years - BRAF 1,909 1,952
Total secured bank borrowings BEMIBITEERE 825,188 925,722
As at 31 December 2018, bank borrowings of m20184 12 A31H
HK$141,113,000 (2017: HK$188,496,000) are secured $RITIE B141,113,000% 7T
by the land in Chaoyang Park with carrying values of (2017 45 : 188,496,000 7T)
approximately HK$96,000,000 (2017: HK$103,000,000), THAEARG A E A L fEH R
HK$365,000,000 (2017: HK$412,000,000) and EXmHEER W% HE
HK$1,497,000,000 (2017: HK$1,555,000,000) recorded RREBEARREDEERBH
in lease premium for land, property, plant and equipment 85 E 1E 9 75l 49 496,000,000
and investment properties respectively. These bank st (20174 : 103,000,000 %
borrowings are denominated in RMB and bear interest at JT) * 365,000,000/8 7T (2017
an average interest rate of 6.48% (2017: 6.48%) annually. % :412,000,0008 L)%

1,497,000,0007% T (2017 4 :
1,555,000,000/87C) ° &R
TEEUNARENE Wik
F1yE ) R6.48FE (2017 4 ¢
6.48[E) 5T 8B °
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34 Borrowings (Continued)

(a)

Secured bank borrowings (Continued)

A bank borrowing of HK$1,909,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$1,952,000) is secured by a property in the
United States with carrying value of approximately
HK$2,720,000 (as at 31 December 2017: HK$2,751,000)
recorded in property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2018. The bank borrowing is denominated in
US dollar ("US$") and bears interest at an average interest
rate of 3.69% annually (as at 31 December 2017: 3.59%)
annually.

Bank borrowings of HK$682,167,000 (as at 31
December 2017: HK$735,273,000) are secured by bank
deposits of HK$734,745,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$781,666,000) as at 31 December 2018 (Note 36).

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

34

(a)

(b)

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

B8 (&)

BEMRTEE (B)

— % iR 17 & 51,909,000 %
7t (R20174% 12 A31H8 :
1,952,000/ L) T3 A —IHEE
mEEE A HR20185F 12
ANEMWE . BERRE
815 MR EE 4 52,720,000
# T ( R2017412 A31H -
2,751,000 7T) ° 2 £ R17fE
BLAZET ([ZEx])) 5)E @ Wik
FHEFMERIBIE (722017 F
12H31H :3.69E) 58

B1TEE682,167,000%
T(R2017F12A318:
735,273,00087C) T3 AR
2018412 B 31 H IR 1717 3K
734,745,0007% 7T ( 722017 F
12 A31H : 781,666,00087C)
{EEIR (BF5E36) °

P88 2 R FEAE AR AR B2
HER

2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Non-current JERED
Long-term loans from MIE A A2 FEFEARAR 3R
non-controlling shareholders Rz REER
of subsidiaries 235,428 251,252
Current B
Short-term loans from —fEIM B A 5] 2 FEIERR
non-controlling shareholders A SRS
of a subsidiary 141,079 57694
Total loans from non-controlling M8 A2 FEEAR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries Rt BEFesm 376,507 308,946
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34 Borrowings (Continued)

(b) Loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (Continued)

The loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are repayable as follows:

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

34

B8 (&)

(b)

B9 2 A R R R
HER (&)

MR R 2 R AR SRR (it 2
£ AR IA FEE RS

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
—Within one year -—FR 141,079 57694
— More than one year but not - —FRETNBIEM T
exceeding two years 78,889 77163
— More than two years but not - MFRENBBAFT
exceeding five years 133,961 155,239
— More than five years - HARF 22,578 18,850
376,507 308,946

The loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, unsecured and
interest-free (2017: same).
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34 Borrowings (Continued)

(c) The carrying amounts and fair values of the

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

B8 (&)
(c) EERREENRAFE

borrowings are as follows: RN
Group
XEE
Carrying amount Fair value
AYE
2018 2017 2018 2017
20185 20175 2018 20176
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T Fr
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 825,188 925,722 825,188 925,722
Loans from non-controlling (ENGIEIR
shareholders of subsidiaries RERHER 376,507 308,946 350,390 272,17
1,201,695 1,234,668 1,175,578 1,197,893
The fair values of floating rate borrowings approximate FERRMEEN A FERERLR

their carrying amounts. The fair values of fixed rate
borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a
rate based on the borrowing rate of 6.48% (2017: 6.48%)
and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

HEMRE - BEMEEED
NFEERB—EER648F
(2017 : 6.48[E) ZEEFIE
WAMEBBRNESREET -
BRATESHANFE 24
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35 Deferred income tax

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

35 IEFEFTISH

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

:

BEREBERZELEMSHEE

A
pa Ny =}
on the consolidated balance sheet are analysed as follows: MRS HAaEI AT -
2018 2017
2018 & 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Deferred income tax assets: FEIEFTSTHEE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B 12 @ A & U B
recovered after more than 12 months FREFTSHHEE (3,418) (4,697)
— Deferred income tax assets to be — H—rﬁ’\ 12 & A MU el HY
recovered within 12 months FREFTSHHEE (68,914) (72,228)
(72,332) (76,925)
Deferred income tax liabilities: FEFTSHAME -
- Deferred income tax liabilities to be H%ﬁé 12 &A1& 4= 8
recovered after more than 12 months FEASHEE 337,183 185,976
Deferred income tax liabilities, net FEEFTSH B E R 264,851 109,051

The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities, net

are as follows:

BIEFSHBEFREEHMT

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr Fit

At 1 January M1A1H 109,051 98,131
Charged to the consolidated TEfRE Wz R bR

income statement (Note 9) (MF7E9) 151,019 7336

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 43) Ui —fM B A a) (MiEE43) 8,342 -

Currency translation differences ERE R (3,561) 3,684

At 31 December M®12A31H 264,851 109,051
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Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$174,073,000 (2017: HK$171,966,000) in respect of
unrecognised tax losses of HK$1,054,986,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HK$1,042,220,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Approximately
HK$911,151,000 (2017: HK$914,047,000) of the unrecognised
tax losses have no expiry date and the remaining balance will
expire at various dates up to and including 2036.

As at 31 December 2018, deferred income tax liabilities
of HK$25,465,000 (2017: HK$34,109,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of HK$329,096,000
(2017: HK$412,105,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries. Since the
Directors consider the timing for the reversal of the related
temporary differences can be controlled and such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future, no
withholding tax has been provided.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

35 EFEFTISH (M)

HZE2018F 12 A31 HILFERIEL
MBDREEELEREREEZR 1%
E Z M E16.5% (2017 F : 16.5%)
E28ETE -

RIEFMBHEEATEERIAEE
TR - MELARTREE B AR R ERBE T
BN G TS AR - AEEIL &
TR 20184 12 A 31 H Al 458 A LK
5 7R 2R FE R B U A /Y 1,054,986,000
I (20174 :1,042,220,00078
TL) RERBEBERRELERS
i & E 174,073,000/ JT (2017 4 :
171,966,00087T) : AR T
B 18 - 49911,151,0007% JT (2017
1 914,0470007870) WHEEEA -
MEREE AN EL = 2036 F (B IEL )
H % {8 B #AEIEE o

MR2018F 12 A31H @ W £ 78 5t %
=T & B KB A 7 2 329,096,000
7 7T (20174 : 412,105,000 JT)
AR EE AR AT 2 TEF T R = A T
18 fE 5225,465,000/8 JT (2017 4F :
34,109,000 ) 2 IREFTS T &
& EERAM IS EEREEE
ERHBLORME - UERTERIERS
RO EEREER - BRI RE
TR o
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35 Deferred income tax (Continued)

354

The movement in

deferred tax income assets and liabilities

during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

35 IEIEFTEHL (

&)

REANBELEMEREERAER
(FEIR 85 R — Bt 3t [ e 45 82 A1) 40

of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: N
Deferred income tax liabilities BEXEFTERAE
Accelerated tax depreciation Revaluation of assets Total
MERENE EffEE @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2018% 2017F 2018% 0175 2018 0175
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T r r i r T
At 1 January M ATA 440 1,754 185,528 166,826 185,968 168,580
[Credited)fcharged to the ERalER
consolidated income (B%) /M
statement (406) (1,376) 152,257 11,787 151,851 10,411
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HNBAR - - 8,342 - 8,342 -
Currency translation differences S #EEE - 62 (8,978) 6,915 (8,978) 6,977
At 31 December M12A31R 34 440 337149 185,528 337183 185,968
Deferred income tax assets BEEFTE N EE
Tax losses Provisions Total
HEkE B @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2018% 2017 2018% 0175 20185 0175
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T r r i r T
At 1 January M ATA (9,107) (9,107) (67,810) (61,342) (76,917) (70,449)
Credited to the consolidated ~ EFARERES
income statement - - (832) (3,075) (832) 3,075)
Currency translation differences S #E£%E - - 5,417 (3,393) 5,417 3,393)
At 31 December M12A31R (9,107) (9,107) (63,225) (67810) (72,332) (76,917)
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Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2018, two bank deposits of approximately
HK$434,909,000 (as at 31 December 2017: two bank deposits
of approximately HK$385,000,000) bearing fixed interest
rates ranging from 1.8% to 3.59% (as at 31 December 2017:
1.52% to 1.8%) per annum, are pledged to a bank to secure
two bank borrowings of approximately HK$380,000,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$346,500,000) (Note 34(a)). The bank
borrowings bear interests at HIBOR plus 0.45% per annum
(as at 31 December 2017: HIBOR plus 0.45% per annum). The
Group has entered into interest rate swap and cross-currency
interest rate swap contracts with the same bank, with notional
principals of the same amount of the borrowings, to swap its
floating rate obligations under the borrowings for fixed rates
obligation ranging from 1.66% to 3.38% per annum (as at 31
December 2017: 1.4% to 1.66% per annum). The maturity
dates of the borrowings are the same as the interest rate swap
contracts. The Group did not elect to apply hedge accounting
for the interest rate swap contracts. As at 31 December 2018,
the fair values of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts
of HK$5,363,000 and HK$855,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$990,000 and HK$698,000) have been recorded as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (2017: derivative
financial instruments) under current liabilities and non-current
liabilities respectively in the consolidated balance sheet (Notes
25, 37).

As at 31 December 2018, RMB denominated short-term bank
deposits of approximately HK$299,836,000 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$396,666,000) bearing fixed interest rates at 2.10%
per annum (as at 31 December 2017: 2.10% per annum) are
pledged to a bank to secure RMB denominated long term
bank borrowings of approximately HK$302,167,000 (as at
31 December 2017: HK$388,773,000) (Note 34). The bank
borrowings bear interest rates ranging from 2.46% to 3.53%
per annum.

The fair values of pledged bank deposits approximate their
carrying amounts.

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

36 CEFMITERK

R2018F 12 A31H » MERITER
#7434,909,0007% T (A 201712 A
31 H : MZER1T1F349385,000,000
BT Thik[E EF R % 1.8[E £ 3.59
E (R2017412A8318 :1652E &
1.88) 7H8 - WK P —HIRITLAR
S ER 7718 E49380,000,0007% 7T
(72017412 B 31 B : 346,500,000
7&7e) (FisE34(a) - SRITIEE D RIZ
EBRITRZERBEIMFEF K045
(R2017F12 8318 : BHERTH
EIRBIEFR0ABE) 518 - A&
EEF—FHRTREESEIRER
SRR R I X EBREE
W ABEEZZEEBEBERRAT
&N F1.66E =3.38F (72017
F12R31H : F 5 14 £1.66
E)zEBRBE - BEEZI AR
i A QAR o NEBEWEE H
PG AR ERRE PEE-
R2018F 12 A31H » AFE ZFI=
= HA 48 A FE5,363,0008 7T &
855,000/ 7T (20174128318 :
990,0007% 7T % 698,000/ T) & &
AR AEEBBRANRBAGB K
ERBABETHRATEERIBET
RO EE (20174  STERBLT
) 508 (Mf3E25 - 37) °

M2018412 B31H - ARBEHIE
1717 30 # 299,836,000 7T (72017
12 A31H : 396,666,000/ T) JI
HEFEFERNE210E (R20175F12
A318 : £FK2.10E) 518 » WK
T —RRITUESARBRIRTT
f& & #9302,167.0007%8 7T (122017 £
12 A31 8 :388,773,000/87T) (Kt
34) c IRITEERFNEN T 2462
Z363E5E -

EHEMRTERN A HEREREE
EE=I
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37 Derivative financial instruments 37 $THEMKEIA
Asset Liability
BE B2
2018 2017 2018 2017
2018 2017 F 2018 2017 F
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000
Tr Tr Fr r
Conversion options for ARABEELR
convertible redeemable HOSARREE (Fir3E25)
preferred shares (Note 25) - 721,002 - -
Conversion options for AR E R AR E
convertible loans - 19,513 - -
Options for long-term R EmiRiE
investment (Note 25) (P5E25) - 17702 = -
Interest rate swap MERHEH
contracts (Note 25| (Bi3E25) - - - (1,688)
Total it - 758,217 - (1,688)
Less: non-current portion A FEREE R
— Conversion options — ARRATEE
for convertible B ERA
redeemable preferred ik
shares (Note 25) (£ 25) - (721,002) = -
- Interest rate swap — FIREHEY
contract (Note 25) (F13¥25) - - - 698
- Options for long term - REREN
investment (Note 25) nAkeE (7 25) - (17702) - -
Current portion RENE
- Interest rate swap —FREHEAD
contract (Note 25) (F13¥25) - - - (990)
— Conversion options — WHRRER
for convertible AR AE
loans - 19,513 - -
- 19,513 - (990)
Balance, beginning of year  FHI&H 758,217 468,933 (1,688) (1,802)
Change in accounting policy ~ EFTHRE
(Note 2(olfii) (BfF2E 200l i) (758,217) - 1,688 -
Fair value gain, net AFEYEFE - 284,495 - 114
Currency translation BHhEES
differences - 4,789 - -
Balance, end of year FiREEH - 758,217 - (1,688)
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows

(a)

Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash

38

RERTREBRWEE

(a) WEXBELWRST

BT SR G M BE 2 XK E

generated from operations IR e HER
2018 2017
20185 20175
$'000 $'000
i T
Profit before income tax BRETSTAT AR 778,1M 610,432
Amortisation of lease premium for land T EE R 5,833 5,725
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BELRENE 186,379 194,466
Amortisation of purchased programme EINGEDERATT 3 ]
and film rights 9,306 12,256
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets ~ EFFEEHE RAE 20,654 9,073
Share-based compensation expense DA SR E 25,085 55,476
Provision for impairment of accounts receivable MR R E R 53,692 24,345
Reversal of provision for impairment of YRR E R ERE
accounts receivable (11,470) (33,567)
Provision for impairment of amounts due ERABLETERNERE
from joint ventures 3133 17328
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment of BN — g S ARFERE
amount due from an associate BERE/ (BE) (1,199) 1,199
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HE&E#% « BE RREEE 2,543 4,905
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERATFEEREZDRR 686 -
through profit or loss BBEENERE
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEME « BE R ZEKE (1,801) (5,517)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BELRE—HNBLARZ NG - (5,007)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures BEARLEENAER (3.427) (6,145}
Share of profits less losses of associates b YNS vVl 5 (10,632) 19,888
Fair value gain on investment properties RENMELTEYNSR (7533) (44,868)
Interest income FEHA (61,422) (195,465)
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEE MY 38,044 44,306
Investment income BEWA (10,458) (7442)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BATEERERTENIBEEN
through profit or loss AT ENE (804,025) (5,403)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments ~ $T4B B T AN ATFEREE - (284,609)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment mE - BE R ERE - 4,367
Increase in other long-term assets HEREEELM (26,919) 6,372)
Increase in accounts receivable [EMEE T (1,038) (209,452)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRFE - RE REMEREE
deposits and other receivables wD/ (Em) 20,574 (249,194)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories HE () Ry (2.621) 963
Decrease in amounts due from related companies YR &R AFUER D 32,806 13,254
Decrease/(increase) in self-produced programmes  B1EETEE LD,/ (310) 3,678 (4,784)
(Decreasel/increase in accounts payable, FERTERT - Ht N FE R B TR
other payables and accruals (Rid) /tEm (124,488) 279,521
Increase in deferred income ERM A 77,643 20,820
Cash generated from operations MEEBEENAS 191,134 260,499
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows 38 HFERESRERMKET (&)
(Continued)
(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BB EBEANAGRY
financing activities is as follows: BRan T -
Loans from Loans from

non-controlling non-controlling
Secured bank  Secured bank shareholders of shareholders of

borrowings borrowings  asubsidiary  subsidiaries
(current)  (non-current) (current)  (non-current) Total
—BHELR )
BHEA B FERBRE FERBR
BT BITRRE RUHEXR RUHER
(&) (e (%8) (e @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr T Tr
Year ended BZ2018F
31 December 2018 12B31ALEE
At 1 January 2018 201815 1H 596,507 329,215 57,694 251,252 1,234,668
Cash flows Heng
—inflow from financing - BYEEEIRA
activities 509,590 - 12,322 68,611 590,523
- outflow from financing - B&EEREH
activities (611,064) - - - (611,064)
Non-cash changes FReE
— currency translations - EHaE 7133 (6,193) (2,878) (10,494) (12,432)
- reclassification - BN E 230,801 (230,801) 73,941 (73,941) -
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H 732,967 92,221 141,079 235,428 1,201,695
Year ended BE2017F
31 December 2017 12B3NBLEE
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 A1 H 632,295 349,464 19,274 266,430 1,267463
Cash flows RemE
— inflow from financing -BEEDHRA
activities 424,116 180,000 - 1,137 615,253
- outflow from financing - BL&EE AL
activities (685,806) - - - (685,806)
Non-cash changes FREE
— currency translations -ERnE 17368 8,285 801 11,304 37758
- reclassification -ENNE 208,534 (208,534) 37619 (37619) -
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 596,507 329,215 57694 251,252 1,234,668
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows
(Continued)

(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries

During 2018, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix
Entertainment and Game Company Limited and
its respective subsidiaries was decreased from
100% to 96.5% as a result of capital contribution of
RMB20,000,000 from independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
disposed a subsidiary (the “Disposal”).

In August 2017 a new shareholder contributed additional
capital (“Capital Contribution”) in EFfEEERX(LEHE
ABREAF("EEEK"), which was a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. As a result, the Group's equity
interest in 8= R was reduced from 51.15% to 35%
upon completion of the Capital Contribution. As a result
of the Capital Contribution, the control of E/8Z& by the

Group was lost and only significant influence over /8%
& is retained.
Upon the loss of control of B8ZER, the Group

recognised a gain of approximately HK$5,007000 in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2017

n e IR

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

38 FaBRERERME (F)

(c)

ST B~ 7

20184 - AR BIE=H
& AR % 20,000,0007T zﬁfa
AIRBEREEEEGRA
HIFEA Tmh$%‘mmwe
B2 96.5% °

RE 22017912 A31 8 IEF
B AEBLE—HEHBAR
([HE=EE] -

MR2017F8 A » R EAE
E2EWBAREMESE
BYLBEEERAR ([EEE
&) MEBENER ([HE] -
Hit  AEERESZER 2R
REE A H & FER T R 51.15% IR
LE3B% c HAHE  AEE
ERAHBEBER ZIEHIEL
BREVESERVEEFE
jj °

REAEEHBEER 215 6l #
% NEEREZE 2017512 5
INBEFEZGERGZTRPE
UL EE45,007000 87T °

Summary regarding the Disposal completed during the BERE=Z2017F12831H8
year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: IEFETKR 2 HESENME
LU

2017
2017 4
$'000
T

Total consideration satisfied by: BREBEATHALM -
Fair value of the retained interest RE =2 AN TE 4,184
Net assets disposed of It EEEFE 1,667
Non-controlling interest derecognised I ETER  IEIE R i = (844)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
recognised in profit and loss (Note 6)

(PfF7E6)

REEERZHE—HMNB ARz WE

5,007
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39
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(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows 38 #HREHRSREXRMET (&)

(Continued)

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (c) HEMBAR (&)
Aggregate net cash outflows arising from the Disposals HZE207F12A3MBIEFE
during the year ended 31 December 2017: ZELESFEEL AT S

R
2017
2017 &
$'000
v
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHECRITESR MRS (6,086)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 39 EHFIERER IS
Deemed disposal of partial interest in PNM 1RVE L E B B 5 i 82 2R {5 4

During the year ended 31 December 2018, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 54.96% to 54.51%.
The Group recognised a deemed net loss of approximately
HK$4,966,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$16,043,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 55.45% to 54.96%.
The Group recognised a deemed net gain of approximately
HK$4,731,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$25,776,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017.

=

REZ2018F 12 A31BILFE © &
PR B AITEMERE - A5
7 JEL L 95 68 O IR AN 75 ER 54.96 %
A EBL51% o NEBREZE2018
FRANHLEFEARARGESR
AEERRPERBIEBEFEY
4,966,000 7T & JE 15 3% # 25 12 AN
16,043,000 7T °

REZE2017F12A31BIEFE - #
R B AITEMERE - A5
7 JEL LT 95 68 O IR AN 25 ER 55.45%
B EB4.96% © AEEREZE 2017
FRANHLEFERARGESR
AEEERPEAGIFERREFED
4,731,000 7T & JE ¥ % # 2 12 A0
25,776,000 7T °
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40 Commitments 40 FEiE
(a) Service charges (a) REE
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had committed R2018F 12 A31H » A& E
service charges payable under various agreements as RIEA B 175 N B AR AR 7S
follows: BT
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T+t
Not later than one year TER—F 24,274 23,5658
Later than one year and BN —FETERRT
not later than five years 4,046 28,228
28,320 51,786
. 4R AR T AE
(b) Operating leases (b) =S
A .k
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had rental R2018%F12A431H K&

BB EHERAER
T TAHEHKEEERTZ
T RBF AN LEDBRA 2

commitments under various operating leases. Total future
minimum lease payments payable in respect of land and
buildings and LED panels under non-cancellable operating

leases are as follows: ARE SERRRBAT :
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Not later than one year TER—F 263,209 315,683

Later than one year and BN —FETERRT

not later than five years 565,653 552,637
Later than five years EBERAF 29,241 63,133
858,103 931,353
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40 Commitments (Continued)

362

(c)

Capital commitments

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

40 A (4&)

(c) BAEIE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital R2018F 12 A31H » A& E
commitments as follows: BEAREENT ¢

2018 2017

20185 2017 F

$'000 $'000

Fr T

Contracted but not provided for BETHERVEL BE 42,908 48,146

Other commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had other operating
commitments under various agreements as follows:

(d) E iz

R2018F 12 A31H » K"&E H
BIEZ D it B H A & E R

LUNNE
2018 2017
2018 5§ 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Not later than one year TER—F 142,775 152,575
Later than one year and not BA—FETNERASE
later than five years 117912 26,248
260,687 178,823
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

41 Related party transactions 41 BREALRS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial (i)  BREEHRREMIBOAEES
statements, the Group had the following significant Gh REBGHBRHEAT
transactions with the related parties as defined in HKAS (EEREBSHERFE 2457 —
24 — Related Party Disclosures: BREALHEE) #1TTHE
AR
2018 2017
20185 2017 F
Notes $'000 $'000
HisE Tr Fr
Service charges received/ R EREBEEEERAR
receivable from the (hBamEEE]) KA
China Mobile Communication MERR (SEA[HBH
Corporation("CMCC") and S8 ) B/ ERMERE B
its subsidiaries (collectively
“"CMCC Group") ab 124,164 127934
Service charges paid/payable mRBBHEESN,/
to the CMCC Group e RIS E ac 58,727 55,480
Advertising sales to the AR BBHEEETHNESHEE
CMCC Group a d 50,312 51,603
License fee received/receivable I TURER/TEUAY ] &
from LLT e, f 15 185
Advertising sales to LLT FEECETNESHE ey 12 11,492
Key management compensation ~ £ EZETE A BB ii 35,085 44,144
Notes: Fit%E

(@)  The CMCC Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of

China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited, owns 19.69% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b)  Service charges received/receivable from CMCC Group
related to wireless income which are charged based on
terms specified in the agreements.

@ FTEHEEEBTEB
(B8) REERATNEZE
MEAREAARFDET
f&7519.69% H# 2 °

L B AR AR MR A MR, U
hRBEENREE IR
R TE RO ARULER -
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41 Related party transactions (Continued)

364

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Service charges paid/payable to CMCC Group related to
video cost which are charged based on terms specified in
the agreements.

Advertising sales to the CMCC Group are related to airtime
advertising and programme sponsoring on channels and
airtime advertising on giant sized light-emitting diode
panels operated by the Group.

The controlling shareholder of LLT is a close family
member of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

The license fee received/receivable from LLT related to
grant of license of domain name to LLT is charged based
on terms specified in the agreement.

Advertising sales to LLT are related to airtime advertising
and programme sponsoring on channels and internet
advertising sales based on terms specified in the
agreements.

Year end balances arising from related party transactions
as disclosed in Note 41(i) above were also disclosed in
Note 24.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

41 EEEALRS (E)

(i)

(ii)

(&)

i3]

R

(c)

()

ARSI
R BB RTSE IR
R FETE B R ARULER ©

AP B e R EETTH RS
ENBEBAREMKEIRE
EMEEREIEEED
AR R B e — 1R 8 B
B ERESERE -

B EHNERRRABARAT
BEEIRFITREHN —
REFEKE -

AR FIZE TR IR AT
AIUER, FEMR IR © B F Al
& Ty 4% W 5 15 T B 1R K
HR o

MIBBECETHNESHEED
BRASEE FE SRR A
BEE WREBEES
SHE RIR W IE T M IREGE
17e

BSR4 () PR ER Y B
BALRZBEENFRERTT
BIER T 24 IR o
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41 Related party transactions (Continued) 41 BEEALTRZ (&)
Key management compensation (i) FEBFEABH2
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
$'000 $'000
Fr v
Salaries e 22,650 22,467
Discretionary bonuses BB ITEAL 722 1,146
Housing allowance EEER 7,384 7615
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,686 1,729
Share-based compensation expense  BARK{D S TRV E I L 2,643 11,187
35,085 44,144
42 Investments in and loans to Particle 42 HRERRKREKT Particle
In 2014, Phoenix New Media Limited (“"PNM") invested in a R2014%F - BIEFIEEAER QA
number of Series B Preferred Shares of Particle. In 2017 PNM (B EHEE]) RENSE TEEA
further invested approximately HK$496,989,000 in Series C ) Particle B & 5] {8 & % o 722017

Preferred Shares of Particle.

F-REHNRBE-IRERD
496,989,000 # L) Particle C Z5I|{&

S o
On 28 January 2016, the board of directors of PNM have R20165F1H28H  BEFEEE
authorised to provide short-term unsecured loans to Particle Ee it EMParticlelRi AL BERS
in an aggregate principal amount of up to US$20,000,000 /20,000,000 7t ( #9155,138,000
(approximately HK$155,138,000) (the “Loans”) at an interest ) mESsEERER (ER])
rate of 4.35% per annum with a term of twelve months and ERMFERNERIIBE EXRHAE
convertible options of which PNM may, at its option, convert + @AW AR E - Hit - B
all or a portion of the Loans together with any unpaid interest FTIEEER] A 2018 65 12 A 31 HATE(
into Series D1 Preferred Shares (“Conversion Options”) at any FF s 12 18 2 2P ek 30D B SE RIE (R
time prior to 31 December 2018, subject to the completion of AT BE®RAD ZIE L ([#
issuance of Series D Preferred Shares by Particle. Particle has PR AE]) » M 7B FParticle TEAX 877D
drawn down all of the US$20,000,000 loans in April 2016. RIBERIE - FOHEE © Particle 2

%2016 44 A 2 B & #(20,000,000
RTLHER
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366

Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 30 December 2016, PNM exercised the Conversion Options
to convert the Loans totalling US$20,000,000 into 23,600,000
of Series D1 Preferred Shares. Similar to Series B and C, the
investment in D1 Preferred Shares have similar features and
were separated into the debt component of HK$122,744,000
which were classified as “available-for-sale financial assets”
(“AFS") and “derivative financial instruments” (“DFI") of
HK$38,171,000 (for the conversion option). The investments in
AFS and DFI were subsequently measured at fair value at each
reporting period based on an external valuation report. Under
HKAS 39, changes in fair value of the DFI are recognised in
the consolidated income statement whereas all changes in fair
value of AFS are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income except for the interest portion of the AFS calculated
using the effective interest method which is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

On 11 August 2016, PNM has provided a short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of US$14,800,000 (approximately
HK$114,802,000) (the “Convertible Loan"”) at an interest rate of
4.35% per annum with a term of six months and Conversion
Options exercisable at any time on or before the maturity
date of the loan. The loan represents compound financial
instruments, which comprise (i) “loans and receivable” of
HK$109,372,000 classified as “amounts due from related
companies” and (ii) DFI of HK$5,430,000. The “loans and
receivable” were carried at amortised cost and the DFI was
subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting period.
In August 2017, the term of the Convertible Loan was extended
to eighteen months to February 2018. On 22 January 2018, the
term of the Convertible Loan was further extended to August
2018.

On 2 November 2016, PNM provided another short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of RMB46,000,000 (approximately
HK$52,031,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of six months. In January 2017 the term of the loan was
extended to twelve months to November 2017 In November
2017 the unsecured loan was repaid by Particle.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

42

BER KR EKF Particle (&)

R20165F12 A308 - [B 2 57 i 82
1718 # B% # 8 & £20,000,000 % T

9B % 523,600,000 D1 FE
FIMESLNG - BB R R CRIMELNR
KBRS - D1 RHNE LR
EEBEURITE S AEBID
122,744,000 7T (D485 [AIIHE
MsEE] ([AIEEEVBEE]) &k
[T TAE] ([FTEFBIAD
38,171,000/ 7T (LR EMF)) ©
R ENEEERITEN K ITA
ZHREBEHBR S RERIRIBINBEE
RERAFEZE - REBBGTE
BIZE39%%  ITEMBITAZ AT ES
B NMR A UK S R BE RN 1] (8 S T 75
BEZBATFEESHEEREME
AR EER - ERA BRI E
2 AT IEE BB E 2 F S DR AR
AU RIER -

M2016F8 A 118+ Bl & # K
A Particle £2 £ 14,800,000 3 Jt ( 49
114,802,000 7T ) ([ AR EFK]) 8
REEERER - FFER435E -
B AN E A LM A TR E K EH
H 8k 2 AT R R R TE AR - B
FREREAYHBITE B EFR
JE W FNIE 1109,372,000 8 T (DB A
[ e A B ARl sRIE]) R i) $TER
7T H 5,430,000 B TAT4RK ° [ B3
N FEWSRIE | iR SE A ARSI BR T T A&
BT AEEBRSREHELFE
2 R2017F8 A AR ERNE
BERZ2+/\(EAE2018F2 A « K
2018 1 A22H » ATMIRE R W F
HiE— PIERE 20188 A »

R2016F 11 A28 » Bl E & I8
M) Particle $2 £ A R ¥ 46,000,000 7©
(#952,031,0007 JT) 953 HR % 45 19
B BRMFEFEER.00E - B
HANEA - R2017F1 8 - EXH
ERE2+Z@AZ2017F 118 - B
2017411 B - Particle € & E K 17 &

Eo
N
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Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 20 January 2017, PNM also provided a short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of RMB74,000,000 (approximately
HK$83,835,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of twelve months.

Following the adoption of HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments on 1
January 2018, the investments in Series B, C and D1 Preferred
Shares of Particle (classified as AFS and derivative financial
instruments in 2017) and Convertible Loan (classified as loans
and receivables and derivative financial instruments in 2017)
have been reclassified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL’) ( Note 2(b)(iii)).

On 22 January 2018, the term of the loan of RMB74,000,000
was extended for six months and the loan and interest were
fully repaid in July 2018.

On 2 April 2018, PNM signed an agreement with an investor of
Particle to grant a right to assign the US$14,800,000 convertible
loan issued by Particle for US$17,000,000 to that investor of
Particle (the “Loan Assignment”). The Loan Assignment was
completed on 7 August 2018.

On 23 February 2019, PNM entered into a letter of intent
(“LOI") with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”)
pursuant to which the Purchaser will purchase 32% equity
interest of Particle held by PNM on an as-if converted basis.
The total consideration is US$448,000,000 (approximately
HK$3,494,400,000), based on an estimated transaction
valuation.

The independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) adopted
the discounted cash flow method and market approach to
calculate the enterprise value of Particle at 31 December
2018. Accordingly, the fair values of the investments in Series
B, C and D1 Preferred Shares have increased significantly to
HK$2,235,600,000 at 31 December 2018 and a fair value gain
of HK$802,900,000 was recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

BER KR EKF Particle (&)

R2017F1 A208 - B2 31 1F 8 I8
A Particle 12 fit A R # 74,000,000 7T
(4983,835,000/8 7T) K42 £ £ 4K 7
B BRNFEFEER.00E - B

HAET=M@A -

R2018F 1 A1 BERMAE B ERE
AERZE 9 — B T A% - Particle
ZBH# - CEREDIHEBARIEE (R
2017 F R A HIEE RITEN B
TE) RAJ#BEBRER (R2017F0 58
AEERRERGFBERTEMBEITAR)
EEFPEARATEBEBESLE
(RAFEEBRIESIR]) VIBEEE
(BF=E2(b) i)
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SRR EER2018F7 A2EEE -
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B ([ZEEE)) BRMNTHSRINE
SRR WAL E Particle I 2 (8
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Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 18 December 2018, PNM announced that its indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary Beijing Chenhuan Technology Co.,
Ltd. ("Chenhuan") entered into an agreement to acquire 25.5%
equity interests in Beijing Yitian Xindong Network Technology
Co., Ltd. ("Yitian Xindong"), for an aggregate purchase price of
RMB144,100,000 (the "Acquisition"). The Acquisition completed
on 28 December 2018 ("Completion Date') following the
payment of part of the consideration of RMB73,000,000
(approximately HK$82,000,000) and the change of business
registration. As Bingruixin Technology Co., Ltd. , another 25.5%
equity interests holder in Yitian Xindong entrusted its voting
rights in respect to its shareholding in the Yitian Xindong
to Chenhuan on the Completion Date, Chenhuan was able
to obtain control over Yitian Xindong. Consequently, all the
identifiable assets of Yitian Xindong was measured at fair value
at Completion Date and consolidated in the Group's financial
statements and a goodwill of HK$111,310,000 was recognized
as an intangible asset in the Group's financial statements. Yitian
Xindong owns the mobile application Tadu, a leading online
digital reading application in China that currently has more than
1,000,000 daily active users.

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)
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s —EHE AR

R2018F 12 A18H » Bl &l 3 ¥ 52
S HEEIFZEWNB AR
EREREERAT ([EBR]) F5#H
HWEBIL R I RTHABRREER
NE ([ SRFE]) 2255% &4 -
HIEEER A AR 144,100,000 7T
(TWEEEE] - TABHREARE
73,000,000 7T ( 982,000,000 7t)
MEMEEELE - WESIEN 2018
F12A288 ([T BHD T -
AR R EREERAE (5
— RS RHE255%BHEZIHEAAN)
NERBRRERZIEEAE SR
PRREMIRERE EREMESS K
E) 2R - Bt - HRIBZFT
B HRIEERTTK B HR AT ERT
2 UHAFEEAEEZHBRH
& 111,310,000 7T 2 7§ 2 B A
NEBZ M EREERBELEE -
SRNEEEFHRERARRIEEE
(BHPREEZEG LS FHEREARER
2 —) BRI#AEEE1,000,000%E
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Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

Consideration transferred

e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

WiE—ErE AR (&)

CEEAE

$'000

Tt

Cash e 82,410
Deferred consideration EERE 80,265
162,675

The following table summarises the consideration paid, the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date:

TRBACHRE SBABEZR
FERAWHEESRAEEZB8E

$'000
FiT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR
and intangible assets LEREE 110,140
Other assets/(liability),net HiEE/ (BRE) F48 27,215
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRERS 12,354
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIAAE (8,342)
141,367
Consideration transferred BEEAE 162,675
Plus: non-controlling interests n o IR 90,002
Less: net assets acquired B EEABEFRE (141,367)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEHEE 2 HE 111,310
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yitian Xindong WiEZ XFE 2 REREFRE
$'000
T
Consideration BERENRE 162,675
Less: cash and cash equivalent  J& : EBEAR S KRS SEEE &5
balances acquired (12,354)
Less: deferred consideration B IRIERE (80,265)
Net cash outflow on acquisition W& 5 K8 2 B R F5E
of Yitian Xindong 70,056
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44 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

44 ARRWEEARRREH

Company <))
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR RERS 157,292 148,719
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESEMEEE 10,786 10,768
Amounts due from subsidiaries, net JEULHI B A R IEF 58 1,970,011 1,970,011
1,980,797 1,980,779
Total assets BEE 2,138,089 2,129,498
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owner RATHEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 499,347 499,347
Reserves (Note (a)) & (ME (@) 1,038,307 1,081,957
Total equity B 1,537,654 1,581,304
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals L Ath BT FIE R FERTRUE 561 808
Amount due to a subsidiary FE— M A AR 599,874 547,386
Total liabilities was 600,435 548,194
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 2,138,089 2,129,498
LIU Changle CHUI Keung
B Rs T
Director Director
EE2 Ea
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(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 44 AAFNEESBXRNHEE
Company (Continued)

Note (a)

Movement in the reserves of the Company during the year was as

follows:

25 (&)
B G

ARFRERIRERBNT -

Employee
Treasury share-based
share Share payment Retained
reserve premium reserve earnings Total
EEURS
XAHY
EFRAHE RAEE RERRE RERF st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
At 31 December 2016 R2016F12A31H (5,042) 51,658 104,507 956,105 1,107228
Cancellation and lapse of BB S R R

share options - 106,328 (106,328) - -
Buy back shares B ) (4,512) (30) - - (4,542)
Cancellation of buy back shares ~ [EIEERR (A7 §4 9,554 (8,801) - - 753
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (3,195) (3,195}
Dividends related to 2016 2016 FAANRE - - - 49,935) (49,935)

Share-based compensation R RERS
expense - - 31,648 - 31,648
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 - 149,155 29,827 902,975 1,081,957
Lapse of share options BRI K - 908 (908) - -
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (2,288) (2,288)
Dividends related to 2017 B2017 FHEMNRE - - - (49,935) (49,935

Share-based compensation R RERS
expense - - 8,573 - 8,573
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 128310 - 150,063 37492 850,752 1,038,307
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45 Benefits and interest of directors 45 FEEBREFRF =
Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments EENEHREREAENBNE
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 BREFENHZE2018F12 A31 81t
December 2018 is set out below: FEMMSFHINNAT -
As director (note (i)
EREE (W (i)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii)) Total
Aft R Exm
Name of Director R ffsst BRRERGE  fFREEE
3.2 ik i WA $RER BEEE  FHMME e &zt
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
i T T T i i i T
1. LIU Changle - - - - - - 9,446 9,446
(Chief Executive Officer)
ARE (meEs)
2. CHUI Keung 392 - - - - - 4,500 4,892
ER
3. WANG JiYan - - - - - - 3,159 3,159
g
4 SHAYugja - - - - - - - -
(resigned on 16 Nov 2018)
DBR
(20185 11 A 16 REHA)
5 GONG Jianzhong - - - - - - - -
£
6. LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
1 Thaddeus Thomas 250 - - - - - - 250
BECZAK
8. FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
GIEE
9, SUN Yanjun - - - - - - - -
HEE
0. LAUWai Kei, Ricky - - - - - - - -
ekl
1. HEDI 250 - - - - - - 250
fali
12. XIABing - - - - - - - -
Bk
13, JIANQin - - - - - - - -
{appointed on 16 Nov 2018)
GE]

(R2018F 11 B 16 HEZT)
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Benefits and interest of directors (Continued) 45 ESTEF R A= (&)
Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments EENEHEBEAENME
(Continued) (88)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 BREEREE2017F12A31 81
December 2017 is set out below: FEMMHSIHINNAT -
As director (note (i)
fEREE (M)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii) Total
AR =10
Name of Director [HIEE iolER BINENEE  (FRERE
BEA ik e LA *HEE FEZH  ELOER (Bt (i) @t
§000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 $000
ap i e S Fr Fr Fr S
1. LIU Changle - - - - - - 9,447 9,447
(Chief Executive Officer)
AR (THeEs)
2. CHUI'Keung - - - - - - 4,501 4,501
]
3. WANG JiVan - - - - - - 3,850 3,850
ThE
4. SHAYuejia - - - - - - - -
PER
5 GONG Jianzhong - - - - - - - -
B
6. LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
7 Thaddeus Thomas 250 - - - - - - 250
BECZAK
8. FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
FRE
9. SUNYanjun - - - - - - - -
10, LAUWai Kei, Ricky - - - - - - - -
Elesid
1. HEDi 250 - - - - - - 250
f
12, XIABing - - - - - - - -
ik
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45 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

As of 31 December 2018, Mr. LIU Changle had outstanding share
options of the Company to purchase 4,900,000 (2017: 4,900,000
shares at HK$1.41 per share) shares at HK$1.41 per share,
Mr. CHUI Keung had outstanding share options of the Company
to purchase 3,900,000 (2017: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41
per share) shares at HK$1.41 per share and Mr. Wang Ji Yan
had outstanding share options of the Company to purchase
3,900,000 (2017: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41) shares at
HK$1.41 per share. No options were exercised during 2018.

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

(i)~ The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertakings and included salaries,
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contributions to
retirement benefit schemes, housing allowance and
value of the share option. The value of the share options
granted to the directors of the Company under the share
option schemes of the Company represents the fair value
of these options charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

(i) No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.

374

(BRI RIS - £FABTTIIE)

45 EEENRAZE (&)

MR2018F 12 A31H - Bl K& & &
BAERTEZARRERETIZER
1.41 7870 E 4,900,000 8 17 (2017
F TR 1.41 %708 4,900,000
RER%(D) ~ EREEFERITEZAR
NREREAIEERIMNBTEES
3,900,000 i Bz 7 (2017 5F : B R
1.41 7% 7T & B 3,900,000 % i 19) &
FREXREFBBRITEZRARARER
A% & % 1.41 78 ST BE B 3,900,000
&R tn (2017 F - L ER1.41 8L
53,900,000 & 7) - tFEF R
2018 FF A HET T HE ARAE o

) FHBERRAXAERESR
(TimRAR AR AN BB
BF) MRS XHF
FZAWFB - HRZARRZF
P75 7 W B 0 37 B =

(il BAHZBEARAXAERER
ARA (HEMBLE) OF
BERENBERTRENE M
R - XN TFRANHH - =X
% A P B % 55 AR 7 T WO HY S8
B YeEHs  BISERD
TEAL ~ R E AR KR M EH &I
HEHR - FERR - SARE
BAENEE - RERNRFNE
BAERT IR T AR P EENE
PR EE - KRIESBRE
RBBEUEREERFE 25
RERGEWERMFHRF
B

(i) MEEENFAREXRFRZN
EEAIME -
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Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

During the year, no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor
are any payable (2017: Nil). No consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2017: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2017: None).

Subsequent event

On 1 March 2019, PNM entered into a second share purchase
agreement with Bingruixin Technology Co., Ltd. to purchase an
additional 25.5% of the equity interest in Yitian Xidong for cash
consideration of RMB144,000,000.

On 22 March 2019, PNM entered into the Share Purchase
Agreement with Run Liang Tai Management Limited (“Run
Liang Tai"), pursuant to which PNM conditionally agreed to
sell the 32% equity interest in Particle on an as-if converted
basis and Run Liang Tai conditionally agreed to purchase
the Sale Shares for cash consideration of US$448,000,000
(approximately HK$3,494,400,000).

45
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e ISR M

(BRI RIS - SFABTTIIE)

EEEANRM=E ()

FR - WEAESEESEEINR
EHBRRIEEEZRBOEE - RIK
A~ ARk INEE AR E
I3RIE (2017 F « 4E) o W ph IR
HEERBEMATE-ERFE=FT
IR E F RS M WA R (B (2017
FoE) WEANESR ZISEEN
ZEHEABEREEEEREED
NERREUER  kBRZEAL
RHEMZ S (2017 4F : £) -

HIREE

R2019F 3 A1H @ BlEFHEEEEZE
N RIHEREERAAGILTE
ZTRBRHEERE  UREARE
144,000,000 SLEEINBE E SR8 2
25.5% fEiE o

20199F 3 A22 8 « BB i s e
Run Liang Tai Management Limited
([Run Liang Tail) 5132 7D BE E #
&= B BEEEEREAE
& Particle 12800 B 2R EL AT
B #32% B # + K Run Liang Tai B
fig 4 1 [R) 7 DA/ 448,000,000 £ 7T
(#73,494,400,00075 1) B EFER

,T/\ o
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